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Examination Oversight (E) Task Force 
San Francisco, CA 
December 6, 2009 

 
The Examination Oversight (E) Task Force met in San Francisco, CA, Dec. 6, 2009. The following Task Force members 
participated: Mary Jo Hudson, Chair, represented by Bill Harrington (OH); Ken Ross, Vice Chair, represented by Dan 
Schaefer (MI); Jim L. Ridling represented by Richard Ford (AL); Jay Bradford represented by Mel Anderson (AR); Steve 
Poizner represented by Al Bottalico (CA); Thomas R. Sullivan represented by William Arfanis (CT); Gennet Purcell 
represented by Kevin Brown (DC); Karen Weldin-Stewart represented by Linda Sizemore (DE); Susan E. Voss represented 
by Jim Armstrong (IA); William W. Deal represented by Georgia Siehl (ID); Michael T. McRaith represented by Jim Hanson 
(IL); Carol Cutter represented by Connie Ridinger (IN); Sharon P. Clark represented by David Hurt (KY); Ralph S. Tyler, III, 
represented by Les Schott (MD); Mila Kofman represented by Kendra Godbout (ME); Glenn Wilson represented by Jaki 
Gardner (MN); John M. Huff represented by Fred Heese (MO); Wayne Goodwin represented by Jeff Trendel (NC); Ann 
Frohman represented by Jim Nixon (NE); Roger A. Sevigny represented by Tom Burke (NH); Neil N. Jasey represented by 
Bob Kasinow (NJ); Kim Holland represented by John McCarter (OK); Teresa Miller represented by Russell Latham (OR); 
Joel Ario represented by Steve Johnson (PA); Joseph Torti, III represented by Jack Broccoli (RI); Leslie A. Newman 
represented by Larry Knight (TN); Alfred W. Gross represented by Doug Stolte (VA); Paulette Thabault represented by Ken 
McGuckin (VT); Mike Kreidler represented by Patrick McNaughton (WA); and Sean Dilweg represented by Roger Peterson 
(WI).  
 
1. Adoption of Examination Repositories 
 
Mr. Bottalico stated that the risk-focused examination process asks examiners to identify key activities and develop related 
risk statements based upon an understanding of the company being examined and a review of company and auditor-prepared 
process documentation. However, based upon feedback received from numerous examiners requesting a reference tool of 
common risks to be reviewed during an examination, the examination repository project was initiated. Work on this project 
balanced between providing useful examples of common solvency risks without developing a document that could be seen as 
a checklist of tests to be performed. The newly created exam repositories assist the examiner in identifying the risks that are 
often inherent within some of the more standard key activities of a typical insurance company. Only the most common risks 
have been included in the exam repositories to allow more flexibility and customization in identifying risks relevant to each 
company. Included with the list of risks are examples of control best practices, tests of controls, and examples of how an 
examiner may choose to perform detail tests for each risk. The repositories are presented as optional tools that are not 
intended to establish a minimum or maximum level of documentation and testing to be performed on an examination. The 
project of creating the exam repositories has now been completed, resulting in 18 total repositories being prepared for use in 
financial examinations. Each of the new exam repositories has been publicly exposed, reviewed in detail by regulators, and 
adopted by the Financial Examiners Handbook (E) Technical Group. An example repository related to underwriting, along 
with an introduction explaining how the repositories are meant to be used, was reviewed by the Task Force (Attachment 
One). On a motion from Mr. Bottalico, seconded by Mr. McNaughton, the examination repositories were adopted for 
inclusion in the NAIC Financial Condition Examiners Handbook.   
 
2. Discuss Current Economic Crisis Issues 
 
Mr. Harrington stated that the Task Force received a referral from the Financial Condition (E) Committee in February 2009 
asking the Task Force to address certain recommendations received from the Credit Default Swap (E) Working Group. The 
Task Force was asked to review each of the items in the referral pertaining to its groups, develop a plan for addressing the 
items and report on its progress in addressing the issues to the Financial Condition (E) Committee on a regular basis. Mr. 
Harrington asked Mr. Peterson to report on the progress of the Task Force in addressing issues related to financial analysis 
and Mr. Bottalico to report on issues related to financial examinations.  
 
Mr. Peterson stated that during 2009, the Financial Analysis Research and Development (E) Working Group made additions 
to confidential financial analysis solvency tools available to state insurance regulators. Enhancements addressed topics 
including guaranteed interest contracts, variable annuities with guarantees, securities lending, permitted practices, and peer 
analysis. In addition, the Financial Analysis Handbook (E) Working Group made enhancements to the Financial Analysis 
Handbook. A detailed discussion was added to the Level 1 Reference Guide of the Handbook regarding non-routine analysis 
considerations for events or situations outside of the normal course of business that may have a material impact on the overall 
financial condition of an insurer. The discussion highlights, for example, investment procedures, stress testing, liquidity 
considerations, securities lending, ratings, and catastrophes. Other enhancements were made to holding company procedures 
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related to communication and permitted practice indicators. Both of these groups will consider any future recommendations 
from the Invested Assets (E) Working Group in this area, when received. 
 
Mr. Bottalico stated that the Financial Examiners Handbook (E) Technical Group has undertaken a project to respond to the 
recommendations included in the referral. As a result, a listing of concerns related to current economic conditions was 
created and discussed to determine whether guidance should be added to the Financial Condition Examiners Handbook or to 
a newly proposed exam risk alert to address the issues. The exam risk alert would consist of temporary guidance for 
examiners to utilize based on current issues. All of the items that the Technical Group determined were appropriate for 
inclusion in the Handbook were completed and adopted by the Technical Group on its Nov. 19 conference call. The 
Technical Group plans to continue work in this area in 2010 to develop an exam risk alert that can be utilized by examiners in 
performing Dec. 31, 2009, examinations.   
 
3. Discuss Model #385 Survey Results 
 
Mr. Harrington stated that in September 2008, the NAIC membership adopted revisions to the Model Regulation to Define 
Standards and Commissioner’s Authority for Companies Deemed to be in Hazardous Financial Condition (#385). These 
revisions provide additional standards to determine whether the continued operation of any insurer might be deemed to be 
hazardous to its policyholders, creditors or the general public. In addition, the revisions give the commissioner additional 
authority to issue an order requiring companies deemed to be in hazardous financial condition to take corrective action. As 
requested by the Executive (EX) Committee, a survey is updated quarterly to track the states’ progress in adopting the 
revisions. Bruce Jenson (NAIC) presented the results of the survey, stating that five states have adopted the revisions, 
23 states plan to adopt the revisions, nine states plan to adopt the revisions with minor changes, two states do not plan to 
adopt the revisions, 10 states are undecided, and two states did not provide a response. Of the states that plan to adopt the 
revisions or adopt with minor changes, four plan to complete the adoption in 2009, 16 in 2010, five in 2011, and seven do not 
yet have a timeline for adoption. No states have indicated that problems are anticipated in adopting the model revisions. 
NAIC staff will continue to update this survey on a quarterly basis, and the results will be discussed at each national meeting. 
 
4. Adoption of Working Group Reports 
 
Mr. Harrington asked the Task Force to review the written reports of the Analyst Team System Oversight (E) Working 
Group, Financial Analysis Handbook (E) Working Group (Attachment Two), Financial Examiners Coordination (E) Working 
Group (Attachment Three) and Financial Examiners Handbook (E) Technical Group (Attachment Four) that were included in 
the materials. On a motion from Mr. Johnson, seconded by Mr. Ford, the Task Force adopted the reports of its working 
groups. 
 
Having no further business, the Examination Oversight (E) Task Force adjourned. 
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BACKGROUND 

The examination (exam) repositories in this section were created to assist examiners in identifying the most 
common risks that are often inherent within different key activities of a typical insurance company. These 
repositories were created at a high-level to reduce the risk of examiners using them as checklists.  The intent of the 
repositories is to provide a tool to assist examiners in determining what risks may be relevant to a typical insurance 
company, not to provide an all-inclusive listing of potential risks, nor to provide a minimum baseline of what risks 
are required to be identified on all exams.  The repositories are fluid documents and, as such, will be modified and 
updated with relevant risks and exam procedures as deemed necessary; however, it is expected that the reliance on 
these documents will decrease as the examiners experience level on Risk-Focused exams increases. Only the most 
common risks have been included in these exam repositories to allow more flexibility and customization in 
identifying risks within key activities of the insurer. Included with the identified risks are examples of control best 
practices, tests of controls, and examples of how an examiner may choose to test the details of each identified risk.  
 
Identified Risks 

The identified risks provided within the exam repositories are not designed to be an all-inclusive list and may not 
apply to all insurance companies that are under examination. The examiner’s understanding of the insurer obtained 
in Phase 1 should be utilized to determine which risks included in this exam repository are applicable to the 
insurer. The insurer will likely have additional risks associated with the different key activities that have not been 
included within the exam repositories. The examiner must determine what additional risks not included in this 
exam repositories should be examined as part of the review of the insurer's processes.  
 
Control Best Practices 

The control best practices provided within the exam repositories are the most common ways in which insurers 
mitigate the specific risks identified. These best practices are common for a typical insurance company, but may 
not apply to each individual insurer. Each insurer has its own controls in place to mitigate the identified risks, 
which may or may not correspond to the control best practice identified within the exam repositories. It is possible 
that the insurer has adequate controls in place, even if the control does not match the control best practices listed in 
the exam repositories. 
 
Possible Tests of Controls 

The possible tests of controls in the exam repositories are not designed to be an all-inclusive list; nor are they 
intended to be a list of procedures required to be performed on all examinations, as some of the procedures may 
not apply to the insurer under examination. If the insurer’s controls do not match the control best practices, the 
examiner should not use the possible tests of controls provided within the exam repository. In this case, the 
examiner needs to develop alternative tests of controls based on how the insurer mitigates the identified risk. If the 
examiner intends to place reliance on the control, the examiner is required to assess its design and operating 
effectiveness regardless of whether the insurer’s control matches the best practice provided.  
 
Possible Detail Test Procedures 

The additional detail tests provided within the exam repositories are not designed to be an all-inclusive list nor are 
they intended to be a list of procedures which are required to be performed on all examinations, as some of the 
procedures may not apply to the insurer under examination. In some circumstances, the examiner will need to 
develop additional detail test procedures beyond what is included within the exam repository. In all cases, 
examiners should conduct detail tests, where necessary, based on the assessed residual risk for each risk identified.  
 
Both the possible control tests and detail tests listed are simply suggestions as to what the examiner may be able to 
perform to test the risk identified.  Some of the tests listed in the detail test column are attribute tests and are 
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denoted with an asterisk (*).  The detail tests so noted may be used as control tests; however, they are included in 
the detail test column because the tests would generally require more time and detail testwork than those control 
tests listed in the Possible Tests of Controls column.  In general, most of these tests are not testing dollar amounts, 
but rather are testing attributes.  As such, when performing these tests as detail tests examiners should use the Test 
of Controls Sampling Worksheet (included as part of Exhibit O) but may consider using a lower Tolerable Rate 
than what is listed on the worksheet, and thus a larger sample size, if placing a great deal of reliance on the detail 
procedure.  
 
Use of a Specialist 

The examiner should consider seeking the assistance of an actuary and/or other specialists in performing his/her 
review related to certain key activities. In particular, the performance of reserving calculations and rate 
calculations lend themselves to being tested and reviewed by a credentialed actuary.  
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EXAMINATION REPOSITORY –UNDERWRITING  

Annual Statement Blank Line Items 

There are no line items directly related to the underwriting process; however, policies underwritten and rate 
calculations may impact line items associated with the premiums exam repository. 
 
Relevant Statements of Statutory Accounting Principles (SSAPs) 

All of the relevant SSAPs related to the underwriting process, regardless of whether or not the corresponding risks 
are included within this exam repository, are listed below: 

No. 6 Uncollected Premium Balances, Bills Receivable for Premiums, and Amounts Due from Agents and 
Brokers (All lines) 

No. 51 Life Contracts (Life) 
No. 53 Property & Casualty Contracts - Premiums (P&C) 
No. 54 Individual and Group Accident & Health Contracts (Health) 
No. 65 Property & Casualty Contracts (P&C) 
 

Attachment One 
Examination Oversight (E) Task Force 

12/6/09

© 2009 National Association of Insurance Commissioners 4



  
Su

b 
A

ct
iv

ity
 

Id
en

tif
ie

d 
R

is
k 

B
ra

nd
ed

 
R

is
k 

E
xa

m
 

A
sr

t. 
C

on
tr

ol
 B

es
t P

ra
ct

ic
es

 
Po

ss
ib

le
 T

es
t o

f C
on

tr
ol

s 
Po

ss
ib

le
 D

et
ai

l T
es

ts
 

O
th

er
 T

ha
n 

Fi
na

nc
ia

l R
ep

or
tin

g 
R

is
ks

 
n/

a 
Th

e 
in

su
re

r i
s n

ot
 

co
m

pl
yi

ng
 w

ith
 o

r 
m

on
ito

rin
g 

th
e 

ov
er

al
l u

nd
er

w
rit

in
g 

st
ra

te
gy

.  

ST
 

PR
/U

W
 

O
P 

O
th

er
 

Th
e 

in
su

re
r h

as
 a

 w
el

l d
ef

in
ed

 
un

de
rw

rit
in

g 
st

ra
te

gy
 th

at
 

in
di

ca
te

s t
he

 ty
pe

s a
nd

 li
ne

s 
of

 b
us

in
es

s (
co

ve
ra

ge
s)

, 
ge

og
ra

ph
ic

al
 a

re
as

an
d 

ot
he

r 
ra

tin
g 

cl
as

se
s a

cc
ep

ta
bl

e 
to

 
th

e 
or

ga
ni

za
tio

n 
th

at
 a

re
 

ap
pr

ov
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

B
oa

rd
 o

f 
D

ire
ct

or
s. 

      Th
e 

un
de

rw
rit

in
g 

de
pa

rtm
en

t 
ha

s e
st

ab
lis

he
d 

an
d 

do
cu

m
en

te
d 

go
al

s i
n 

ac
co

rd
an

ce
 w

ith
 th

e 
in

su
re

r’
s 

ov
er

al
l u

nd
er

w
rit

in
g 

st
ra

te
gy

. 
 Th

e 
in

su
re

r p
ro

du
ce

s p
er

io
di

c 
re

po
rts

 o
ut

lin
in

g 
ke

y 
un

de
rw

rit
in

g 
re

su
lts

 
(in

cl
ud

in
g 

lo
ss

 ra
tio

s)
, w

hi
ch

 
ar

e 
re

vi
ew

ed
 b

y 
se

ni
or

 
m

an
ag

em
en

t. 
 

R
ev

ie
w

 B
oa

rd
 M

in
ut

es
 o

r 
ot

he
r e

vi
de

nc
e 

of
 B

oa
rd

 
in

vo
lv

em
en

t i
n 

th
e 

ap
pr

ov
al

 
of

 th
e 

in
su

re
r’

s u
nd

er
w

rit
in

g 
st

ra
te

gy
.  

 R
ev

ie
w

 th
e 

in
su

re
r’

s 
un

de
rw

rit
in

g 
st

ra
te

gy
 to

 
de

te
rm

in
e 

w
he

th
er

 ty
pe

s o
f 

bu
si

ne
ss

 (c
ov

er
ag

es
) a

nd
 

ge
og

ra
ph

ic
al

 a
re

as
 (r

at
in

g 
cl

as
se

s)
 h

av
e 

be
en

 o
ut

lin
ed

 a
s 

ac
ce

pt
ab

le
 to

 th
e 

in
su

re
r. 

 
 R

ev
ie

w
 th

e 
un

de
rw

rit
in

g 
de

pa
rtm

en
t’s

 g
oa

ls
 fo

r 
co

m
pa

tib
ili

ty
 w

ith
 th

e 
in

su
re

r’
s o

ve
ra

ll 
un

de
rw

rit
in

g 
st

ra
te

gy
. 

 R
ev

ie
w

 d
oc

um
en

ta
tio

n 
of

 
re

po
rts

 g
en

er
at

ed
 a

nd
 

ev
id

en
ce

 o
f s

en
io

r 
m

an
ag

em
en

t r
ev

ie
w

. 

R
ev

ie
w

 th
e 

in
su

re
r’

s 
un

de
rw

rit
in

g 
st

ra
te

gy
 fo

r 
ap

pr
op

ria
te

ne
ss

. 
 R

ev
ie

w
 th

e 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
pr

ov
id

ed
 w

ith
in

 u
nd

er
w

rit
in

g 
re

po
rts

 re
vi

ew
ed

 b
y 

m
an

ag
em

en
t f

or
 a

cc
ur

ac
y 

an
d 

ap
pr

op
ria

te
ne

ss
. 

 R
ev

ie
w

 h
is

to
ric

al
 

un
de

rw
rit

in
g 

an
d 

pr
of

ita
bi

lit
y 

re
su

lts
 a

nd
 d

et
er

m
in

e 
w

he
th

er
 

th
e 

un
de

rw
rit

in
g 

st
ra

te
gy

 h
as

 
be

en
 p

ro
pe

rly
 a

dj
us

te
d 

in
 

ac
co

rd
an

ce
 w

ith
 h

is
to

ric
al

 
re

su
lts

. 

n/
a 

Th
e 

in
su

re
r h

as
 n

ot
 

es
ta

bl
is

he
d 

an
d 

m
ai

nt
ai

ne
d 

ST
 

PR
/U

W
 

O
th

er
 

Th
e 

in
su

re
r h

as
 e

st
ab

lis
he

d 
an

d 
do

cu
m

en
te

d 
ris

k 
ex

po
su

re
 li

m
its

 b
y 

ge
og

ra
ph

y,
 

R
ev

ie
w

 d
oc

um
en

ta
tio

n 
of

 ri
sk

 
ex

po
su

re
 li

m
its

 a
nd

 e
vi

de
nc

e 
of

 se
ni

or
 m

an
ag

em
en

t 

U
til

iz
e 

au
di

t s
of

tw
ar

e 
to

 
re

vi
ew

 th
e 

in
su

re
r’

s r
is

k 
ex

po
su

re
s (

e.
g.

 fo
r P

&
C

 

Attachment One 
Examination Oversight (E) Task Force 

12/6/09

© 2009 National Association of Insurance Commissioners 5



 

Su
b 

A
ct

iv
ity

 
Id

en
tif

ie
d 

R
is

k 
B

ra
nd

ed
 

R
is

k 
E

xa
m

 
A

sr
t. 

C
on

tr
ol

 B
es

t P
ra

ct
ic

es
 

Po
ss

ib
le

 T
es

t o
f C

on
tr

ol
s 

Po
ss

ib
le

 D
et

ai
l T

es
ts

 

ap
pr

op
ria

te
 ri

sk
 

ex
po

su
re

 li
m

its
. 

ot
he

r r
at

in
g 

cl
as

se
s a

nd
 li

ne
 

of
 b

us
in

es
s (

co
ve

ra
ge

s)
, 

w
hi

ch
 h

av
e 

be
en

 re
vi

ew
ed

 
an

d 
ap

pr
ov

ed
 b

y 
se

ni
or

 
m

an
ag

em
en

t. 
 Th

e 
in

su
re

r u
til

iz
es

 a
 fu

lly
-

st
af

fe
d,

 w
el

l q
ua

lif
ie

d 
un

de
rw

rit
in

g 
fu

nc
tio

n 
th

at
 h

as
 

ex
pe

rie
nc

e 
in

 a
ll 

lin
es

 o
f 

bu
si

ne
ss

 (c
ov

er
ag

es
) a

nd
 

ge
og

ra
ph

ic
 lo

ca
tio

ns
 (r

at
in

g 
cl

as
se

s)
 se

rv
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

in
su

re
r. 

 
 Th

e 
in

su
re

r u
til

iz
es

 d
at

a 
m

od
el

s t
o 

tra
ck

 c
om

pl
ia

nc
e 

w
ith

 e
xp

os
ur

e 
lim

its
 

es
ta

bl
is

he
d 

by
 th

e 
in

su
re

r. 

re
vi

ew
/a

pp
ro

va
l. 

 
     R

ev
ie

w
 th

e 
cr

ed
en

tia
ls

, 
ba

ck
gr

ou
nd

 a
nd

 
re

sp
on

si
bi

lit
ie

s o
f t

he
 

in
su

re
r’

s u
nd

er
w

rit
in

g 
fu

nc
tio

n 
(in

te
rn

al
 o

r e
xt

er
na

l).
 

   Te
st

 th
e 

op
er

at
in

g 
ef

fe
ct

iv
en

es
s o

f t
he

 in
su

re
r’

s 
co

nt
ro

ls
 to

 tr
ac

k 
co

m
pl

ia
nc

e 
w

ith
 th

e 
ex

po
su

re
 li

m
its

 b
y 

re
vi

ew
in

g 
m

od
el

in
g 

da
ta

.  

co
m

pa
ni

es
 su

m
m

ar
iz

e 
po

lic
ie

s b
y 

zi
p 

co
de

, i
nd

us
try

 
co

de
, p

ol
ic

y 
si

ze
, e

tc
. F

or
 

Li
fe

 a
nd

 H
ea

lth
 c

om
pa

ni
es

 
su

m
m

ar
iz

e 
by

 ri
sk

 c
la

ss
, a

ge
, 

m
ed

ic
al

 c
od

es
, e

tc
.) 

fo
r 

co
m

pl
ia

nc
e 

w
ith

 in
su

re
r 

lim
its

. I
f t

he
 in

su
re

r h
as

 n
ot

 
id

en
tif

ie
d 

ris
k 

ex
po

su
re

 
lim

its
, t

es
t t

he
 ri

sk
 e

xp
os

ur
es

 
fo

r a
pp

ro
pr

ia
te

ne
ss

 b
y 

co
ns

id
er

in
g 

ap
pl

ic
ab

le
  

in
du

st
ry

 st
an

da
rd

s a
nd

 
co

m
pa

ris
on

 to
 p

ee
r g

ro
up

s. 
 

n/
a 

Th
e 

in
su

re
r h

as
 n

ot
 

es
ta

bl
is

he
d 

ap
pr

op
ria

te
 

un
de

rw
rit

in
g 

an
d 

pr
ic

in
g 

gu
id

el
in

es
 

re
su

lti
ng

 in
 

in
ad

eq
ua

te
 o

r 
ex

ce
ss

iv
e 

ba
se

 
pr

em
iu

m
 ra

te
s. 

ST
 

PR
/U

W
 

O
th

er
 

Th
e 

in
su

re
r h

as
 d

ev
el

op
ed

 
co

m
pr

eh
en

si
ve

 u
nd

er
w

rit
in

g 
an

d 
pr

ic
in

g 
gu

id
el

in
es

 th
at

 
ha

ve
 b

ee
n 

ap
pr

ov
ed

 b
y 

se
ni

or
 

m
an

ag
em

en
t. 

 
 Th

e 
in

su
re

r u
til

iz
es

 a
 fu

lly
-

st
af

fe
d,

 w
el

l q
ua

lif
ie

d 
pr

ic
in

g 
ac

tu
ar

ia
l f

un
ct

io
n 

th
at

 h
as

 
ex

pe
rie

nc
e 

in
 a

ll 
lin

es
 o

f 
bu

si
ne

ss
 (c

ov
er

ag
es

) a
nd

 
ge

og
ra

ph
ic

 lo
ca

tio
ns

 (r
at

in
g 

cl
as

se
s)

 se
rv

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
in

su
re

r. 
 

R
ev

ie
w

 d
oc

um
en

ta
tio

n 
of

 
un

de
rw

rit
in

g 
an

d 
pr

ic
in

g 
gu

id
el

in
es

 a
nd

 e
vi

de
nc

e 
of

 
se

ni
or

 m
an

ag
em

en
t 

re
vi

ew
/a

pp
ro

va
l. 

  
 R

ev
ie

w
 th

e 
cr

ed
en

tia
ls

, 
ba

ck
gr

ou
nd

 a
nd

 
re

sp
on

si
bi

lit
ie

s o
f t

he
 

in
su

re
r’

s p
ric

in
g 

ac
tu

ar
ia

l 
de

pa
rtm

en
t f

or
 

ap
pr

op
ria

te
ne

ss
.  

  

R
ev

ie
w

 th
e 

un
de

rw
rit

in
g 

an
d 

pr
ic

in
g 

gu
id

el
in

es
 e

st
ab

lis
he

d 
by

 th
e 

in
su

re
r f

or
 

ap
pr

op
ria

te
ne

ss
.  

  Pe
rf

or
m

 a
na

ly
tic

al
 p

ro
ce

du
re

s 
to

 re
vi

ew
 th

e 
in

su
re

r’
s 

pr
of

ita
bi

lit
y 

an
d 

hi
st

or
y 

of
 

in
di

ca
te

d 
ra

te
s v

er
su

s 
se

le
ct

ed
/fi

le
d 

ra
te

s t
o 

ev
al

ua
te

 
th

e 
su

ff
ic

ie
nc

y 
of

 p
re

m
iu

m
 

ra
te

s. 
 

Attachment One 
Examination Oversight (E) Task Force 

12/6/09

© 2009 National Association of Insurance Commissioners 6



 

Su
b 

A
ct

iv
ity

 
Id

en
tif

ie
d 

R
is

k 
B

ra
nd

ed
 

R
is

k 
E

xa
m

 
A

sr
t. 

C
on

tr
ol

 B
es

t P
ra

ct
ic

es
 

Po
ss

ib
le

 T
es

t o
f C

on
tr

ol
s 

Po
ss

ib
le

 D
et

ai
l T

es
ts

 

Th
e 

pr
ic

in
g 

ac
tu

ar
ia

l f
un

ct
io

n 
ha

s a
n 

es
ta

bl
is

he
d 

pr
oc

es
s t

o 
ca

lc
ul

at
e 

ba
se

 p
re

m
iu

m
 ra

te
s 

ba
se

d 
on

 h
is

to
ric

al
 lo

ss
 

re
su

lts
, t

re
nd

s, 
Pr

in
ci

pa
l 

A
dv

is
or

y 
O

rg
an

iz
at

io
ns

 (I
SO

, 
LI

M
R

A
, e

tc
.) 

an
d/

or
 o

th
er

 
ap

pr
op

ria
te

 fa
ct

or
s (

in
cl

ud
in

g 
co

st
s o

f r
ei

ns
ur

an
ce

) a
nd

 th
e 

ca
lc

ul
at

io
n 

is
 su

bj
ec

t t
o 

a 
pe

er
 

re
vi

ew
 p

ro
ce

ss
. 

 If
 th

e 
in

su
re

r l
ac

ks
 su

ff
ic

ie
nt

 
da

ta
 to

 b
e 

st
at

is
tic

al
ly

 
cr

ed
ib

le
, r

at
es

 h
av

e 
be

en
 

ba
se

d 
on

 o
r b

en
ch

m
ar

ke
d 

ag
ai

ns
t d

at
a 

pr
ov

id
ed

 b
y 

ad
vi

so
ry

 o
rg

an
iz

at
io

ns
. 

Pe
rf

or
m

 a
 w

al
kt

hr
ou

gh
 to

 
ga

in
 a

n 
un

de
rs

ta
nd

in
g 

of
 th

e 
ra

te
 c

al
cu

la
tio

n 
pr

oc
es

s, 
an

d 
ob

ta
in

 e
vi

de
nc

e 
of

 a
 p

ee
r 

re
vi

ew
 o

f b
as

e 
pr

em
iu

m
 ra

te
 

ca
lc

ul
at

io
ns

 a
nd

 p
os

si
bl

y 
ge

t 
in

pu
t f

ro
m

 li
ne

 p
er

so
nn

el
. 

   R
ev

ie
w

 a
nd

 te
st

 th
e 

in
su

re
r’

s 
co

nt
ro

ls
 o

ve
r u

til
iz

at
io

n 
of

 
da

ta
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

by
 a

dv
is

or
y 

or
ga

ni
za

tio
ns

 to
 se

t p
re

m
iu

m
 

ra
te

s. 
 

 If
 ra

te
s h

av
e 

be
en

 su
bj

ec
t t

o 
in

su
ra

nc
e 

de
pa

rtm
en

t 
ap

pr
ov

al
, c

on
si

de
r w

he
th

er
 

re
lia

nc
e 

ca
n 

be
 p

la
ce

d 
on

 th
is

 
w

or
k.

 
    If

 d
ee

m
ed

 n
ec

es
sa

ry
, u

til
iz

e 
th

e 
de

pa
rtm

en
t o

r a
n 

in
de

pe
nd

en
t a

ct
ua

ry
 to

 
pe

rf
or

m
 a

 re
vi

ew
 o

r 
in

de
pe

nd
en

t c
al

cu
la

tio
n 

of
 

ba
se

 p
re

m
iu

m
 ra

te
s. 

 
 C

om
pa

re
 b

as
e 

pr
em

iu
m

 ra
te

s 
ut

ili
ze

d 
by

 th
e 

in
su

re
r t

o 
in

du
st

ry
 a

ve
ra

ge
s a

nd
 

ad
vi

so
ry

 o
rg

an
iz

at
io

n 
re

co
m

m
en

da
tio

ns
 fo

r 
re

as
on

ab
le

ne
ss

.  
n/

a 
Th

e 
in

su
re

r d
oe

s n
ot

 
ef

fe
ct

iv
el

y 
ov

er
se

e 
its

 
M

an
ag

in
g 

G
en

er
al

 
A

ge
nt

s (
M

G
A

s)
 to

 
en

su
re

 th
at

 
ap

pr
op

ria
te

 
un

de
rw

rit
in

g 
st

an
da

rd
s a

re
 

pr
ac

tic
ed

. 

O
P 

R
P 

O
th

er
 

Th
e 

in
su

re
r h

as
 d

ev
el

op
ed

 
co

m
pr

eh
en

si
ve

 u
nd

er
w

rit
in

g 
an

d 
pr

ic
in

g 
gu

id
el

in
es

 th
at

 
ha

ve
 b

ee
n 

ap
pr

ov
ed

 b
y 

se
ni

or
 

m
an

ag
em

en
t a

nd
 

co
m

m
un

ic
at

ed
 to

 th
e 

M
G

A
s. 

   Th
e 

in
su

re
r m

on
ito

rs
 th

e 

R
ev

ie
w

 d
oc

um
en

ta
tio

n 
of

 
un

de
rw

rit
in

g 
an

d 
pr

ic
in

g 
gu

id
el

in
es

 a
nd

 e
vi

de
nc

e 
of

 
se

ni
or

 m
an

ag
em

en
t 

re
vi

ew
/a

pp
ro

va
l a

s w
el

l a
s 

ev
id

en
ce

 o
f c

om
m

un
ic

at
io

n 
an

d 
tra

in
in

g 
pr

ov
id

ed
 to

 th
e 

M
G

A
s. 

 R
ev

ie
w

 d
oc

um
en

ta
tio

n 
th

at
 

Pe
rf

or
m

 a
na

ly
tic

al
 p

ro
ce

du
re

s 
to

 re
vi

ew
 th

e 
un

de
rw

rit
in

g 
re

su
lts

 o
f s

ig
ni

fic
an

t M
G

A
s 

to
 d

et
er

m
in

e 
w

he
th

er
 

un
de

rw
rit

in
g 

gu
id

el
in

es
 a

re
 

fo
llo

w
ed

. 
   If

 d
ee

m
ed

 n
ec

es
sa

ry
, p

er
fo

rm
 

Attachment One 
Examination Oversight (E) Task Force 

12/6/09

© 2009 National Association of Insurance Commissioners 7



 

Su
b 

A
ct

iv
ity

 
Id

en
tif

ie
d 

R
is

k 
B

ra
nd

ed
 

R
is

k 
E

xa
m

 
A

sr
t. 

C
on

tr
ol

 B
es

t P
ra

ct
ic

es
 

Po
ss

ib
le

 T
es

t o
f C

on
tr

ol
s 

Po
ss

ib
le

 D
et

ai
l T

es
ts

 

un
de

rw
rit

in
g 

re
su

lts
 o

f i
ts

 
M

G
A

s t
hr

ou
gh

 a
 re

gu
la

r 
re

vi
ew

 o
f r

el
ev

an
t r

at
io

s. 
 Th

e 
in

su
re

r p
er

fo
rm

s r
eg

ul
ar

 
au

di
ts

 o
f i

ts
 M

G
A

s t
o 

de
te

rm
in

e 
w

he
th

er
 in

su
re

r 
un

de
rw

rit
in

g 
st

an
da

rd
s a

re
 

be
in

g 
co

ns
is

te
nt

ly
 fo

llo
w

ed
. 

pr
ov

id
es

 e
vi

de
nc

e 
of

 re
gu

la
r 

re
vi

ew
 o

f M
G

A
 u

nd
er

w
rit

in
g 

re
su

lts
 b

y 
th

e 
in

su
re

r. 
 R

ev
ie

w
 a

ud
it 

re
po

rts
 a

nd
 

ot
he

r d
oc

um
en

ta
tio

n 
to

 
de

te
rm

in
e 

w
he

th
er

 th
e 

in
su

re
r 

pr
ov

id
es

 su
ff

ic
ie

nt
 o

ve
rs

ig
ht

 
of

 it
s M

G
A

s. 

a 
si

te
 v

is
it 

to
 e

xa
m

in
e 

th
e 

un
de

rw
rit

in
g 

fu
nc

tio
n 

at
 th

e 
M

G
A

. 

n/
a 

Po
lic

ie
s a

re
 

un
de

rw
rit

te
n 

th
at

 d
o 

no
t c

om
pl

y 
w

ith
 

in
su

re
r g

ui
de

lin
es

 a
nd

 
au

th
or

iz
at

io
n 

le
ve

ls
.  

O
P 

O
th

er
 

Th
e 

in
su

re
r u

til
iz

es
 a

 fu
lly

-
st

af
fe

d,
 w

el
l q

ua
lif

ie
d 

un
de

rw
rit

in
g 

fu
nc

tio
n 

th
at

 h
as

 
ex

pe
rie

nc
e 

in
 a

ll 
lin

es
 o

f 
bu

si
ne

ss
 (c

ov
er

ag
es

), 
ge

og
ra

ph
ic

 lo
ca

tio
ns

 a
nd

 
ot

he
r r

at
in

g 
cl

as
se

s s
er

ve
d 

by
 

th
e 

in
su

re
r. 

 
 Th

e 
in

su
re

r p
ro

vi
de

s i
ni

tia
l 

an
d 

on
go

in
g 

tra
in

in
g 

pr
og

ra
m

s t
o 

qu
al

ify
 it

s 
un

de
rw

rit
in

g 
st

af
f t

o 
fo

llo
w

 
th

e 
in

su
re

r g
ui

de
lin

es
 

es
ta

bl
is

he
d.

 
 U

nd
er

w
rit

er
s a

re
 re

st
ric

te
d 

in
 

th
e 

ty
pe

 a
nd

 a
m

ou
nt

 o
f 

po
lic

ie
s t

ha
t t

he
y 

un
de

rw
rit

e 
by

 a
ut

ho
rit

y 
le

ve
ls

 b
ui

lt 
in

to
 

th
e 

sy
st

em
. 

 Th
e 

in
su

re
r h

as
 e

st
ab

lis
he

d 
a 

Q
A

 p
ro

ce
ss

 to
 re

vi
ew

 n
ew

 

R
ev

ie
w

 th
e 

cr
ed

en
tia

ls
, 

ba
ck

gr
ou

nd
 a

nd
 

re
sp

on
si

bi
lit

ie
s, 

of
 th

e 
in

su
re

r’
s u

nd
er

w
rit

in
g 

fu
nc

tio
n 

(in
te

rn
al

 a
nd

/o
r 

ex
te

rn
al

). 
  R

ev
ie

w
 d

oc
um

en
ta

tio
n 

ou
tli

ni
ng

 th
e 

in
su

re
r’

s 
tra

in
in

g 
of

 u
nd

er
w

rit
in

g 
st

af
f. 

    R
ev

ie
w

 sy
st

em
 

do
cu

m
en

ta
tio

n 
in

di
ca

tin
g 

un
de

rw
rit

in
g 

au
th

or
ity

 le
ve

ls
 

in
 p

la
ce

. 
  R

ep
er

fo
rm

, o
n 

a 
sa

m
pl

e 
ba

si
s, 

te
st

in
g 

of
 p

ol
ic

ie
s r

ev
ie

w
ed

 
by

 th
e 

Q
A

 fu
nc

tio
n 

fo
r p

ro
pe

r 

Te
st

 a
 sa

m
pl

e 
of

 n
ew

 p
ol

ic
ie

s 
un

de
rw

rit
te

n 
to

 d
et

er
m

in
e 

w
he

th
er

 th
e 

fin
al

 
un

de
rw

rit
in

g 
de

ci
si

on
 w

as
 

m
ad

e 
by

 so
m

eo
ne

 a
t a

n 
ap

pr
op

ria
te

 a
ut

ho
rit

y 
le

ve
l.*

 
  Te

st
 a

 sa
m

pl
e 

of
 n

ew
 p

ol
ic

ie
s 

un
de

rw
rit

te
n 

fo
r c

om
pl

ia
nc

e 
w

ith
 a

pp
ro

pr
ia

te
 u

nd
er

w
rit

in
g 

gu
id

el
in

es
.*

 
            

Attachment One 
Examination Oversight (E) Task Force 

12/6/09

© 2009 National Association of Insurance Commissioners 8



 

Su
b 

A
ct

iv
ity

 
Id

en
tif

ie
d 

R
is

k 
B

ra
nd

ed
 

R
is

k 
E

xa
m

 
A

sr
t. 

C
on

tr
ol

 B
es

t P
ra

ct
ic

es
 

Po
ss

ib
le

 T
es

t o
f C

on
tr

ol
s 

Po
ss

ib
le

 D
et

ai
l T

es
ts

 

po
lic

ie
s u

nd
er

w
rit

te
n 

fo
r 

co
m

pl
ia

nc
e 

w
ith

 u
nd

er
w

rit
in

g 
gu

id
el

in
es

 o
n 

a 
sa

m
pl

e 
ba

si
s. 

 
  Th

e 
in

su
re

r d
es

ig
na

te
s a

n 
in

di
vi

du
al

 to
 b

e 
re

sp
on

si
bl

e 
fo

r t
ra

ck
in

g 
an

d 
m

ai
nt

ai
ni

ng
 

lic
en

se
s f

or
 a

ll 
ju

ris
di

ct
io

ns
 in

 
w

hi
ch

 it
 tr

an
sa

ct
s b

us
in

es
s. 

im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n 
of

 th
e 

in
su

re
r’

s u
nd

er
w

rit
in

g 
gu

id
el

in
es

.  
 R

ev
ie

w
 th

e 
in

su
re

r’
s p

ro
ce

ss
 

fo
r t

ra
ck

in
g 

an
d 

m
ai

nt
ai

ni
ng

 
lic

en
se

s t
o 

w
rit

e 
bu

si
ne

ss
. 

    R
ev

ie
w

 c
er

tif
ic

at
es

 o
f 

au
th

or
ity

 fo
r s

ta
te

s a
nd

 
ju

ris
di

ct
io

ns
 w

he
re

 th
e 

in
su

re
r i

s l
ic

en
se

d 
to

 w
rit

e 
bu

si
ne

ss
 a

s o
f t

he
 

ex
am

in
at

io
n 

da
te

. 
Fi

na
nc

ia
l R

ep
or

tin
g 

R
is

ks
 

D
at

a 
A

cc
um

ul
at

io
n 

&
 P

ro
te

ct
io

n 

A
pp

lic
at

io
n 

da
ta

 a
re

 
no

t p
ro

pe
rly

 a
nd

 
co

m
pl

et
el

y 
en

te
re

d 
in

to
 th

e 
sy

st
em

. 

O
P 

A
C

 
C

O
 

Th
e 

in
su

re
r’

s s
ys

te
m

 c
on

ta
in

s 
ed

it 
ch

ec
ks

 th
at

 re
qu

ire
 

ap
pl

ic
at

io
n 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

to
 b

e 
co

m
pl

et
e 

an
d 

re
as

on
ab

le
 

be
fo

re
 b

ei
ng

 e
nt

er
ed

 in
to

 th
e 

sy
st

em
.  

  Th
e 

in
su

re
r h

as
 a

 Q
A

 p
ro

ce
ss

 
in

 p
la

ce
 th

at
 te

st
s n

ew
 

ap
pl

ic
at

io
n 

da
ta

 e
nt

er
ed

 in
to

 
th

e 
sy

st
em

 o
n 

a 
sa

m
pl

e 
ba

si
s. 

 

In
 c

on
ju

nc
tio

n 
w

ith
 th

e 
te

st
in

g 
pe

rf
or

m
ed

 th
ro

ug
h 

th
e 

Pr
em

iu
m

 R
ep

os
ito

ry
, t

es
t t

he
 

op
er

at
in

g 
ef

fe
ct

iv
en

es
s o

f e
di

t 
ch

ec
ks

 th
ro

ug
h 

re
pe

rf
or

m
an

ce
 a

nd
 

ob
se

rv
at

io
n.

  
 In

 c
on

ju
nc

tio
n 

w
ith

 th
e 

te
st

in
g 

pe
rf

or
m

ed
 th

ro
ug

h 
th

e 
Pr

em
iu

m
 R

ep
os

ito
ry

, 
re

pe
rf

or
m

, o
n 

a 
sa

m
pl

e 
ba

si
s, 

Q
A

 te
st

in
g 

of
 th

e 
ap

pl
ic

at
io

n 
da

ta
 e

nt
er

ed
 in

to
 th

e 
sy

st
em

. 

Tr
ac

e 
a 

of
 re

co
rd

s f
ro

m
 th

e 
ap

pl
ic

at
io

n 
or

 re
po

rt 
of

 th
e 

ag
en

t t
o 

th
e 

da
ta

ba
se

 a
nd

 
fr

om
 th

e 
da

ta
ba

se
 to

 th
e 

ap
pl

ic
at

io
n 

or
 re

po
rt 

of
 th

e 
ag

en
t; 

ve
rif

y 
an

d 
va

lid
at

e 
in

di
vi

du
al

 d
et

er
m

in
an

ts
 su

ch
 

as
 e

ff
ec

tiv
e 

da
te

, t
er

m
 a

nd
 

ex
pi

ra
tio

n 
da

te
 o

f t
he

 
co

ve
ra

ge
, c

on
tra

ct
 o

r 
id

en
tif

ic
at

io
n 

nu
m

be
r, 

pr
em

iu
m

 a
m

ou
nt

, a
nd

 
ne

ga
tiv

e 
am

ou
nt

s.*
 

 
In

-f
or

ce
 d

at
a 

is
 n

ot
 

ap
pr

op
ria

te
ly

 
re

st
ric

te
d 

an
d 

pr
ot

ec
te

d 
to

 m
ai

nt
ai

n 
ac

cu
ra

te
 a

nd
 

co
m

pl
et

e 
da

ta
.  

O
P 

A
C

 
C

O
 

Th
e 

in
su

re
r m

ai
nt

ai
ns

 lo
gi

ca
l 

ac
ce

ss
 c

on
tro

ls
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

pa
ss

w
or

d 
pr

ot
ec

tio
n 

an
d 

ac
tiv

e 
di

re
ct

or
ie

s t
o 

pr
op

er
ly

 
re

st
ric

t a
cc

es
s t

o 
in

-f
or

ce
 

da
ta

. 

Te
st

 th
e 

op
er

at
in

g 
ef

fe
ct

iv
en

es
s o

f l
og

ic
al

 a
cc

es
s 

co
nt

ro
ls

 b
y 

re
vi

ew
in

g 
do

cu
m

en
ta

tio
n 

re
la

tin
g 

to
 

re
qu

es
ts

 fo
r a

cc
es

s a
nd

 b
y 

at
te

m
pt

in
g 

to
 h

av
e 

un
au

th
or

iz
ed

 in
di

vi
du

al
s 

Se
le

ct
 a

 sa
m

pl
e 

of
 in

 fo
rc

e 
po

lic
y 

da
ta

 a
t t

he
 e

xa
m

in
at

io
n 

as
-o

f d
at

e 
fo

r a
cc

ur
ac

y 
an

d 
co

m
pl

et
en

es
s t

es
tin

g.
* 

 

Attachment One 
Examination Oversight (E) Task Force 

12/6/09

© 2009 National Association of Insurance Commissioners 9



 

Su
b 

A
ct

iv
ity

 
Id

en
tif

ie
d 

R
is

k 
B

ra
nd

ed
 

R
is

k 
E

xa
m

 
A

sr
t. 

C
on

tr
ol

 B
es

t P
ra

ct
ic

es
 

Po
ss

ib
le

 T
es

t o
f C

on
tr

ol
s 

Po
ss

ib
le

 D
et

ai
l T

es
ts

 

ac
ce

ss
 th

e 
in

-f
or

ce
 d

at
a.

 
 

R
at

es
 a

nd
 ra

te
 

ch
an

ge
s a

re
 n

ot
 

pr
op

er
ly

 lo
ad

ed
 in

to
 

th
e 

co
m

pu
te

r s
ys

te
m

. 

O
P 

LQ
 

A
C

 
Th

e 
in

su
re

r h
as

 d
oc

um
en

te
d 

pr
oc

es
se

s a
nd

 p
ro

ce
du

re
s t

o 
ac

cu
ra

te
ly

 lo
ad

 th
e 

ap
pr

op
ria

te
 a

ct
ua

ria
lly

 
ca

lc
ul

at
ed

 ra
te

s i
nt

o 
its

 
pr

em
iu

m
 sy

st
em

 in
cl

ud
in

g 
a 

su
pe

rv
is

or
y 

re
vi

ew
 o

f r
at

es
 

lo
ad

ed
. 

Te
st

 th
e 

op
er

at
in

g 
ef

fe
ct

iv
en

es
s o

ve
r r

at
e 

lo
ad

in
g 

co
nt

ro
ls

 b
y 

re
vi

ew
in

g 
do

cu
m

en
ta

tio
n 

in
di

ca
tin

g 
an

 
ap

pr
ov

al
 o

f r
at

es
 lo

ad
ed

 in
to

 
sy

st
em

.  

Se
le

ct
 a

 sa
m

pl
e 

of
 ra

te
s 

lo
ad

ed
 in

 th
e 

sy
st

em
 fo

r 
co

m
pa

ris
on

 to
 b

as
e 

pr
em

iu
m

 
ra

te
s c

al
cu

la
te

d 
by

 th
e 

pr
ic

in
g 

ac
tu

ar
ia

l u
ni

t.*
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
U

nd
er

w
rit

in
g 

Pr
oc

es
s 

Po
lic

ie
s a

re
 n

ot
 

pr
ic

ed
 in

 a
cc

or
da

nc
e 

w
ith

 in
su

re
r 

gu
id

el
in

es
.  

O
P 

A
C

 
Th

e 
in

su
re

r u
til

iz
es

 a
 fu

lly
-

st
af

fe
d,

 w
el

l q
ua

lif
ie

d 
un

de
rw

rit
in

g 
fu

nc
tio

n 
th

at
 h

as
 

ex
pe

rie
nc

e 
in

 a
ll 

lin
es

 o
f 

bu
si

ne
ss

 a
nd

 g
eo

gr
ap

hi
c 

lo
ca

tio
ns

 se
rv

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
in

su
re

r. 
 

 Th
e 

in
su

re
r p

ro
vi

de
s i

ni
tia

l 
an

d 
on

go
in

g 
tra

in
in

g 
pr

og
ra

m
s t

o 
qu

al
ify

 it
s 

un
de

rw
rit

in
g 

st
af

f t
o 

fo
llo

w
 

th
e 

in
su

re
r p

ric
in

g 
gu

id
el

in
es

 
es

ta
bl

is
he

d.
 

 Th
e 

in
su

re
r h

as
 e

st
ab

lis
he

d 
a 

Q
A

 p
ro

ce
ss

 to
 re

vi
ew

 n
ew

 
po

lic
ie

s u
nd

er
w

rit
te

n 
fo

r 
co

m
pl

ia
nc

e 
w

ith
 p

ric
in

g 
gu

id
el

in
es

 o
n 

a 
sa

m
pl

e 
ba

si
s. 

R
ev

ie
w

 th
e 

cr
ed

en
tia

ls
, 

ba
ck

gr
ou

nd
 a

nd
 

re
sp

on
si

bi
lit

ie
s, 

of
 th

e 
in

su
re

r’
s u

nd
er

w
rit

in
g 

fu
nc

tio
n 

(in
te

rn
al

 o
r e

xt
er

na
l).

 
   R

ev
ie

w
 d

oc
um

en
ta

tio
n 

ou
tli

ni
ng

 th
e 

in
su

re
r’

s 
tra

in
in

g 
of

 u
nd

er
w

rit
in

g 
st

af
f. 

    Te
st

 a
 sa

m
pl

e 
of

 p
ol

ic
ie

s 
re

vi
ew

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
Q

A
 fu

nc
tio

n 
fo

r p
ro

pe
r i

m
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n 
of

 
th

e 
in

su
re

r’
s p

ric
in

g 
gu

id
el

in
es

. 

Te
st

 a
 sa

m
pl

e 
of

 n
ew

 p
ol

ic
ie

s 
un

de
rw

rit
te

n 
fo

r a
pp

ro
pr

ia
te

 
pr

ic
in

g.
* 

 
En

do
rs

em
en

ts
, 

ca
nc

el
la

tio
ns

 o
r o

th
er

 
po

lic
y 

ch
an

ge
s a

re
 

O
P 

R
P 

A
C

 
Th

e 
in

su
re

r h
as

 e
st

ab
lis

he
d 

po
lic

ie
s a

nd
 p

ro
ce

du
re

s f
or

 
m

ak
in

g 
ac

cu
ra

te
, t

im
el

y 

Pe
rf

or
m

 a
 w

al
kt

hr
ou

gh
 to

 
ga

in
 a

n 
un

de
rs

ta
nd

in
g 

of
 th

e 
in

su
re

r’
s p

ro
ce

ss
 to

 m
ak

e 

Te
st

 a
 sa

m
pl

e 
of

 c
ha

ng
es

 
m

ad
e 

to
 in

 fo
rc

e 
po

lic
ie

s 
du

rin
g 

th
e 

ye
ar

 b
y 

re
vi

ew
in

g 

Attachment One 
Examination Oversight (E) Task Force 

12/6/09

© 2009 National Association of Insurance Commissioners 10



 

Su
b 

A
ct

iv
ity

 
Id

en
tif

ie
d 

R
is

k 
B

ra
nd

ed
 

R
is

k 
E

xa
m

 
A

sr
t. 

C
on

tr
ol

 B
es

t P
ra

ct
ic

es
 

Po
ss

ib
le

 T
es

t o
f C

on
tr

ol
s 

Po
ss

ib
le

 D
et

ai
l T

es
ts

 

no
t t

im
el

y 
an

d 
ac

cu
ra

te
ly

 re
co

rd
ed

.  
ch

an
ge

s t
o 

po
lic

ie
s. 

 
 Th

e 
in

su
re

r h
as

 e
st

ab
lis

he
d 

a 
Q

A
 p

ro
ce

ss
 to

 re
vi

ew
 

ch
an

ge
s t

o 
po

lic
ie

s t
o 

en
su

re
 

co
m

pl
ia

nc
e 

w
ith

 in
su

re
r 

po
lic

ie
s a

nd
 p

ro
ce

du
re

s o
n 

a 
sa

m
pl

e 
ba

si
s. 

ch
an

ge
s t

o 
in

 fo
rc

e 
po

lic
ie

s. 
 Te

st
 a

 sa
m

pl
e 

of
 c

ha
ng

es
 to

 
po

lic
ie

s r
ev

ie
w

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
Q

A
 

fu
nc

tio
n 

fo
r p

ro
pe

r 
im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

of
 th

e 
in

su
re

r’
s p

ol
ic

ie
s a

nd
 

pr
oc

ed
ur

es
. 

su
pp

or
tin

g 
do

cu
m

en
ta

tio
n.

* 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
C

om
pl

ia
nc

e 
R

at
es

 a
nd

 fo
rm

s d
o 

no
t c

om
pl

y 
w

ith
 st

at
e 

st
an

da
rd

s a
nd

 a
re

 n
ot

 
pr

op
er

ly
 a

pp
ro

ve
d 

by
 

th
e 

st
at

e.
 

O
P 

LG
 

C
M

 
Th

e 
in

su
re

r h
as

 e
st

ab
lis

he
d 

po
lic

ie
s a

nd
 p

ro
ce

du
re

s f
or

 
su

bm
itt

in
g 

ra
te

s a
nd

 fo
rm

s i
n 

co
m

pl
ia

nc
e 

w
ith

 st
at

e 
st

an
da

rd
s. 

 Th
e 

in
su

re
r’

s c
om

pl
ia

nc
e 

of
fic

er
 (o

r o
th

er
 si

m
ila

r 
fu

nc
tio

n)
 re

vi
ew

s a
nd

 
m

on
ito

rs
 th

e 
pr

oc
es

s t
o 

fil
e 

ra
te

s a
nd

 fo
rm

s w
ith

 th
e 

st
at

e.
  

Pe
rf

or
m

 a
 w

al
kt

hr
ou

gh
 to

 
ga

in
 a

n 
un

de
rs

ta
nd

in
g 

of
 th

e 
in

su
re

r’
s p

ro
ce

ss
 to

 fi
le

 ra
te

s 
an

d 
fo

rm
s. 

  R
ev

ie
w

 d
oc

um
en

ta
tio

n 
in

di
ca

tin
g 

a 
re

vi
ew

 o
f r

at
es

 
an

d 
fo

rm
s b

y 
a 

co
m

pl
ia

nc
e 

of
fic

er
 a

nd
 g

ai
n 

an
 

un
de

rs
ta

nd
in

g 
of

 th
e 

pr
oc

es
s 

fo
r f

ili
ng

 th
e 

ra
te

s a
nd

 fo
rm

s. 
 

Ta
ke

 a
 sa

m
pl

e 
of

 se
le

ct
ed

 
lin

es
 o

f b
us

in
es

s (
co

ve
ra

ge
s)

 
to

 d
et

er
m

in
e 

w
he

th
er

 ra
te

s 
an

d 
fo

rm
s w

er
e 

ap
pr

ov
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

ap
pr

op
ria

te
 st

at
es

.*
  

        

Attachment One 
Examination Oversight (E) Task Force 

12/6/09

© 2009 National Association of Insurance Commissioners 11

W:\Dec09\TF\Examo\Attachment One Reduced.pdf



Attachment Two  
Examination Oversight (E) Task Force 

12/9/09 
 

© 2009 National Association of Insurance Commissioners 1

Draft: 11/4/09 
Financial Analysis Handbook (E) Working Group 

E-mail Vote 
November 2, 2009 

 
The Financial Analysis Handbook (E) Working Group of the Examination Oversight (E) Task Force conducted an e-mail 
vote Nov. 2, 2009. The following Working Group members participated: Roger Peterson, Chair (WI); Sheila Travis (AL); 
Kurt Regner (AZ); Neil Miller (MD); Judy Weaver (MI); Thomas Burke (NH); Russell Jones (NJ); Dennis Fernez (NY); 
Annette Boyce (OR); Steve Johnson (PA); and Jack Broccoli (RI).   
 
1. Adopt the 2009 Health Edition of the NAIC Financial Analysis Handbook 

 
On the Oct. 13 Working Group call, the Working Group voted to release additional edits to the Actuarial Opinion chapter of 
the 2009 health edition of the Financial Analysis Handbook for a comment period of 10 days ending Oct. 29. One comment 
letter was received from America’s Health Insurance Plans recommending nonsubstantive grammatical and formatting edits. 
(Attachment Two-A)  
 
An e-mail vote was conducted Nov. 2. A motion was made by Mr. Regner to adopt the revisions to the 2009 health edition of 
the Financial Analysis Handbook (Attachment Two-A1), which were discussed on previous conference calls. The motion 
was seconded by Ms. Weaver and passed unanimously.  
 
Having no further business, the Financial Analysis Handbook (E) Working Group adjourned. 

W:\Dec09\TF\Examo\Wg\fahwg\Attachment 2 - 110209 FAHWG minutes.doc 



 
 
 
 
 

 

October 27, 2009   
 

To: Roger Peterson, Chair Financial Analysis Handbook Working Group 
Jane Koenigsman, Staff to FAHWG 
 

Re: Exposed Draft Changes to Health Financial Analysis Handbook 
 

These comments are being submitted on behalf of America’s Health Insurance Plans (AHIP). AHIP is 
the nation’s trade association representing nearly 1,300 member companies providing health, long-term 
care, dental, disability and supplemental coverage to more than 200 million Americans. We appreciate 
the opportunity to provide additional comments to the Financial Analysis Handbook Working Group 
(FAHWG) regarding the proposed changes to the review of the health blank actuarial opinion.  The 
FAHWG exposed the recent revisions to the health blank actuarial opinion for comment during its call 
on October 13, 2009.  We note that the exposure draft included many changes that AHIP had 
recommended in our letter of September 29, 2009.     We appreciate your willingness to consider our 
comments.  The following are, we believe, editorial changes consistent with the decisions made during 
the last conference call.  
 
Page 1 - The paragraph that begins "Section 3 provides…" in the third line should recognize that the 
Table for this section has two boxes so it should read "...section provides boxes to be checked if there is 
revised wording or if any of the actuary's work as detailed in the Actuarial Memorandum, deviates from 
Actuarial Standards of Practice." 
 
Page 2 and 3 - references to the items in Scope should use capital letters in the lettering since the 
Opinion Instructions for the health blank use capitals.  Also on Page 3, in the paragraph that begins 
"Actuarial reserves and liabilities" the parenthetical should read: “(items 1a & 1b are specifically 
referenced in item D in the list above).”   
  
Page 4 - in the bottom paragraph last sentence, the word 'opinion' should be capitalized. 
 
Page 5, Procedure #8 - the second and third sentence should be revised into three sentences to deal with 
how "certain items" will be dealt with for 2009.  They would read:  The Annual Financial Statement 
Instructions list certain items to be included in the Opinion paragraph, A through H.  Certain other items 
have been included as separate lines in the past.  For 2009, these items would be included within item 
#H. 
 
Page 7 the numbering in 7 should follow that used in the Opinion Instructions - i.e. A through H. 
 
Page 8 the numbering in 8 should follow that used in the Opinion Instructions - i.e. A through F. 
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October 27, 2009 
Page 2 
 
 

 
 

 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
William C. Weller 
Consultant to AHIP     
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Health Financial Analysis Handbook – Annual 20089 / Quarterly 200910 
 

III. Analysts Reference Guide – A. Level 1 Annual Procedures  
 

 
 

 

Financial Analyst Role 
 

During the risk-focused surveillance approach, the financial analyst role is to provide continuous off-site 
monitoring of a health entity’s financial condition, monitor internal/external changes relating to all aspects of the 
health entity, maintain a prioritization system and work with the examination staff to develop an ongoing 
Supervisory Plan as well as update the Insurer Profile Summary, if applicable. 
 
Overview of Level 1 Procedures 
 

The objective of the Level 1 Procedures is to perform a sufficient level of analysis of all domestic health entities 
in order to derive an overall assessment that highlights areas where a more detailed analysis, as found in the Level 
2 Procedures, may be necessary. As part of the Level 1 Analysis, the analyst will review the health entity’s 
Annual Scoring System Report, Analyst Team Validated Level, RBC results, and the information included in the 
Financial Profile Report. The Level 1 Procedures require the analyst to review the prior year’s analysis of the 
health entity and to perform a general review of the current year’s Annual Financial Statement, along with an 
assessment of supplemental filings, including the Audited Financial Report, Statement of Actuarial Opinion, 
Management’s Disscussion and Analysis (MD&A), and the varous holding company filings (e.g., 10-K, Form A, 
etc.).  
 
The analysts should have a firm understanding of the following risk classifications: 

• Credit - Amounts actually collected or collectible are less than those contractually due.  
• Market - Movement in market rates or prices—such as interest rates, foreign exchanges rates or equity 

prices—adversely affects the reported and/or market value of investments. 
• Pricing/Underwriting - Pricing and underwriting practices are inadequate to provide for risks assumed. 
• Reserving - Actual losses or other contractual payments reflected in reported reserves or other liabilities 

will be greater than estimated. 
• Liquidity - Inability to meet contractual obligations as they become due because of an inability to 

liquidate assets or obtain adequate funding without incurring unacceptable losses. 
• Operational - Operational problems such as inadequate information systems, breaches in internal 

controls, fraud or unforeseen catastrophes resulting in unexpected losses. 
• Legal - Non-conformance with laws, rules, regulations, prescribed practices or ethical standards in any 

jurisdiction in which the entity operates will result in a disruption in business and financial loss. 
• Strategic - Inability to implement appropriate business plans, to make decisions, to allocate resources or 

to adapt to changes in the business environment will adversely affect competitive position and financial 
condition.  

• Reputational - Negative publicity, whether true or not, causes a decline in the customer base, costly 
litigation and/or revenue reductions. 

 
A prospective risk is a residual risk that impacts future operations of a health entity. These anticipated risks arise 
due to assessments of company management and/or operations or risks associated with future business plans.  
Types of risks may include underwriting, investments, claims, and reinsurance. The analyst’s understanding of the 
above nine risk classifications includes an assessment of the level of that risk and the ability of the health entity to 
appropriately manage the risk during the current period and prosepctively. These prospective risks require 
assessment and identification of how they may evolve related to the health entity’s overall risk profile. 
Understanding how risks that may or may not appear urgent now will potentially impact future operations, and 
how management plans to address those risks is key to prospective risk analysis. The assessment of these nine risk 
classifications both currently and prospectively should be part of the quantitative and qualitative analysis 
completed within the Level 1, 2, 3 and Supplemental procedures. The Financial Condition Examiners Handbook 
provides guidance on prospective risks within Exhibit O—Examples of Risks and Exhibit V—Prospective Risk 
Assessment. 

1

Attachment Two-A1 
Examination Oversight (E) Task Force 

12/6/09

© 2009 National Association of Insurance Commissioners



Health Financial Analysis Handbook – Annual 20089 / Quarterly 200910 
 

III. Analysts Reference Guide – A. Level 1 Annual Procedures  
 

 
 

 

At the conclusion of the Level 1 Procedures, the analyst is asked to document an overall summary and conclusion 
regarding the financial condition of the health entity, as well as the health entity’s strengths and weaknesses, 
determine whether the health entity is considered a priority company, and whether one or more of the procedures 
in the Level 2 Procedures should be completed. Because some items, such as the Audited Financial Report and the 
various holding company filings are not required to be filed until after most of the annual review is completed, the 
analyst will document a conclusion based on the Level 1 Procedures and the current analysis of the health entity. 
The Audited Financial Report and the various holding company filings should be reviewed upon receipt and, if 
additional concerns are noted, the conclusion or the first quarter conclusion should be revised to reflect the most 
recent information. Similarly, as the analyst completes the Level 2 Procedures, the Level 1 conclusion should be 
reviewed and revised as necessary with any follow-up information or similar updates made to the first quarter 
conclusion. At the completion of the analysis process, including any Level 1, 2, 3 or Supplemental Procedures, 
the analyst should update the Insurer Profiles Summary, if applicable, and communicate with financial 
examination staff. 
 
Insurer Profile Summary 
 

The Insurer Profile Summary is a “living document” maintained by the state of domicile to “house” summaries of 
risk-focused examinations, financial analysis, internal and external changes, priority scores, supervisory plans, 
and other standard information.   
 
Analysts are involved in all phases of the Risk-Focused Surveillance approach. There should be a continuous 
exchange of information between examiners and analysts to ensure that all members of the department are 
properly informed of solvency issues related to the health entity. The analyst should work with the examination 
staff to update the Insurer Profile Summary, including the Supervisory Plan, if applicable. The Supervisory Plan 
should be developed using the most recent examinations and annual and quarterly analysis results. As the lead 
state, the department should coordinate the ongoing surveillance of companies within the group with input from 
other affected states (with the understanding that the domestic state has the ultimate authority over the regulation 
of the domestic health entity under its jurisdiction). The Supervisory Plan should include the type of surveillance 
planned, the resources dedicated to the oversight, and the coordination with other states. 
 
Continual Review Process 
 

The above-mentioned review of the Audited Financial Report and the Holding Company Analysis Procedures 
highlights the importance of a continual review process. This ongoing review process is obvious in these cases but 
is also necessary in other areas. For example, to the extent that an analyst completes the Level 1 Procedures for a 
health entity and has concerns with its non-invested assets, the analyst would complete the Level 2 Procedures for 
Other Assets. Upon completion of the Level 2 Procedures, the analyst may have additional concerns and would 
complete the Level 3 Procedures for Other Assets. This analysis may result in questions posed to the health entity 
and additional information being supplied to the analyst.  
 
In some cases, the state may choose to perform a more in-depth analysis of the health entity’s receivables, such as 
a targeted examination. This is just one of the many recommendations that could result from the ongoing analysis 
of a health entity. Other recommendations include: 1) requesting additional information from the health entity; 2) 
obtaining the health entity’s business plan; 3) requesting additional interim reporting; 4) engaging an independent 
expert; 5) meeting with the health entity’s management; and 6) obtaining a corrective action plan from the health 
entity. These specific recommendations are included in the Financial Analysis Framework section of the 
Handbook and represent just a few of the potential actions that could result from the ongoing analysis of a health 
entity.  
 
Regardless of the final outcome, the results of the ongoing analysis should be documented in the appropriate level 
of the analysis, including the Level 1 conclusion, if applicable. 

2

Attachment Two-A1 
Examination Oversight (E) Task Force 

12/6/09

© 2009 National Association of Insurance Commissioners



Health Financial Analysis Handbook – Annual 20089 / Quarterly 200910 
 

III. Analysts Reference Guide – A. Level 1 Annual Procedures  
 

 
 

 

 
Financial Examination Assessment 
 

In performing the procedures related to financial examinations, the analyst should review the Supervisory Plan 
and Insurer Profile Summary for additional information obtained through the risk-focused surveillance approach. 
Communication and/or coordination with other departments is crucial during the consideration of these 
procedures. The analyst should also consider the health entity’s corporate governance, which includes the 
assessment of the risk environment facing the health entity in order to identify current or prospective solvency 
risks, oversight provided by the Board of Directors, and the effectiveness of management, including the code of 
conduct established by the Board. 
 
The fundamental purposes of a full scope financial condition examination report are: 1) to assess the financial 
condition of the company, and 2) to set forth findings of fact (together with citations of pertinent laws, regulations 
and rules) with regard to any material adverse findings disclosed by the examination. The report on examination 
should be structured and written to communicate to regulatory officials examination findings of regulatory 
importance. This type of communcation includes management letter comments and performace audit comments, 
where approproiate. 
 
These comments are similar to management letter comments frequently made by CPA firms as a result of their 
audit. Many insolvencies have been caused by mismanagement. When examiners identify systems, or operational 
or management problems that exist, performance audit comments are an opportunity to alert management and 
other readers of the financial examination report to problems that, if left uncorrected, could ultimately lead to 
insolvency. 
 
Performance audit comments generally contain the following information: 1) a concise statement of the problem 
found; 2) the factors which caused or created the problem; 3) the materiality of the problem and its effect on the 
financial statements; 4) the financial condition of the health entity or the health entity’s operations; and 5) the 
examiner’s recommendation to the health entity regarding what should be done to correct the problem. 
 
The effectiveness of the financial examination process is enhanced if effective follow-up procedures have been 
established by the domiciliary state insurance department. Periodically, after a financial examination report has 
been issued, inquiries should be made to the health entity to determine the extent to which corrective actions have 
been taken on report recommendations and criticisms. Because the examiners have usually moved on to another 
examination, many states utilize the financial analysts to perform this function. A lack of satisfactory corrective 
action by the health entity may be cause for further regulatory action. 
 
Risk-Focused Examinations 
 

The concept of risk in the risk-focused examination encompasses not only risk as of the examination date, but 
risks that extend or commence during the time in which the examination was conducted, and risks which are 
anticipated to arise or extend past the point of completion of the examination. Risks in addition to the financial 
reporting risks may be reviewed as part of the examination process.  
 
The risk-focused examination anticipates that risk assessment may extend through all seven phases of the 
examination. 

• Phase 1 – Understand the Company and Identify Key Functional Activities to be Reviewed—Researching 
key business processes and business units. 

• Phase 2 – Identify and Assess Inherent Risk in Activities—These risks include credit, market, 
pricing/underwriting, reserving, liquidity, operational, legal, strategic and reputational. 

3

Attachment Two-A1 
Examination Oversight (E) Task Force 

12/6/09

© 2009 National Association of Insurance Commissioners



Health Financial Analysis Handbook – Annual 20089 / Quarterly 200910 
 

III. Analysts Reference Guide – A. Level 1 Annual Procedures  
 

 
 

 

• Phase 3 – Identify and Evaluate Risk Mitigation Strategies/Controls—These strategies/controls include 
management oversight, policies and procedures, risk measurement, control monitoring, and compliance 
with laws. 

• Phase 4 – Determine Residual Risk—Once this risk is determined, the examiner can determine where to 
focus resources most effectively. 

• Phase 5 – Establish/Conduct Examination Procedures—Upon completion of risk assessment, determine 
nature and extent of the examination. 

• Phase 6 – Update Prioritization and Supervisory Plan—Incorporate the material findings of the risk 
assessment and examination in the determination of the prioritization and supervisory plan. 

• Phase 7 – Draft Examination Report and Management Letter Based on Findings—Incorporate into the 
examination report and management letter the results and observations noted during the examination. 

 
The goals of the risk-focused examinations are to: 

• Assess the quality and reliability of corporate governance to identify, assess and manage the risk 
environment facing the health entity in order to identify current or prospective solvency risk areas. By 
understanding the corporate governance structure and assessing the “tone at the top,” the examiner will 
obtain information on the quality of guidance and oversight provided by the board of directors and the 
effectiveness of management, including the code of conduct established in cooperation with the board. To 
assist in this assessment, examiners may utilize board and audit committee minutes; list of critical 
management and operating committees, their members and meeting frequencies; and Sarbanes-Oxley 
filings and initiatives, as applicable. 

• Assess the risk that a company’s surplus is materially misstated. 
 
Discussion of Level 1 Annual Procedures  
 

Level 1 Annual Procedures are designed to identify potential areas of concern. As noted above, the principal areas 
of focus in the Level 1 Annual Procedures include the overall analysis of the health entity and its operations. The 
following provides a brief description of the purpose of each procedure. 
 
Background Analysis  
 

Procedure #1 provides guidance to the analyst in determining if any conclusions reached in the prior year analysis 
of the health entity should be considered in the work to be completed for the current year. Areas of concern noted 
in the prior year should be reviewed carefully in the current year. Health entities who were classified as priority 
companies in the prior year, either by the state’s priority designation, the Scoring System results, the Analyst 
Team System Validated Level, or the RBC Ratio, should be reviewed carefully in the current year. The analyst 
should review the Insurer Profile Summary, including the Supervisory Plan, if applicable, for any concerns or 
risks that may require additional attention during the current analysis being performed. 
 
Procedure #2 alerts the analyst to review all inter-departmental communciation, as well as communication with 
other state insurance departments and the health entity. Internal communication may include departments such as 
examination, licensing and admissions, consumer affairs, rate filings, policy/forms analysis, agents’ licensing, 
legal, and market conduct. It may be necessary to communicate with other state departments if a multi-state 
domestic health entity writes a significant amount of business in other states. Additional communciation with the 
health entity throughout the year should be reviewed to identify any items or areas that may require special 
attention during the analysis process. Refer to the Introductory Chapters for further discussion on internal and 
external communication. 
 
Procedure #3 directs the analyst to determine whether the health entity was a party to a merger or consolidation, 
which can have a significant impact on the ongoing operations of the health entity. While organizational changes 
alone may not indicate a problem, knowledge of the change may help the analyst understand the health entity’s 
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future plans and goals. Additionally, the analyst should verify that Form A or additional filings have been 
approved. 
 
Procedure #4 requires the analyst to review General Interrogatories, Part 1, #6.1 and #6.2, to determine whether 
the health entity had any Certificates of Authority, licenses or registrations (including corporate registration if 
applicable) suspended or revoked by any governemental entity during the reporting period and investigate the 
reason(s) for the action(s). 
 
Procedure #5 directs the analyst to identify if there are recent changes in the state’s statutes and regulations that 
could have an impact on the health entity’s financial results or business profile. If so, to the extent that 
information is available regarding the new statute or regulation, the analyst should determine if the health entity 
has complied with any new state statutes and/or regulations that have been enacted during the period. 
 
Procedure #6 requires the analyst to review the most recent rating agency report. In many cases, a rating agency 
downgrade may have an impact on the health entity’s ability to generate new business or to retain existing 
business. The significance of the impact of a downgrade is generally dependent upon the type of product sold by 
the health entity and the level of the rating given by the agency. 
 
Procedure #7 directs the analyst to review any industry reports, news releases or any emerging issues that have 
the potential to negatively impact the health entity. An example might include regulatory or media scrutiny of 
certain insurance lines of business, whether related to market conduct or financial issues. Another example would 
be changes in the economic environment that may negatively impact investment returns or result in material 
capital losses. 
 
Procedure #8 directs the analyst to review the business plan of the health entity if it is available from recent 
surveillance activity, such as previous analysis or examinations, and if a review of the busienss plan is considered 
necessary based on the health entity’s priority designation and financial condition. If reviewed, the analyst should 
assess if the plan is consistent with current operations and expectations of projected results. For example, consider 
if the health entity is writing more or less premium or different lines of buiness than outlined in the plan, Consider 
if the plan is consistent with changes in the makets or geographical areas where business is being written, or new 
licenses obtained to write business. The analyst should assess significant variances in the business plan through 
review of the plan and/or through communication with the health entity. If a business plan is not available or 
current and, based on the analysis performed, the analyst feels it is necessary to request a business plan and 
recommend further analysis in this area, a procedure exists at the end of Level 1 within the “Recommendations 
for Further Analysis” section. 
 
Management Assessment 
 

Procedure #9 assists the analyst in determining if changes in the health entity’s management or board of directors 
have occurred. Changes such as these can have a significant impact on the ongoing operations of the health entity 
and management philosophy. Changes in the board of directors may also indicate changes in the audit committee. 
When assessing management, the analyst should take into consideration not only the changes in management but 
also the analyst’s and examiner’s knowledge about the current management team and any concerns that may exist 
regarding management. While management changes alone may not indicate a problem, knowledge of these 
changes may help the analyst understand other potential problems. 
 
With regard to corporate governance, there are many aspects that require consideration, such as: adequate 
competency; independent and adequate involvement of the Board of Directors; multiple channels of 
communication; code of conduct between the Board and management; sound strategic and financial objectives; 
support from relevent business planning; reliable risk management processes; sound principles of conduct; 
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reporting of findings to the Board; adoption of Sarbanes-Oxley provisions; and Board oversight and approval of 
executive compensation and performance evaluations. 
 
The analyst should review the Biographical Affidavit for any new officers, directors, or trustees; follow up on any 
unusual items or areas of concern; and consider whether changes identified will alter management philosophy. 
The analyst should pay close attention to responses regarding any suspensions, revocations, or non-approval of 
licenses; conflicts of interest; civil actions; or criminal violations, and follow up on any areas of concern. 
Communication with other state insurance departments may be necessary if the officer previously worked for a 
health entity domiciled in another state. 
 
Balance Sheet Assessment 
 

Procedure #10 directs the analyst in identifying significant changes in a health entity’s assets, liabilities, and 
capital and surplus. Significant changes identified in procedure #7 should be explained, to the extent possible. The 
procedure also assists the analyst in determining if the overall amount of capital and surplus continues to meet 
Risk Based Capital (RBC) requirements. RBC creates a minimum standard for capital and surplus. Generally, an 
analyst should be careful not to extend the use of the RBC beyond its intent. For example, a health entity with a 
600 percent RBC ratio is not necessarily stronger than a health entity with a 500 percent RBC ratio. 
 
Operations Assessment 
 

Procedure #11 assists the analyst in identifying significant changes in a health entity’s Statement of Income. 
Shifts in net income could indicate a change in premium earned, a change in benefits incurred, or other more 
complex issues that require further investigation. For this reason, it is critical that the analyst understand material 
changes within each income and expense category. 
 
Procedure #12 requires the analyst to review the supplemental filings, Medicare Supplement Insurance 
Experience Exhibit (filed March 1st), the Long-Term Care Experience Exhibit Reporting Form (filed April 1st) and 
the Accident and Health Policy Experience Exhibit (filed April 1st). These supplemental filings provide added 
information, and may assist the analyst in understanding inforce, premium, and claims for certain lines of 
business.  
 
Procedure #13 assists the analyst in identifying unusual results in a health entity’s Cash Flow. During the review 
of the cash flow statement, the analyst should understand shifts in cash inflows and cash outflows that impact cash 
from operations. The analyst should also investigate investment acquisitions and dispositions, the health entity’s 
investment strategies, and the origin of other sources of cash. 
 
Procedure #14 requires the analyst to identify material ceded reinsurance as reported in Schedule S, Part 3—
Reinsurance Ceded, and review all General Interrogatories and Notes to Financial Statements pertaining to 
reinsurance. The analyst should understand the health entity’s reinsurance programs and identify any credit risks. 
In addition, the analyst should be aware of the types of collateral held for reinsurance with unauthorized 
reinsurers. 
 
Investment Practices 
 

Procedure #15 assists the analyst in identifying unusual investment management practices of the health entity. 
These steps are specifically designed to assist the analyst in determining if the health entity has proper control 
over its investments.  
 
Procedure #16 requires the analyst to review the Summary Investment Schedule to determine if the health entity 
uses any unusual methods for valuing its invested assets. The Summary Investment Schedule provides a 
comparison between the gross investment holdings, as valued in accordance with the AP&P Manual, and the 
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admitted assets, as valued in accordance with the state of domicile’s basis of accounting. This schedule should be 
reviewed in conjunction with Note #1 of the Annual Financial Statement, Summary of Significant Accounting 
Policies, Section A. 
 
Procedure #17 requires the analyst to review the Supplemental Investment Risks Interrogatories to determine 
whether the health entity’s investment portfolio is adequately diversified with the appropriate level of liquidity to 
meet cash flow requirements. 
 
Procedure #18 assists the analyst in determining the amount of assets held as deposits with the states. These 
deposits are placed with the states to secure the settlement of the health entity’s obligations to policyholders, 
claimants, and others. Health entities with greater than 10 percent of its assets held as deposits with states may 
hold greater liquidity risk in certain situations. 
 
Review of Disclosures 
 

Procedure #19 requires the analyst to review the Notes to Financial Statements to assist in identifying any 
relevent quantitative and qualitative information. 
 
Procedure #20 requires the analyst to review the General Interrogatories to assist in identifying any unusual 
responses.  
 
Assessment of Latest Examination Report and Results 
 

Procedures #21, 22, and 23 assist the analyst in gathering specific information related to the health entity’s most 
recent financial examination. During a review of the examination report, the analyst should note any items or 
areas that indicate further review is necessary. This might include such things as internal controls issues, risk 
management, information technology or other issues that could impact the health entity’s priority. The analyst 
should also review the management letter comments which may include risks or progress on issues that the 
analyst should give attention to the current analysis being performed. Effective communication between the 
analyst and the examination staff can be very important in developing a good understanding of the health entity’s 
management and financial position. As an example, the examination staff may have specific information on the 
reliability of the health entity’s financial reporting. In addition, the analyst may want to utilize the Exam Tracking 
System on I-SITE. The analyst should consider the impact, if any, of the Financial Examination Report findings 
on the conclusions reached as a result of the analysis of the Annual Financial Statement and consider the need to 
perform additional analysis (i.e., complete additional supplemental procedures). 
 
Assessment of Results From Prioritization and Analytical Tools 
 

Procedure #24 requires the analyst to review and comment on the Annual Scoring System ratio results of the 
health entity, which can assist in identifying any unusual financial results. 
 
Procedure #25 requires the analyst to review and understand the assigned Analyst Team System Validated Level, 
documented within the ATS Report and the ATS Validated Level Report on I-SITE. In addition, the analyst can 
reference the ATS Procedures Manual and ATS Level Definitions documents on I-SITE. The Analyst Team 
typically completes the validation process by mid-April. 
 
Procedure #26 requires the analyst to review the Annual Financial Profile Report, which can assist in identifying 
unusual trends and results.  
 
Procedure #27 alerts the analyst to review communication they have engaged in with the market analysis unit of 
the Department, including the results of market conduct exams, as well as information drawn from the review of 
market analysis tools available on I-SITE. Market analysis tools available on I-SITE include Market Analysis 
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Profile (MAP), Examination Tracking System (ETS), Market Analysis Review System (MARS), Regulatory 
Information Retrieval System (RIRS), Special Activities Database (SAD), Market Initiative Tracking System 
(MITS) and the Complaints Database. Analysts should review any market conduct issues identified by market 
analysis staff or I-SITE tools and consider the financial implications those issues may have on the health entity. 
For example, large fines levied by states, suspensions or revocations of licenses, market conduct exam settlements 
(whether financial or other), or other regulatory actions taken based on market conduct violations may have a 
material impact on the financial solvency of the health entity. 
 
Assessment of Supplemental Filings 
 

Procedure #28 requires the analyst to review the Statement of Actuarial Opinion to assess the adequacy of the 
health entity’s reserves. See the Statement of Actuarial Opinion Supplemental Procedures for additional guidance 
in this area. 
 
Procedure #29 requires the analyst to review the MD&A, which can provide additional information to the 
analysis of the health entity. See the MD&A Supplemental Procedures for additional guidance in this area.  
  
Procedure #30 requires the analyst to review the Audited Financial Report, which helps to assess the reliance 
placed on the validity of the health entity’s financial statements. The Audited Financial Report also contains 
additional financial information that is generally not included in the Annual Financial Statement and can be 
helpful to the analyst. See the Audited Financial Report Supplemental Procedures for additional guidance in this 
area.  
 
Procedure #31 requires the analyst to review the most recent financial statement of the holding company, as filed 
in the SEC 10-K Report. In addition, the analyst should review Forms A, B, D, E and Extraordinary 
Dividends/Distributions, if available. If there are affiliated insurers within the holding company group, the analyst 
should document communication with the domestic departments of insurance for those affiliated insurers. 
 
Discussion of Level 1 Quarterly Procedures 
 

The Level 1 Quarterly Procedures are designed to help the analyst perform a general review of the health entity 
and its operations. The quarterly procedures are similar to the annual procedures because they are mostly broad-
based questions; however, the quarterly procedures include questions that focus primarily on changes from the 
prior year. At the conclusion of the quarterly Level 1 Procedures, the analyst is asked to do the following: 1) 
develop and document an overall conclusion regarding the financial condition of the health entity; 2) determine 
whether the health entity be considered a priority company; and 3) indicate whether one or more of the Level 2 
Quarterly Procedures should be completed. As with the annual review, the Level 1 conclusion should be reviewed 
and revised, as necessary, when subsequent procedures and follow-up with the health entity are completed. 
 
 
Discussion of Non-Routine Analysis 
 
The Handbook contains procedures that assist an analyst in deriving an overall assessment of the insurer’s 
financial condition; however, situations may exist when it is necessary to perform additional procedures and 
analysis not contained in the Handbook for one or more insurer. 
 
On occasion events or situations outside of the normal course of business occur that may have a material impact 
on the overall financial condition of an insurer. During these occasions state insurance regulators may need to 
perform non-routine  analysis, which may require additional reporting from a specific insurer or from a group of 
insurers. A few examples of these occasions may include significant financial events such as material investment 
defaults, credit market stress, or catastrophic events. Non-routine analysis may also be appropriate and necessary 
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in situations impacting a single insurer, group, or a small group of insurers. For example, when permitted 
practices are granted, there may be a need to perform follow-up analysis of the situation requiring the permitted 
practice, including assessing the realizablity of deferred tax assets. The state may conduct this analysis themselves 
or enter into an agreed upon procedures audit with CPA firm to assist in the assessment and analysis of the 
projected future deferred tax assets and the impact to surplus.  
 
The following are a few examples of types of non-routine analysis that may be appropriate in an economic 
downturn, investment defaults, and changes in the credit markets. (Note some or all of these may be applicable in 
other non-market or investment-related situations as well.) 

• Focused analysis on asset quality where insurers hold higher amounts of riskier assets. The analyst 
should not only consider exposure to individual default events but also aggregate exposure. 
Additional review or explanation from the insurer may be requested when high amounts of other-
than-temporary impairments, unrealized losses and/or large variances between book and market value 
are reported. The analyst should review the value of affiliated investments and assess indirect 
exposure to economic events that may result in the decline in the affiliated holdings. Analysts may 
consider other sources of analysis or information to assist in the review of investments. For example, 
an analyst may consider requesting a Portfolio Analysis Memorandum from the NAIC Securities 
Valuation Office. 

• Analysts should consider the impact of tightened short-term credit markets on insurers or groups who 
have dependency on commercial paper, overnight repos, dollar repos, etc. Another area that could be 
impacted by changes in credit markets is the insurer’s ability to obtain letters of credit (LOC) 
provided for XXX (life reserves) or other reinsurance reserves, and the costs of those LOCs for 
insurer dependent on LOCs. 

• If the insurer engages in securities lending, the analyst may consider requesting detailed information 
about the program to review the types of assets (risk and duration match) within the program, gain an 
understanding of the structure and terms of the program and, if material, monitor monthly changes in 
the program. 

• Certain insurance products may be impacted more than others in an economic downturn. The analyst 
should consider the impact to an insurer that writes a material amount of products that are more likely 
to be accelerated (e.g. funding agreements, guaranteed interest contract–GICs) or where the liability 
can be accelerated (e.g., variable annuities, living benefit/death benefit on variable annuities). 

• The analyst should consider the level of sensitivity of the insurer to ratings downgrades and the 
possible impact on the insurer or the group. For example, its ability to market new business or the 
impact of rating downgrades on any debt covenants. If an insurer is downgraded, the analyst may 
consider monitoring surrenders, new business sales as well as any changes in the insurer’s business 
plans.  

• Where liquidity is a concern, the analyst may also consider requesting interim reporting from the 
insurers on areas of risk specific to that insurer. For example, surrender activity, high risk investment 
exposures, GICs, capital and surplus, available liquidity, available credit facilities and capital losses.  

• Where significant concerns exist, the state may consider requesting the insurer to perform stress 
testing on the possible future impacts of additional equity losses, defaults, or other areas relevant to 
the situation.  

 
Examples of types of non-routine analysis that may be appropriate in catastrophic events.   

• Implement disaster reporting requests to appropriate insurers and monitor claims exposure during 
future periods following the event.  

• Identify insurers and reinsurers with material exposure. 
• Implement appropriate procedures to identify fraudulent activities. 
• Perform an in-depth analysis of liquidity to ensure timely payment of claims. 
• Engage legal staff to ensure appropriate claims payment practices. 
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Additional Reference Sources 
 

1. Financial Condition Examiners Handbook, NAIC. 
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Background Analysis 
 

1. Review the analysis performed on the health entity for the prior year and prior quarters. 
 

a. Indicate the state’s priority designation or any prioritization tool result as of the last review and 
start of the current review:  

 

State’s Priority Designation _____ 
Scoring System Total _____ 

Analyst Team System Validated Level _____ 
RBC Ratio and RBC Trend Test_____ 

 

b. Were there any issues or concerns noted in previous annual or quarterly analysis completed in the 
prior year? If “yes,” discuss the issues or concerns, the follow-up conducted, and include any 
correspondence with the insurer, along with any conclusions. 

 

c. As the domestic regulator, review the Insurer Profile Summary, including the Supervisory Plan, if 
applicable, and document any areas of concern that impact the current analysis. 

 
2. Review any inter-departmental communication, as well as communication with other state insurance 

departments and the health entity. Note any unusual items or areas that indicate further review or follow-
up is necessary. 

 
3. Review General Interrogatory #5.1 and #5.2. Has the health entity been a party to a merger or 

consolidation? If yes, review the list of companies involved in the merger/consolidation, noting any 
observations. Also, ensure Form A or additional filings have been approved. 

 
4. Review General Interrogatory #6.1 and #6.2. Has the health entity had any Certificates of Authority, 

licenses or registrations (including corporate registration, if applicable) suspended or revoked by any 
governmental entity during the reporting period? If yes, review the reason(s) stated for the revocation or 
suspension, noting any observations. 

 
5. Are there any changes in the state’s statutes and/or regulations that could impact the insurer’s financial 

position or reporting? If yes, to the extent information is available, has the insurer failed to 
compliedcomply with the new state’s statutes and regulations enacted during the period? 

 
6. Review the most recent report from a nationally recognized rating agency. Note the current financial 

strength and credit rating and briefly discuss the explanation of the rating or any change in the rating. 
 
7. Review any industry reports, news releases and emerging issues that have the potential to negatively 

impact the insurer.   
 
8. Review the most recent business plan and financial projections, if available from recent surveillance 

activity and if considered necessary based on the insurer’s priority designation and financial condition. 
 

a. If significant changes in business plan or philosophy have occurred, assess the insurer’s ability to 
 attain the expectations of the business plan. 
 

b. Are actual results consistent with management’s expectations? 
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Management Assessment 
 

9. Review the Annual Financial Statement Jurat Page (page 1). 
 

a. Did the health entity fail to properly execute and notarize the Jurat Page? 
 
 

b. Has there been any change(s) in officers, directors or trustees since the previous Annual Financial 
Statement filing (indicated by a "#" after the name)? If yes, indicate the position(s) in which the 
change(s) have occurred. Review the Biographical Affidavit(s) for any new officers, directors or 
trustees indicated above and note any areas of concern that would indicate further review is 
necessary.  

 

�  President 
�  Secretary 
�  Treasurer 
�  Vice Presidents (number: ____) 
�  Directors or Trustees (number: ____) 
�  Other 

 

c. Assess any significant corporate governance changes and determine whether these changes 
appear to indicate a shift in management philosophy, or whether management has made any 
changes in business culture or business plan.. 

 
Balance Sheet Assessment 
 

10. Review the Annual Financial Statement Assets (page 2) and Liabilities, Capital and Surplus and Other 
Funds (page 3). 

 

a. Is capital and surplus below the statutory minimum capital and surplus required? 
 

b. Has capital and surplus decreased by more than 10 percent or increased by more than 40 percent 
from the prior year? 

 

c. Is the RBC ratio (total adjusted capital divided by authorized control level risk-based capital 
shown in the Annual Financial Statement Five-Year Historical Data) less than or equal to 250 
percent?  

 

d. Did the insurer fail the RBC Trend Test? 
 

de. Has there been any change in surplus notes compared to the prior year-end? If yes, indicate the 
current and prior year-end balances and the amount of the change. Also, comment on any notes 
issued, principal or interest paid, or any other changes that have been made and whether any 
necessary approvals were obtained.  

 

ef. Is the amount of any individual non-invested asset category greater than 10 percent of total 
admitted assets? If yes, indicate the asset category and amount. 

 

fg. Has any individual asset category, which exceeds 5 percent of total assets, changed by greater 
than +/-20 percent from the prior year? If yes, indicate the asset category, current year-end 
balance and the percentage change from the prior year. The analyst should also consider shifts 
within individual asset categories, such as between investment grade and non-investment grade 
bonds, and between publicly traded and privately placed securities. 

 

gh. Is the amount of any individual liability category, other than claims unpaid, aggregate policy 
reserves and aggregate claim reserves, greater than 10 percent of total liabilities? If yes, indicate 
the liability category and amount. 
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hi. Has any individual liability category, which exceeds 5 percent of total liabilities, changed by 
greater than +/-20 percent from the prior year? If yes, indicate the liability category, current year-
end balance and the percentage change from the prior year. 

 
Operations Assessment 
 

11. Review the Annual Financial Statement, Statement of Revenue and Expenses (pages 4 and 5). 
 

a. If the absolute value of net income exceeds 5 percent of capital and surplus, has net income 
decreased by more than 20 percent or increased by more than 40 percent from the prior year?  

 

b. Has any individual income or expense category, for which the current or prior year balance 
exceeded 5 percent of capital and surplus, changed by more than +/-20 percent from the prior 
year? If yes, indicate the income or expense category, current year-end balance and the 
percentage change from the prior year. 
 

c. Has any individual capital and surplus account category changed by greater than +/-10 percent 
from prior year-end? If yes, indicate the capital and surplus category, current year-end balance 
change and the percent change from the prior year. 

 

d. Are net unrealized capital gains/(losses) more than 5 percent of prior year-end capital and 
surplus?  

 

12. During the review of the Medicare Supplement Insurance Experience Exhibit (filed March 1st), the Long-
Term Care Experience Exhibit Reporting Form (filed April 1st) and the Accident and Health Policy 
Experience Exhibit (filed April 1st), did the analyst note any unusual items or areas that indicate further 
review is warranted? 

 

13. Review the Annual Financial Statement of Cash Flow (page 6). Is net cash from operations negative? 
 

14. Evaluate any material ceded reinsurance as reported in Schedule S, Part 3 – Reinsurance Ceded and 
review all General Interrogatories and Notes to Financials pertaining to reinsurance and note any areas of 
concern. 

 
Investment Practices 
 

15. Evaluate the health entity’s investment management practices. 
 

a. Review General Interrogatory #14. Has the purchase or sale of any investments not been 
approved by the board of directors or a subordinate committee thereof? 

 

b. Review General Interrogatory #22.1 and #22.2. Were any securities owned, over which the health 
entity has exclusive control, not in the actual possession of the health entity, except as shown by 
the Schedule E - Part 3, Special Deposits? 

 

c. Review General Interrogatory #23.1 and #23.2. Were any assets owned by the health entity not 
exclusively under the control of the health entity? If yes, indicate the amount at December 31st of 
the current year. 

 

d. Review General Interrogatory #19.1 and #19.2. Were any assets subject to a contractual 
obligation to transfer to another party without the liability for such obligation being reported? If 
yes, indicate the amount at December 31st of the current year. 

 
16. Review the Annual Financial Statement Summary Investment Schedule (page 26S101). Note any unusual 

items or areas that indicate further review is warranted.  
 

17. Review the Supplemental Investment Risks Interrogatories. Note any unusual items that would indicate a 
nondiversified portfolio or inappropriate liquidity.  
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Health Financial Analysis Handbook – Annual 20089 / Quarterly 200910 
 

IV. A. Level 1 Annual Procedures  
 

 
 

 

 

18. Review Annual Financial Statement Schedule E, Part 3 – Special Deposits. Is the book/adjusted carrying 
value of total special deposits greater than 10 percent of assets?  

 
Review of Disclosures 
 

19. Review the Annual Financial Statement Notes to Financial Statements (page 25).  
 

a. Have any notes required per the NAIC’s Annual Statement Instructions for Health Insurance 
Companies been omitted? 

 

b. Provide an explanation for any unusual or significant items. 
 

20. Review the Annual Financial Statement, General Interrogatories (page 27) and note any unusual 
responses.  

 
Assessment of Latest Examination Report and Results 
 

21. Review General Interrogatory #3.1 through #3.3 and determine if a financial examination report was 
released by the domiciliary state since the last review. 

 

 a. As of what balance sheet date is/was the latest financial examination of the health entity? 
 

b. As of what balance sheet date is the latest financial examination report available from either the 
state of domicile or the health entity? 

 

c. As of what release date is the latest financial examination report available from either the state of 
domicile or the health entity? 

 

d. Per Gen. Int. #3, have any financial statement adjustments within the latest financial examination 
report not been accounted for in a subsequent financial statement filed with the Department?     

e. Per Gen. Int. #3, have any of the recommendations within the latest financial examination report 
not been complied with? 

If yes, or if follow up was required from the review of the examination report in a previous analysis period, 
complete the following procedures.  

f. If the answers to 21.d. or 21.e. are yes, follow up with the insurer regarding the implementation 
of recommendations in the Financial Examination Report. 

 

g. Assess the current and future impact of any financial statement adjustments on the insurer’s 
financial condition. 

 

22. During the review of the latest state examination report, the results from that examination and 
communication with the examiner-in-charge (for domestic insurers), did the analyst note any items or 
areas that indicate further review is warranted? 

 

23. Follow-up and document on any management letter comments that should be addressed in the current 
period, if applicable. 

 
Assessment of Results From Prioritization & Analytical Tools 
 

24. Review the health entity’s NAIC Annual Scoring System results.  
 

a. Indicate the health entity’s total annual score. 
 

b. Provide an explanation on each individual ratio result, which received a score of 50 points or 
more. 

 

25. Review and understand the assigned Analyst Team System Validated Level. 
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Health Financial Analysis Handbook – Annual 20089 / Quarterly 200910 
 

IV. A. Level 1 Annual Procedures  
 

 
 

 

26. Review the NAIC Annual Financial Profile Report for the health entity and provide an explanation for 
any unusual or significant fluctuations or trends.  

 

27. Review any market conduct information, including information available from the state’s market analysis 
department (such as the Market Analysis Chief or the Collaborative Action Designee) and the NAIC 
market analysis tools and databases (MAP, ETS, MARS, RIRS, SAD, MITS, and Complaints). The 
analyst should note any unusual items that translate into financial risks or that indicate further review 
and/or additional communication is needed with the Department’s market analysis staff. 

 
Assessment of Current Year Supplemental Filings 
 

28. During the review of the Actuarial Opinion, did the analyst note any unusual items or areas that indicate 
further review is warranted? 

 

29. During the review of the Management’s Discussion and Analysis, did the analyst note any unusual items 
or areas that indicate further review is warranted (April 1st Filing)?  

 

30. During the review of the Audited Financial Report, did the analyst note any unusual items or areas that 
indicate further review is warranted (June 1st Filing)?   

 

31. 31. Review the most recent Annual Financial Statement of the health entity’s holding company and 
its subsidiaries and holding company filings (such as Form A, B, D, E (or Other Required Information) 
and Extraordinary Dividend/Distribution and forms 10K and 8-K), if available.  

 
a. During the review, did the analyst note any new or unusual items or areas of concern that may 

potentially impact the health entity? 
 

b. If other insurers within the group exist, note any communication with the domestic state insurance 
departments for those affiliated insurers.  

 
Recommendation for Further Analysis 
 

Based on the Level 1 procedures performed, do you recommend that the Level 2, 3 or Supplemental Annual 
Procedures or other procedures listed below be completed? If yes, indicate the sections that you recommend be 
completed: 
 
A. Perform Level 2 and/or Level 3 Procedures: 
 

All Sections � 
 

Investments ��
�

Other Assets � 
  

Health Reserves and Liabilities � 
  

Other Provider Liabilities � 
  

Income Statement and Surplus �   

Risk-Based Capital �   

Cash Flow and Liquidity �   

Risk Transfer Other than Reinsurance ��
� �

Reinsurance Only �   

Affiliated Transactions �   

TPAs, IPAs and MGAs � 
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Health Financial Analysis Handbook – Annual 20089 / Quarterly 200910 
 

IV. A. Level 1 Annual Procedures  
 

 
 

 

  

B. Perform Supplemental Procedures: 
 

Audited Financial Reports �   

Actuarial Opinion �   

Management’s Discussion and Analysis �   

Holding Company Analysis ��  

Form A ��
   

Form B ��
    

Form D �    �
�

Form E (or Other Required Information) � 
 

Extraordinary Dividend/Distribution � 
 
C. Request and review the current business plan and financial projections. 
 

i. If significant changes in the business plan or philosophy have occurred, assess the insurer’s 
ability to attain these expectations. 

 

ii. Determine if actual results are tracking with projection and note any significant variances and the 
reason(s). 

 
Summary and Conclusion 
 

After completion of any Level 2 or subordinate procedures, develop and document an overall summary and 
conclusion based on the findings.  In developing a conclusion, the analyst should consider the above procedures, 
as well as any other factors that, in the analyst’s judgment, are relevant to evaluating the health entity’s overall 
financial condition. The summary and conclusion should include details regarding the health entity’s strengths 
and weaknesses. In addition, update the Insurer Profile Summary, including the Supervisory Plan, if applicable, 
for the results of the analysis performed. 
 
Do you recommend that the health entity be designated a priority as a result of the procedures performed? If yes, 
indicate the recommended priority designation and rationale. 
 
Describe the rationale for these recommendations. 

 

Analyst ________________ Date ________ 
 
Comments as a result of supervisory review. 

 

Reviewer _______________ Date ________ 
 

Correspondence 
 

The analyst should document any follow-up regarding the Levels 1, 2, 3, and Supplemental Procedures. 
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Financial Analysis Handbook – Annual 2009 / Quarterly 2010 
 

V. Supplemental Procedures – A. Audited Financial Report 
 
Audit Committee 
 
16. Effective January 1, 2010, every insurer is required to have designated an Audit Committee, a percentage 

of whose memberswhich should be independent from the insurer depending upon premium volumes.  
 

a. Has the insurer established an Audit Committee? 
 

b. Does the Audit Committee membership meet independence requirements of the domicilary state 
insurance laws? 

 
 

Financial Analysis Handbook – Annual 2009 / Quarterly 2010 
 

III. Analysts Reference Guide – C.1. Audited Financial Reports  
 

Audit Committee 
 

Procedure #16 is intended to verify that thatthe insurer has established an audit committee as required 
onat January 1, 2010. As of this date, every insurer is required to file an audited financial report shall also 
be required to have designated an audit committee.  The procedures also asks the analyst to verify theat 
audit committee membership meets state requirements.  

 
Revisions to the Annual Financial Reporting Model Regulation (Model Audit Rule)  
– Effective January 1, 2010 
 
Amendments to the Annual Financial Reporting Model Regulation, commonly known as the Model Audit Rule, 
become effective on January 1, 2010. The purpose of this regulation is to improve a state’s surveillance of the 
financial condition of insurers by requiring an independent annual audit of the financial statements by Certified 
Public Accountants. The revisions deal with primarily three areas: auditor independence, corporate governance 
and internal control over financial reporting. 
 
Auditor Independence 
Significant revisions to the model related to auditor independence are as follows: 
 
� The lead audit partner may not serve in that capacity for more than five consecutive years and may not rejoin 

in that capacity for a period for more than five consecutive years. Previously, the requirement was seven and 
two years, respectively. 

 
� Includes various non-audit services that, if performed by the auditor, would impair the auditor’s independence 

in relation to that company. Insurers with less than $100 million in direct and assumed premium may request 
a waiver from this requirement based on financial or organizational hardship. 

 
� Partners and senior managers of the audit engagement may not serve as a member of the Board of Directors, 

President, Chief Executive Officer, Controller, Chief Financial Officer or other similar position of the insurer 
if employed by the independent public accounting firm that audited the insurer during the one-year period 
which preceded the most current statutory opinion. 

 
Corporate Responsibility/Governance 
Significant revisions to the model related to corporate responsibility/governance are as follows: 
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� Every insurer required to file an audited financial report shall also be required to have an audit committee that 
is directly responsible for the appointment, oversight and compensation of the auditor. Insurers with less than 
$500 million in direct and assumed premium may apply for a waiver from this requirement based on hardship. 

 
� Based on various premium thresholds, a certain percentage of the audit committee members must be 

independent from the insurer. However, if domiciliary law requires board participation by otherwise non-
independent members, such law shall prevail and such members may participate in the audit committee. 

 
Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
Significant revisions to the model related to internal control over financial reporting are as follows: 
 
� Management of insurance companies with more than $500 million in direct and assumed premium shall file a 

report with the state insurance department regarding its assessment of internal control over financial reporting. 
This report will include a statement by management whether these controls are effective to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliability of the statutory financial statements and disclosure of any unremediated 
material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting. At this premium threshold, nearly 90% of all 
premiums are captured with only 40% of companies needing to comply with the requirements, a vast majority 
of which are already SEC registrants. In fact, at this premium threshold, only 6% of non-public companies 
would have to comply with the proposed internal control reporting requirements. That is only 190 companies 
out of a population of 3,061.  

 
� No CPA attestation (or opinion) will be required of management’s assessment. This CPA attestation can be 

costly, and the elimination of such emphasizes the regulator’s understanding of the need to balance the costs 
and benefits.  

 
With the exception of Audit Committee requirements as discussed in procedure #16 above, these amendments do 
not impact 2009 Annual Financial Analysis Handbook procedures. However analysts should be aware that 
changes to the Annual 2010 Financial Analysis Handbook guidance and procedures are anticipated. 
 
2010 annual statement instructions will refer to state statutes or regulations that require an annual audit of their insurance 
companies by an independent certified public accountant based on the NAIC’s Annual Financial Reporting Model 
Regulation. For guidance regarding this model, see the Implementation Guide for the Annual Financial Reporting Model 
Regulation in Appendix G of the Accounting Practices and Procedures Manual.  
 
 
Additional Reference Sources 
 

1. Annual Statement Instructions for Life, Accident and Health Insurance Companies, NAIC. 
 

2. 2. Annual Financial Reporting Model RegulationModel Rule (Regulation) Requiring Audited Financial 
Reports, Model Laws, Regulations and Guidelines, NAIC. 

 

3. Accounting Practices and Procedures Manual, NAIC 
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Financial Analysis Handbook – Annual 2009 / Quarterly 2010 
 

V. Supplemental Procedures – D. Holding Company Analysis 
3. Review the insurer’s General Interrogatories, Part 1, #8.1 thru #8.4 and identify other regulatory bodies 

that have authority over the group; Federal Reserve, Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, Office of 
Thrift Supervision, etc. 

 

Identify the following: 

��Controlling federal regulatory services agency 

��Any federally regulated action taken 

��Any communication between state and federal regulators that has been planned or initiated    
 

Financial Analysis Handbook – Annual 2009 / Quarterly 2010 
 

III. Analyst Reference Guide – C4. Holding Company Analysis 
Understanding the Lead State Role 
 

It is important for the analyst to understand the concept of a lead state in order to determine how states 
coordinate regulatory activities in their review of insurance groups. Typically, the lead state is the state where 
the parent company is domiciled or, if there is no insurance parent, the state where the largest (as determined 
by direct premiums written volume reported in the most recently filed Annual Financial Statement) insurance 
subsidiary is domiciled. The passage of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act (GLBA) stresses the importance of a 
lead state. It also may be necessary for other financial regulators, including the Federal Reserve Bank and 
other federal and state banking agencies and securities regulators, to identify a central point of contact. State 
regulators should communicate with federal regulators if the insurance company is affiliated with a bank, 
thrift or security firm that reports to a federal agency. Communication between state and federal regulators 
will allow for more effective and efficient regulation on key issues impacting the insurer or financial 
institution. 
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Health Financial Analysis Handbook – Annual 2009 / Quarterly 2010 
 

IV. Level 2 Procedures – B.6. Risk-Based Capital 
 

2. Did the insurer fail the RBC Trend Test?  If yes, discuss the plans to address the RBC Trend Test 
failure. 

 
Health Financial Analysis Handbook – Annual 2009 / Quarterly 2010 

 

III. Analyst Reference Guide – B.6. Risk-Based Capital 
Procedure #2 determines for the analyst whether the health entity failed the RBC Trend Test. A health entity 
that falls below an RBC Ratio of 300 percent (the Trend Test level) and has a combined ratio greater than 
105 percent may trigger an action level.  

Procedure #2 determines for the analyst whether the health entity failed the RBC Trend Test. A health 
entity that falls within or below the trend test level and has a combined ratio greater than 105 percent may 
trigger an action level.  
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Track Changes not shown due to significant overall revisions 
 

Health Financial Analysis Handbook – Annual 2009 / Quarterly 2010 
 

III. Analysts Reference Guide – C.2. Statement of Actuarial Opinion 
 

    

Overview of Statement of Actuarial Opinion 
 
The Statement of Actuarial Opinion (Opinion) contained in the Health Annual Statement instructions has been significantly 
modified beginning with the 2009 Annual Statement.  The most significant change is the adoption of prescribed language 
and a Table of Key Indicators.  The Table of Key Indicators will note where prescribed language has not been used, as well 
as if the Opinion is other than unqualified.  Generally the analyst can focus on the following four steps to comprise much of 
the Level 1 Procedures. 
 

1. Review Table of Key Indicators for use of other than prescribed language. 
2. Review Table of Key Indicators for use of an unqualified opinion. 
3. Determine if the Company has provided a notification letter to the domiciliary state describing the 

appointment of the actuary. 
4. Determine if a certification letter is attached if the actuary has relied upon someone for data. 

 
As noted in the discussion of Level 1 Procedures below, in most instances proper review and analysis of the Opinion beyond 
Level 1 Procedures will use in-depth knowledge of actuarial science where most Opinions will be reviewed in detail by 
actuarial staff members.  However, it is up to each state to determine how best to address this review with available 
resources.  
 
The following provides an in depth description of elements of the Opinion. 
 
The Health Annual Statement instructions contain 10 sections which provide instructions for the Opinion which include 
instructions relevant to the Actuarial Memorandum that supports the Opinion.  These 10 sections are summarized below. 
 
Section 1 requires a Qualified Health Actuary (actuary) to render the Opinion. For this Opinion an actuary means a member 
of the American Academy of Actuaries, or a person recognized by the American Academy of Actuaries as qualified for such 
actuarial valuation. The actuary must be appointed (Appointed Actuary) by the board of directors (or a committee of the 
board) to render the Opinion.  Section 1 includes specific responsibilities of the insurer regarding the appointment of the 
Appointed Actuary and addresses documentation, and replacement requirements. Requirements include notification of any 
replacement of the Appointed Actuary to the commissioner with disclosure of any disagreements with the prior actuary 
relevant to the Opinion. Requirements are also provided regarding a responsive letter from the prior actuary addressing 
agreement or disagreement to reasons for replacement provided by the company. When reviewing compliance with Section 
1, note that the publication of the changes to the Health Actuarial Opinion Annual Statement Instructions in September 2009 
may impact the timeliness of notification and compliance. Section 1 also provides for reporting and documentation 
requirements between the Appointed Actuary and the Board of Directors or the Audit Committee. Section 1A provides 
definitions and Section 1B provides requirements for the Actuarial Memorandum which supports the Opinion.  
 
Section 2 requires that the Opinion contain four clearly designated sections:  Identification, Scope, Reliance, and Opinion. A 
fifth section, Relevant Comments, may be provided at the option of the actuary. A Table of Key Indicators must be provided 
which indicates whether these five sections use prescribed wording only, prescribed wording with additional wording, or 
revised wording. The Table of Key Indicators also provides whether the Opinion is unqualified, qualified, adverse, or 
inconclusive. 
 
Section 3 provides the Table of Key Indicators, which indicates whether the sections of Identification, Scope, Reliance, or 
Opinion use prescribed wording only, prescribed wording with additional wording, or revised wording. The Relevant 
Comments section provides boxes to be checked which indicate if there is revised wording or if any of the actuary’s work, as 
detailed in the Actuarial Memorandum, deviates from Actuarial Standards of Practice. The Table of Key Indicators also 
provides whether the Opinion is unqualified, qualified, adverse, or inconclusive 
 
Section 4 (Identification section) is self-explanatory. 
 
Section 5 (Scope section) is also self-explanatory where all actuarial items listed in the instructions should be provided even 
if amounts are zero. 
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Health Financial Analysis Handbook – Annual 2009 / Quarterly 20010 

 
III. Analysts Reference Guide – C.2. Statement of Actuarial Opinion   

 

    

 
Section 6 (Reliance section) requires the actuary to identify any person upon whom the actuary relied for data used in the 
reserve analysis.  A statement from the person relied on is also required by this section.  The actuary may choose to accept 
responsibility for the data without reliance on another.  The actuary would state this by using prescribed language in this 
section. 
 
Section 7 (Opinion section) provides the prescribed statements the actuary is to make to opine on the items identified in 
Section 5.  This is a key section to review for deviations from prescribed language which form the basis for whether the 
Opinion is unqualified, qualified, adverse, or inconclusive as indicated in Section 3. 
 
Section 8 (Relevant Comments section) is optional.  The actuary may use this section to state a qualification of his or her 
opinion or provide greater explanation of that qualification.  The actuary may also address topics of regulatory importance or 
explain some aspect of the annual statement.  Examples may include explanations of any material changes in assumptions or 
methods that were made during the year.   
 
Section 9 of the Opinion instructions provides additional guidance to the actuary regarding adverse, qualified, or 
inconclusive opinions.  The determination of adverse, qualified, or inconclusive must be explicitly stated in the Table of Key 
Indicators provided in the Opinion.  It is expected that adequate explanation of this determination be provided in the 
Opinion. 
 
Section 10 of the Opinion provides for signatures, which is self explanatory. 
 
Considerations 
 
Requirements for the Opinion provide for conformance with specific Standards of Practice adopted by the Actuarial 
Standards Board (ASB) of the American Academy of Actuaries including standards relating to follow-up studies and 
standards of what should be included in an Opinion. For managed-care health plans, ASB standards for Opinions (ASOP 5, 
“Incurred Health and Disability Claims” or ASOP 42,”Determining Health and Disability Liabilities Other than Liabilities 
for Incurred Claims”) require consideration by the actuary of any capitated risk contracts that exist. Such consideration 
should also include or indicate whether the actuary has evaluated the financial position of the provider entities.  
 
There is a significant difference between the Opinion requirements as found in the Life & Health or Property & Casualty 
Annual Financial Statements and the Health Annual Financial Statement. Effective for 2003 Statutory Statements, companies 
with over 95 percent of specific types of health insurance would file the Health Annual Financial Statement regardless of 
their state license. Such companies must comply with not only the Opinion requirements of the Health Annual Financial 
Statement but also with the Opinion requirements based on their state license. For example, life insurance companies who 
file the Health Annual Financial Statement are still subject to any asset adequacy opinion requirements as required by the 
Actuarial Opinion and Memorandum Regulation pursuant to the Standard Valuation Law. 
 
The NAIC Health Insurance Reserves Model Regulation if implemented by a state with respect to health entities defines the 
minimum reserve requirements. The NAIC Accounting Practice and Procedures Manual (AP&P Manual) Appendix A-010 
defines minimum health reserve requirements when there are no other state specific requirements1. Although Appendix A-
010 describes the separate minimum standard for each type of reserve separately, SSAP 54 requires a health entity’s health 
insurance reserves to also be tested in total using the gross premium valuation method. The Opinion for the Health Annual 
Financial Statement is required to address certain other liabilities as well as these specific reserves. The Annual Financial 
Statement Instructions specifically include: 
 
A. Claims unpaid (Page 3, Line 1), 
 
B. Accrued medical incentive pool and bonus payments (Page 3, Line 2), 

                                                           
1 The NAIC Accounting Practices and Procedures Manual Appendix A-010 incorporates minimum reserve requirements from the Health Insurance 
Reserves Model Regulation.  
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Health Financial Analysis Handbook – Annual 2009 / Quarterly 20010 

 
III. Analysts Reference Guide – C.2. Statement of Actuarial Opinion   

 

 

 
C. Unpaid claims adjustment expenses (Page 3, Line 3), 

 
D. Aggregate health policy reserves (Page 3, Line 4) including unearned premium reserves and additional policy reserves 

from the Underwriting and Investment Exhibit – Part 2D, 
 
E. Aggregate life policy reserves (Page 3, Line 5), 

 
F. Property/casualty unearned premium reserves (Page 3, Line 6), 

 
G. Aggregate health claim reserves (Page 3, Line 7), 

 
H. Any actuarial reserves or liabilities not included in the items above. 

 
 
Although the instructions specifically identify the above actuarial items for review, certain other actuarial items also require 
review as provided in the general item H above. Some actuarial items are often incorporated into the required items while 
others have not been incorporated in the required list.  
 
Actuarial reserves and liabilities that are incorporated into the required items above are as follows (note items 1a & 1b are 
repeated from the list above): 
 
1. Aggregate Health Policy Reserves (Page 3, Line 4) includes: 
 

a. Unearned Premium Reserve (Underwriting and Investment Exhibit, Part 2D, Line 1). 
 
b. Additional Policy Reserves (Underwriting and Investment Exhibit, Part 2D, Line 2). 

 
c. Reserve For Future Contingent Benefits (Underwriting and Investment Exhibit, Part 2D, Line 3). 

 
d. Reserve For Rate Credits or Experience Rated Refunds (Underwriting and Investment Exhibit, Part 2D, Line 4).  

 
e. Aggregate Write-ins For Other Policy Reserves (Underwriting and Investment Exhibit, Part 2D, Line 5). 

 
2. Aggregate Health Claim Reserves (Page 3, Line 7) includes,  
 

a. Present Values of Amounts Not Yet Due On Claims (Underwriting and Investment Exhibit, Part 2D, Line 9). 
 
b. Reserve For Future Contingent Benefits (Underwriting and Investment Exhibit, Part 2D, Line 10). 

 
c. Aggregate Write-ins For Other Claim Reserves; Actuarial Reserves Should Be Included in the Opinion 

(Underwriting and Investment Exhibit, Part 2D, Line 11). 
 
Note that additional policy reserves include premium deficiency reserves. Premium deficiency reserves are identified in 
Underwriting and Investment Exhibit Part 2D, Footnote a.  
 
The Scope section, discussed above for Section 5 of the Annual Statement Opinion Instructions, should specifically identify 
those items and amounts to which the actuary is expressing an opinion, including but not limited to the above specifically 
identified lines from the Annual Financial Statement. Where the actuary determines that no liability exists, the value of $0.00 
should be entered. Lines should not be deleted. 
 
If there has been a material change in the actuarial assumptions from those previously employed, that change should be 
described in the Annual Financial Statement and in the Relevant Comments section of the Opinion (see Section 8 of the 
Annual Statement Opinion Instructions & summarized above).  
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III. Analysts Reference Guide – C.2. Statement of Actuarial Opinion   

   

      

 
If the actuary has not examined the underlying records, but has relied upon product definitions, computer listings and 
summaries of enrollment and claims payments prepared by the health entity, a prescribed statement to this effect is required 
by the Reliance section of the Opinion. A signed statement by the person relied on is also required by this Reliance section 
for items provided, confirming the accuracy, completeness, and/or reasonableness of the items.  Instructions for the Reliance 
section of the Opinion are provided in Section 6 of the Annual Statement Opinion Instructions. 
 
Most health coverages do not require extensive cash flow testing, due to the short duration of the claim liabilities. The 
Actuarial Standards Board has issued Actuarial Standards of Practice to guide actuaries in determining when an asset 
adequacy analysis should be performed and methods of asset adequacy analysis to consider. One of these is a prospective 
gross premium valuation. There is also guidance in the AP&P Manual, Appendix A-822. If required by either regulation or 
professional standards, the actuary should have included an opinion of the asset adequacy.2 Unlike life insurance Opinions, 
there is currently no specific guidance for health asset adequacy Opinions.  
 
As provided in the instructions and mentioned above the Opinion can take four forms: 
 

� Unqualified opinion. 
 
� Qualified opinion. 

 
� Adverse opinion. 

 
� Inconclusive opinion. 

  
In cases where the Opinion is other than unqualified, the analyst should determine what the weakness is that prevents an 
unqualified opinion. A qualified opinion would state that the reserves may be adequate, but there are somewhat likely 
circumstances under which they would not be adequate. An adverse opinion is one in which the amounts reviewed do not 
satisfy opining statement “D” in the Opinion section of the Opinion.  This opining statement “D” reads as, “Make a good and 
sufficient provision for all unpaid claims and other actuarial liabilities of the organization under the terms of its contracts and 
agreements.”  An adverse opinion implies that amounts reviewed are not adequate under state regulations and/or actuarial 
standards. If the actuary’s opinion is adverse or qualified, the actuary should have specifically stated the reason(s) for such 
an opinion in the Opinion section and/or Relevant Comments section of the Opinion. If the actuary is unable to form an 
opinion, the actuary should have issued an inconclusive opinion and specifically state the reason(s) for this.  
 
Discussion of Level 1 Annual Procedures 
 
In most instances proper review and analysis of the Opinion and Actuarial Memorandum will require in-depth knowledge of 
actuarial science. In order to achieve this as a part of the financial review process, most Opinions will be reviewed in detail 
by actuarial staff members. Their review should encompass procedures discussed in the next section covering the 
Supplemental Procedures for the Opinion.  
 
Soon after the Annual Financial Statement is received, a cursory review of the Opinion should be performed to identify if 
any extraordinary item is detailed in the Opinion. The primary goal of the Level 1 Procedures is to determine if an Opinion 
was received and available for later review. And if so, was it an Opinion which was unqualified, qualified, adverse, or 
inconclusive. 
 

                                                           
2 Accounting Practices and Procedures Manual, Appendix A-822 provides guidance for Asset Adequacy Analysis Requirements. The only companies filing 
the Health Annual Financial Statement that are subject to the requirements of Appendix A-822 are those licensed as life insurance companies. 
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Discussion of Supplemental Procedures 
 
The analysis of the Opinion, although filed with the Annual Financial Statement, is documented on the separate Opinion 
Supplemental Procedures because of its significance.  These supplemental procedures are found in Section V of this Health 
Financial Analysis Handbook and are discussed as follows: 
 
Procedure #1 assists the analyst in determining that the Table of Key Indicators has been completed. The analyst should note 
that within each section of the Table, only one box should be checked. The Table assists the analyst in identifying those 
sections of the Opinion for which it may be appropriate to perform additional analysis, specifically when “Prescribed 
Wording with Additional Writing” or “Revised Wording” has been checked.  
 
Procedures #2, #3,#4 and #5 assist the analyst in determining that the Opinion was prepared by a qualified actuary and that 
the reserve amounts agree with the Annual Financial Statement.  
 
Procedure #6 assists the analyst in determining if the health entity’s actuary, the health entity’s accounting firm, or an officer 
of the health entity has verified the accuracy and completeness of source data. 
 
Procedure #7 assists the analyst in determining if the health entity’s actuary has covered the required reserves.  
 
Procedure #8 assists the analyst in determining that the health entity’s actuary’s opinion statement on reserves is in 
accordance with the criteria found in the Health Annual Financial Statement Instructions paragraph #7 and in particular that 
the Opinion states that the reserves meet the requirements of the state of domicile. The Annual Financial Statement 
Instructions list certain items to include in the Opinion paragraph, A through H. Certain other items that have been included 
in the past. For 2009, these items should be included within item #H. The analyst should also determine the actuary’s 
conclusion concerning reserve adequacy in total. It is important for the actuary to document the reasons for his or her 
conclusion, which should be available upon request by the analyst.   
 
Procedure #9 and #10 is intended to assist the analyst in determining that the health entity’s actuarial methods, 
considerations and analyses used in forming the actuary’s opinion conform to the relevant Standards of Practice as 
promulgated by the Actuarial Standards Board. 
 
Procedures #11, #112, and #13 are performed only in the situation where an asset adequacy test has been performed by the 
actuary. These procedures assist the analyst in reviewing the actuary’s asset adequacy testing and actuarial memorandum that 
supports the Opinion. The Annual Financial Statement Instructions and Health Insurance Reserves Model Regulation do not 
specifically require asset adequacy testing for health entities, but may be required by actuarial standards of practices in some 
specific situations. A small number of health entities hold life insurance licenses and may, therefore, be subject to the asset 
adequacy and memorandum regulations. The analyst should become familiar with his or her state requirements and special 
situations that may exist.  
 

For the small number of health entities that are subject to the asset adequacy analysis requirement, the actuarial 
memorandum is a comprehensive document that provides an understanding of the health entity’s reserves, the assets 
available to support the reserves, and the projected impact on the health entity’s financial condition of varying economic 
and interest rate projection scenarios. It is not automatically filed with the Annual Financial Statement, but is provided to 
the regulator only upon request. The decision as to whether to request the actuarial memorandum is an important one. 
The actuarial memorandum should be requested for health entities with known financial problems, significant changes in 
product mix or investment strategy, or significant growth in a particular product line. The Regulatory Asset Adequacy 
Issues Summary, which is filed with the Annual Financial Statement, assists the regulatory actuary in determining 
whether to request the actuarial memorandum. The Regulatory Asset Adequacy Issues Summary would include the 
following eight data requests, many of which may not apply to health asset adequacy analysis (Refer to the NAIC 
Actuarial Opinion and Memorandum Regulation, Section 7):  
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Health Financial Analysis Handbook – Annual 2009 / Quarterly 20010 

 
III. Analysts Reference Guide – C.2. Statement of Actuarial Opinion   

 

     

1) For interest sensitive products, the amount of any negative ending surplus values on a market value basis under 
each of the Required Interest Scenarios;  

 
2) The extent to which the Appointed Actuary uses assumptions in the asset adequacy analysis which are 

materially different than the assumptions used in the previous asset adequacy analysis;  
 
3) The amount of reserves and the identity of the product lines which have been subject to asset adequacy analysis 

in the prior Opinion but were not subject to such analysis for the current Opinion;  
 
4) The number of additional interest rate scenarios that were tested identifying separately the number of 

deterministic scenarios and stochastic scenarios. Also, identify the number of such scenarios which produced 
ending negative surplus values on market value basis;  

 
5) If sensitivity testing was performed, identify the assumptions tested and describe the variation in ending surplus 

values on a market value basis from the base case values; 
  
6) Comments should be provided on any interim results that may be of significant concern to the Appointed 

Actuary;  
 

7) The methods used by the actuary to recognize the impact of reinsurance on the company’s cash flows, 
including both assets and liabilities, under each of the scenarios tested; and  

 
8) Whether the actuary has verified that all options embedded in fixed income securities and equity-like features in 

any investments have been appropriately considered in the asset adequacy analysis. 
 
 
Additional Reference Sources 
 

1. Annual Statement Instructions Health Insurance Companies, NAIC 
 

2. Standard Valuation Law, NAIC 
 

3. Health Insurance Reserves Model Regulation, NAIC 
 

4. Actuarial Standards of Practice, Actuarial Standards Board 
 

5. Accounting Practices and Procedures Manual Appendix C (specifically Actuarial Guideline XIV, as applicable), 
NAIC  
 

6. Accounting Practices and Procedures Manual Appendix A-822, NAIC 
 

7. Actuarial Opinion and Memorandum Regulation, NAIC 
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Track changes not shown due to significant overall revisions 
 

Health Financial Analysis Handbook – Annual 2009 / Quarterly 2010 
 

V. Supplemental Procedures – B. Statement of Actuarial Opinion 
 

  

The instructions to the Health Annual Financial Statement require a Statement of Actuarial Opinion (Opinion) to be attached 
to the Annual Financial Statement. 
 
The Opinion must be issued by the appointed actuary who is a qualified health actuary appointed by the board of directors 
(or a committee of the board).  For purposes of the health Actuarial Opinion, the Health Annual Statement Instructions 
provide a qualified health actuary means a member of the American Academy of Actuaries or a person recognized by the 
American Academy of Actuaries as qualified for such health actuarial valuation.  

 
1. Does the Opinion include a completed Table of Key Indicators? 
 
2. Does the Opinion state the actuary’s qualifications and affiliation?  

 
3. Was the actuary appointed by the board of directors (or its equivalent) or by a committee of the board by December 

31 of the calendar year for which the Opinion was rendered? 
 
4. Is this the same actuary who was appointed for the previous Opinion? 
 

a. If no, did the insurer notify the domiciliary state insurance regulator within 5 business days of the 
replacement? (When reviewing compliance with Section 1, note that the publication of the changes to the 
Health Actuarial Opinion Annual Statement Instructions in September 2009 may impact the timeliness of 
notification and compliance.) 

 
b. Within 10 business days of the above notification, did the insurer also provide an additional letter stating 

whether or not there were any disagreements with the former actuary during the preceding 24 months and 
also in writing request the former actuary for a responsive letter as to whether the former actuary agrees or 
disagrees with the statements provided in the company’s letter? 

 
c. Did the company provide the responsive letter from the replaced actuary? 

 
5. Do the reserve amounts included in the Opinion agree with the amounts per the Annual Financial Statement? 

 
6. If the appointed actuary has not examined the underlying records and has relied upon the data prepared by the health 

entity or a third party, is there a certification letter attached to the Opinion signed by the individual or firm who 
prepared such underlying data? 

 
7. The Health Annual Statement Instructions list (a) through (h) as prescribed items. If the following items are 

included in the Annual Financial Statement and required by the Annual Statement Instructions, does the Opinion 
cover the following in the scope and opinion of amounts?  

 
Per Annual Statement Instructions: 

 
A. Claims unpaid (Page 3, Line 1). 
 
B. Accrued medical incentive pool and bonus payments (Page 3, Line 2). 
 
C. Unpaid claims adjustment expenses (Page 3, Line 3). 
 
D. Aggregate health policy reserves (Page 3, Line 4 including unearned premium reserves and additional 

policy reserves from the Underwriting and Investment Exhibit – Part 2D. 
 
E. Aggregate life policy reserves (Page 3, Line 5). 
 
F. Property/casualty unearned premium reserves (Page 3, Line 6). 
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Health Financial Analysis Handbook – Annual 2009 / Quarterly 2010 
 

V. Supplemental Procedures – B. Statement of Actuarial Opinion 
 

    

 
G. Aggregate health claim reserves (Page 3, Line 7). 
 
H. Any actuarial reserves or liabilities not included in the items above.  

 
An example of an item included in (h) above is the retrospective premium asset (Page 2, Line 13.3) 

 
If any of the above are no, what item(s) are missing?  

 
8. Does the Opinion state, "In my opinion, the amounts carried in the balance sheet on account of the items identified 

above:   
 

A. Are calculated in accordance with accepted actuarial standards consistently applied and are fairly stated in 
accordance with sound actuarial principles. 

 
B. Are based on actuarial assumptions relevant to contract provisions and appropriate to the purpose for 

which the statement was prepared. 
 
C. Meet the requirements of the laws of the state of domicile, and are at least as great as the minimum 

aggregate amounts required by the state in which this statement is filed. 
 
D. Make good and sufficient provision for all unpaid claims and other actuarial liabilities of the organization 

under the terms of its contracts and agreements. 
 
E. Are computed on the basis of assumptions consistent with those used in computing the corresponding 

items in the Annual Statement of the preceding year-end. 
 
F. Include appropriate provisions for all actuarial items that ought to be established.” 

 
9.  Does the Opinion state, "The Underwriting and Investment Exhibit - Part 2B was reviewed for reasonableness and 

consistency with the applicable Actuarial Standards of Practice"? (In particular, was it consistent with Actuarial 
Standard of Practice No. 5, "Incurred Health and Disability Claims", section 3.6, "Follow-Up Studies.") 

 
10.  Does the Opinion state, "Actuarial methods, considerations, and analyses used in forming my opinion conform to 

the relevant Standards of Practice as promulgated from time to time by the Actuarial Standards Board, which 
standards form the basis of this statement of opinion"? 

 
 
If an asset adequacy analysis was not required, do not proceed with the procedures for asset adequacy analysis (# 11, 
12, & 13) and skip to the Summary and Conclusion.  

 
11. If the Opinion was based on an asset adequacy analysis, did the actuary determine that the reserves were sufficient 

in light of the assets held to meet future policy obligations? 
 
12. If the Opinion was based on an asset adequacy analysis, based upon the judgment of the analyst and after reviewing 

the Opinion and Regulatory Asset Adequacy Issues Summary, if available, should the actuarial memorandum or 
other supporting documentation be requested from the health entity? If no, skip to the summary and conclusion. 
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Health Financial Analysis Handbook – Annual 2009 / Quarterly 2010 
 

V. Supplemental Procedures – B. Statement of Actuarial Opinion 
 

   

13. Based on an asset adequacy analysis, does the actuarial memorandum or other supporting documentation include the 
following: 

 
a. For reserves: 

 
i. Product descriptions. 

 
ii. Source of liability in-force. 

 
 iii.  Reserve method and basis. 

 
iv. Investment reserves. 

 
v. Reinsurance arrangements. 

 
vi. Persistency of in-force business. 

 
b. For assets (if the Opinion is based on an asset adequacy analysis that involved the direct analysis of 

investments): 
 
i. Portfolio descriptions. 

 
ii. Investment and disinvestment assumptions. 

 
iii. Source of asset data. 
 
iv. Asset valuation bases. 
 

c. For analysis basis: 
 

i. Methodology. 
 

ii. Rationale for inclusion/exclusion of different blocks of business and how pertinent risks were 
analyzed. 

 
iii. Rationale for degree of rigor in analyzing different blocks of business. 

 
iv. Criteria for determining asset adequacy. 

 
v. Effect of federal income taxes, reinsurance and other relevant factors such as dividends, 

commissions, etc. 
 

d. Summary of results. 
 

e. Conclusions. 
 

f. A statement that the actuarial methods, considerations and analyses used in the preparation of this 
memorandum conform to the appropriate Actuarial Standards of Practice as promulgated by the Actuarial 
Standards Board, which standards form the basis for the memorandum. 

 
g.  Method for aggregating reserves and assets. 

 
Summary and Conclusion 
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Health Financial Analysis Handbook – Annual 2009 / Quarterly 2010 
 

V. Supplemental Procedures – B. Statement of Actuarial Opinion 
  

     

 
Note any section where the Table of Key Indicators reflects that the actuary has not used the prescribed wording and 
summarize analysis performed. Summarize any pertinent comments by the qualified actuary. Develop and document an 
overall summary and conclusion regarding the Opinion, and if applicable, the actuarial memorandum. In developing a 
conclusion, the analyst should consider the above procedures, as well as any other procedures that, in the analyst’s judgment, 
are relevant to evaluating the Opinion and actuarial memorandum under the specific circumstances involved. If there are 
serious inadequacies they should be reviewed with the actuary involved. If the inadequacies are not adequately explained, the 
analyst should consider consulting the Actuarial Board for Counseling and Discipline, which provides guidance to the 
actuarial profession to improve the quality of actuarial activities.  
 
Recommendations for further action, if any, based on the overall conclusion above: 
 
� Contact the health entity seeking explanations or additional information from the health entity or the qualified 

actuary 
 
�  Obtain the health entity’s business plan 
 
�  Require additional interim reporting from the health entity 
 
�  Refer concerns to examination section for targeted examination 
 
�  Consult with the in-house actuary 
 
�  Engage an independent actuary to review health entity’s reserves 
 
�  Meet with the health entity’s management 
 
�  Obtain a corrective plan from the health entity. 
 
�  Other (explain) 
 
 
 

Analyst ________________ Date ________ 
 
Comments as a result of supervisory review. 
 

Reviewer _______________ Date ________ 
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Draft: 10/30/09 
Financial Analysis Handbook (E) Working Group 

Conference Call 
October 13, 2009 

 
The Financial Analysis Handbook (E) Working Group of the Examination Oversight (E) Task Force met via conference call 
Oct. 13, 2009. The following Working Group members participated: Roger Peterson, Chair (WI); Sheila Travis (AL); Kurt 
Regner (AZ); Ann Tang (CA); Sean O’Donnell (DC); Jim Hanson (IL); Neil Miller (MD); Judy Weaver (MI); Thomas Burke 
(NH); Russell Jones (NJ); Michael Sheiowitz (NY); Russell Latham (OR); Will Smith (PA); and Jack Broccoli (RI). Also 
participating were: Steve Ostlund (AL); Alan Furan (OH); and Kashik Patel (PA).  
 
1.  Discuss Comments Received on Draft Revisions to the 2009 Edition of the Financial Analysis Handbook 
 
Jane Koenigsman (NAIC) summarized the draft revisions to the 2009 edition of the Financial Analysis Handbook (the 
Handbook) that were released for a 30-day comment period ending Sept. 29. Three comment letters were received.  
 
Mr. Peterson summarized the comments from Connecticut (Attachment Two-B1). With no objection to Connecticut’s 
recommended edit to the Level 1 reference guide, the Working Group accepted the recommendation. 
 
Mr. Peterson summarized the comments from Ohio (Attachment Two-B2). With no objections to Ohio’s recommended edits 
to the Health Actuarial Opinion chapter, the Working Group accepted the recommendations. 
 
Bill Weller (Omega Squared Inc., representing America’s Health Insurance Plans (AHIP) summarized AHIP’s comments 
(Attachment Two-B3). He suggested a slight wording change to the reference guide regarding the addition of the health RBC 
trend test. With no objection to this edit, the Working Group accepted the recommendation. 
 
Mr. Weller said he would work with NAIC staff on certain grammatical edits. Mr. Peterson agreed that non-substantive 
grammatical edits can be made.  
 
Mr. Weller said that with regard to the overview paragraph in the reference guide for the Actuarial Opinion chapter that 
discusses section one of the Opinion and qualified actuaries, as well as procedure 3-a in the supplemental procedures, AHIP’s 
concern is that the Opinion instructions that were adopted by the NAIC in September 2009 provide for requirements that 
companies would not have known about prior to completing the annual Opinion, particularly with respect to notifying the 
commissioner, providing a letter in the event of the replacement of the appointed actuary and getting a responsive letter from 
the prior actuary. AHIP does not disagree that all of those are useful. AHIP had suggested in the letter a statement that this 
requirement is only effective for changes that occur on or after Dec. 31 to deal with the instruction issue. He said he 
discussed this issue with Mr. Ostlund, chair of Accident and Health Working Group, and stated Mr. Ostlund was 
uncomfortable with that specific statement, but was more agreeable to adding something at the end of the paragraph. Mr. 
Weller suggested a statement such as, “Because these instructions were adopted by the NAIC in late 2009, the timing 
requirements in the instructions should not be rigorously applied to the 2009 Opinion.” In essence, he said, the company 
should not be held responsible for not having notified a commissioner about a change in the actuary that occurred earlier in 
the year, when the instructions were not adopted until September 2009. Mr. Peterson asked if the responsibility to notify the 
commissioner has been in the instructions in general for a number of years or whether it is the time frame that is new. Mr. 
Weller said the time frame is definitely new. He said he does not believe that the health opinion instructions had the 
notification requirement prior to this change in the instructions. In addition, Mr. Weller said, there were situations where a 
life company was filing the health blank and the requirements with respect to how the actuary could become the appointed 
actuary for a life company were different than those that were in the these instructions. For example, in a life company, the 
Actuarial Opinion and Memorandum Regulation (#822) provides that the actuary may be appointed by an executive 
designated by the board of directors, other than the actuary themselves. A company that was not aware of this change until 
December 2009 might not have even submitted a letter with respect to replacement and might not do so until it is discovered 
that this was supposed to be done, perhaps not until 2010. 
 
Mr. Peterson said he has a difficult time supporting such language as “rigorous enforcement.” He said it is up to each state to 
determine the level of enforcement in a particular situation. Making note that these requirements are recently added and that 
it is reasonable to take that fact into consideration when looking at compliance with this standard, Mr. Peterson said this is 
the kind of addition that makes sense to add.  
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Mr. Weller said AHIP’s concern is that a company or actuary not be held responsible for not having done something that they 
were not required to do during the time period because of an instruction that was adopted later in the year. There was not a 
true effective date for those requirements other than, presumably, Dec. 31. The way it is written, it appears companies should 
have followed these for any change that occurred from the appointed actuary in 2008 to the filing of the Opinion for 2009. 
Mr. Peterson said he views those requirements as becoming effective when published. He said the Handbook could make 
some reference that these were recently published changes and that consideration should be given to any changes in actuary 
made prior to these published requirements. 
 
Mr. Patel said that, in terms of informing the actuaries or insurance companies, perhaps AHIP could take a role in informing 
their members of this change in requirement. The Annual Statement Instructions are released to the industry in the fall, 
informing the insurance companies of new changes; therefore, Mr. Patel said, there is ample opportunity for the appointed 
actuaries to review and comply. Regarding the concern AHIP has with actions being taken, it is up to each state to determine 
the action to be taken — but, generally speaking, Mr. Patel said he does not believe the regulatory community would take a 
harsh action for a non-compliance issue such as this. 
 
Mr. Furan said the American Academy of Actuaries (AAA) published a practice note regarding the changes to the Health 
Actuarial Opinion Instructions in September 2009. The practice note referenced the role of the appointed actuary and that 
some actuaries may need to be reappointed for this year. There has been notification sent via e-mail from the AAA.  
 
Mr. Weller said there has been an effort on the part of the actuarial community, AHIP and the Blue Cross and Blue Shield 
Association to inform their respective members that these changes were coming. This was done before NAIC Executive (EX) 
Committee/Plenary adopted the changes, on the basis that the industry did not expect any change from what was approved by 
the various groups up through Financial Condition Committee. AHIP would just like some kind of statement in the 
Handbook that indicates this information; i.e., that the notification and letter requirements are valuable and should be done 
for 2009, but recognizing that the timeliness is likely to not be consistent with the instructions because the instructions were 
adopted late in 2009.  
 
Ms. Weaver said the Handbook could indicate it that it was adopted or published in September 2009, which might impact the 
timeliness of the notification. She said she does not want to include language that tells the states what they should or should 
not do. Mr. Latham agreed with the suggestion.  
 
Mr. Peterson instructed NAIC staff to draft an appropriate statement based on Ms. Weaver’s and his comments. The 
statement would be included in the reference guide and the supplemental procedures chapter.  
 
Mr. Weller said that with regard to the overview paragraph in the reference guide for the Actuarial Opinion chapter that 
discusses Section 3 Table of Key Indicators, the second sentence that pertains to “Relevant Comments” should be edited to 
state that the “indicator provides boxes” instead of “section provides comments”. AHIP’s concern is that the Table of Key 
Indicators does not provide comments. Mr. Latham agreed with the change. Mr. Peterson said the change would be accepted 
as suggested by AHIP.  
 
Mr. Weller said that with regard to the overview paragraph in the reference guide for the Actuarial Opinion chapter that 
discusses the Scope Section, AHIP suggests adding the statement, “Where the actuary determines that no liability exists, the 
value of $0.00 should be entered. Lines should not be deleted.” Mr. Ostlund said he agrees that regulators do expect zeros, 
not blanks, and this is a good clarification. Mr. Peterson said the change would be accepted as suggested by AHIP.  
 
Mr. Weller said with regard to the overview paragraph in the reference guide for the Actuarial Opinion chapter that discusses 
procedures #9, #10 and #11, AHIP suggests two options. Option one is to delete the section. Option two is to edit the 
sentence stating, “For the small number of health entities that are subject to the actuarial memorandum requirements…” to 
“For the small number of health entities that are subject to the asset adequacy analysis requirement…” and keep the section. 
Mr. Ostlund said he agreed with the suggestion to change the wording and keep the section. Mr. Peterson said he agreed with 
changing the language and keeping the section and that the Working Group would accept this change as suggested by AHIP.  
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Mr. Weller said with regard the Actuarial Opinion supplemental procedures chapter, he suggests wording for procedure #1 to 
address the Table of Key Indicators. Mr. Ostlund said this was not an actuarial issue, but a question of what the analyst 
should do. He said it was implied that the analyst would look at the Table of Key Indicators. He also stated that the Working 
Group should consider whether it is appropriate to include AHIP’s suggested statements that instruct the analyst that 
“prescribed language needs less review” or “sampling of these sections may be appropriate.” Mr. Peterson instructed NAIC 
staff to develop draft language on this issue. Mr. Peterson said the Handbook does not need to direct exactly what actions to 
take but, at a minimum, should point the analyst to review the Table. Ms. Weaver said the Handbook should be giving the 
analyst guidance as to what to look for, but the Handbook should not instruct as to what regulatory action to take. 
 
Mr. Weller said with regard to the sentence after procedures #6h of the Actuarial Opinion supplemental procedures chapter 
that states, “An example of an item included in (h) above is the retrospective premium asset (Page 2, Line 13.3)”, AHIP 
suggests removing that statement, as it refers to an asset when the procedure is referring to actuarial reserves and liabilities. 
AHIP is concerned with having an asset as an example. Mr. Ostlund said the retrospective premium asset is a negative 
liability that the Accident and Health Working Group wanted to capture. When the balance of the account is negative it is 
reported on the asset page, and if it is positive it is reported as a liability. He said next year, the Accident and Health Working 
Group expects this issue will be clarified in the actual statement, but for this year, analysts should look to see that the Opinion 
covers this account. Mr. Weller said he does not have a problem if the actuary includes other items. An item that may be 
included is the retrospective premium asset. It should be clear it is not a requirement for the Opinion. The Opinion should not 
be rejected because it does not address an asset item. He stated that he understands that a lot of actuaries include this item, 
but it is not a requirement that it be in the 2009 Opinion. He suggested a wording change to, “An example of an item that 
may be included in (h) above is the retrospective premium asset (Page 2, Line 13.3).” Mr. Peterson asked if there are 
conditions where the Opinion is required to address retrospective premium. Mr. Weller said that regulatory actuaries, in cases 
where there is a material retrospective premium asset, would want to talk to the appointed actuary to make sure that it was 
addressed on a basis that is consistent with the calculation of the rest of the Opinion items. If the value of the retrospective 
premium is zero, there is no requirement that the actuary confirm that the zero value is correct. Mr. Peterson asked if it would 
be more appropriate to include the phrase “when material.” He stated that use of the term “may” is vague and not helpful to 
the analyst. Mr. Ostlund said the Accident and Health Working Group intended the current language to be the language as 
opposed to the “may” suggestion. He stated that if the retrospective premium was a zero value, the actuary should look to see 
that the value should be zero. Mr. Furan said that he has given two presentations to the AAA and, each time, he has said the 
retrospective premium asset is expected to be included in item (h) of the Opinion. On behalf of the Accident and Health 
Working Group, Mr. Ostlund suggested that AHIP’s recommendation on this issue be rejected. Mr. Peterson agreed and said 
the language would be retained as-is.  
 
Mr. Weller said with regard to procedures #7g and #8 of the Actuarial Opinion supplemental procedures, these are separate 
items in the Opinion. He suggested that these be separate procedures that retain wording consistent with the prescribed 
wording in the Opinion. The wording in the parenthetical could be retained. Mr. Ostlund said this is a grammatical change 
that NAIC staff can address. Mr. Peterson agreed that it was a grammatical issue and instructed NAIC staff to make 
appropriate changes.  
 
Mr. Weller said with regard to the summary and conclusion paragraph in the Actuarial Opinion supplemental procedures, he 
suggests an additional statement to this paragraph to address the Table of Key Indicators where the actuary has not used the 
prescribed wording. Mr. Peterson said an edit can be made that is consistent with the edits NAIC staff has been instructed to 
draft to the body of the text, as previously discussed.  
 
A motion was made by Mr. Latham to release for comment the additional revisions NAIC staff has been instructed to make 
to the health edition’s Actuarial Opinion chapter as discussed on this call. The motion was seconded by Ms. Weaver and 
unanimously adopted. The exposure draft will be released Oct. 15 for a period of 10 days. Comments are due by Oct. 29. 
 
2. Adopt the 2009 Life/A&H and Property/Casualty Editions of the Financial Analysis Handbook 

 
A motion was made by Mr. Latham to adopt the revisions to the life/A&H and property/casualty editions of the Handbook 
(Attachment Two-B4). The motion was seconded by Ms. Weaver and unanimously adopted.  
 
Having no further business, the Financial Analysis Handbook (E) Working Group adjourned. 
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To:  Financial Analysis Handbook Working Group 
 
From:    Connecticut Department 
 
Date:   September 29, 2009 
 
Re:  Financial Analysis Handbook Exposure Draft Comments 
 
 
 
 
III. Analysis Reference Guide – A. Level 1 Procedures 
 
Discussion of Non-Routine Analysis 
 
Examples of types of non-routine analysis that may be appropriate in an economic 
downturn, investment defaults and changes in the credit makets. (Note some or all of 
these may be applicable in other non market or investment related situations as well) 
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To: Financial Analysis Handbook Working Group 
From: Alan Furan, OH DOI 
Date: 9/18/09 
RE:  FAH Exposure Draft Comments 
 
 
These may be more of the nature of minor grammatical and formatting tweaks to the wording 
as opposed to actual comments about the exposure draft.  
 
All page numbers refer to the exposure document at 
http://www.naic.org/documents/committees_e_examover_fahwg_2009_fah.pdf 
 

1. Could the last paragraph on page 18 that rolls over to page 19 be indented or numbered 
in some manner to better show that it is associated with the paragraph above it? As it is 
now it could be confused as a new requirement and not a part of procedures 9, 10 and 
11. 

 
2. Question 2 on page 20 asks if the company notified the commissioner within 5 days and 

Question 3 also asks the same thing. It doesn’t appear that the last part of question 2 is 
needed, the question could end after the word “rendered”. 

 
3. Question 5 on page 20 refers to “listing and summaries of policies in force” but the 

opinion was changed to refer to “data”. I recommend changing “listing and summaries 
of policies in force” to “data”. 

 
4. If you read Question 7a on page 21 with the introduction, it essentially says that the 

amounts are in accordance with accepted actuarial standards. I recommend changing 
7a to read  

 
Are calculated in accordance with … 

 
Actuarial standards apply to the way the amounts are calculated, not the amounts 
themselves. 

 
Thank you for the opportunity to make these comments. 
 
Alan R Furan, FSA, MAAA 
Health Actuary, Office of Product Regulation and Actuarial Services 
Ohio Department of Insurance 
50 W. Town Street, Third Floor – Suite 300  
Columbus, Ohio 43215 
(614) 644-3306 (Office) 
Alan.Furan@ins.state.oh.us 
 

1
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September 29, 2009   
 
To: Roger Peterson, Chair Financial Analysis Handbook Working Group 
 Jane Koenigsman, Staff to FAHWG 
 
Re: Exposed Draft Changes to Health Financial Analysis Handbook 
 

The Accident & Health Working Group (AHWG) proposed changes to the Health Financial 
Analysis Handbook to address the new Health Actuarial Opinion Instructions (HAOI) for the 
NAIC Health Blank.  The Financial Analysis Handbook Working Group (FAHWG) exposed 
those changes for comment during its call on August 27, 2009.  The following are some general 
comments that America’s Health Insurance Plans (AHIP) made to the AHWG which have not 
yet been discussed by either working group.   Given that these comments were not discussed at 
the AHWG, we also offer language in support of AHIP’s proposed changes for consideration by 
the FAHWG.  The proposed changes are intended to insure that the wording in the Handbook 
matches the prescribed wording in the HAOI.  The rationale behind our suggestions is as 
follows.   
 
AHIP is the nation’s trade association representing nearly 1,300 member companies providing 
health, long-term care, dental, disability and supplemental coverage to more than 200 million 
Americans. 
 
Changes in the Appointed Actuary Effective for 2009 
 
The HAOI requires carriers to notify their state of domicile within 10 days of making a change in 
the appointed actuary.  This is an appropriate requirement for reporting years 2010 and later as a 
prospective notification.  For changes that have already been made, or that will be made prior to 
CY 2010, however, we suggest that a retrospective reporting requirement is inappropriate.  
Therefore, we recommend that that the Handbook note that the notification is only required if the 
change involves the appointment of a new actuary on or after December 31, 2009.   
 
References to the Actuarial Memorandum 
 
It appears that all references to the Actuarial memorandum in the Handbook are intended to 
apply to the memorandum required for life insurers that file using the Health blank (see 
comments on Procedures #9, #10 and #11 on pages 5 and 6 of III. Analysts Reference Guide – 
C.2. Statement of Actuarial Opinion as well as pages 3 and 4 of V. Supplemental Procedures – 
B. Statement of Actuarial Opinion).  
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September 29, 2009 
Page 2 
 
 
This language could be retained to the extent the NAIC wishes to have these life insurers 
complete a separate actuarial memorandum based on the Actuarial Opinion and Memorandum 
Regulation.  However, the language, as drafted is totally inconsistent with the anticipated 
components of the Actuarial Memorandum required by section 1B. of the HAOI.    As such, our 
proposal is to eliminate the language totally in section 3 but retain the language already existing 
in section 5 that starts “If an asset adequacy analysis is not required…” on page 3 as it is a clear 
separation (dealing only with life insurance companies filing the Health blank).  
  
References to Items No Longer Mentioned in HAOI 
 
The exposed draft retains language dealing with “Additional Optional Items” that are no longer a 
separate aspect of the revised HAOI.  Given the new focus on the use of prescribed language, we 
recommend that there be nothing in the Handbook that suggests the analyst should be looking for 
additional optional items (see page 3 of V. Supplemental Procedures – B. Statement of Actuarial 
Opinion) until these issues have been discussed by the AHWG which has a subgroup addressing 
this issue.  That subgroup has made no recommendations at this time. 
 
Lack of Reference to the Table of Key Indicators 
 
We have included draft language to note the need to review the Table of Key Indicators.  While 
we would have wished this language be developed jointly with the AHWG, that was not possible 
within the time constraints of your exposure period. 
 
Changes Related to Health RBC Trend Test 
 
We believe that the proposed change relating to the RBC Trend Test could be clearer if the 
wording were changed as follows: 

Reference Guide Text: 
Procedure #2 determines for the analyst whether the health entity failed the RBC Trend Test. A 
health entity that falls within or below an RBC Ratio of 300% (the trend test level) and has a 
combined ratio greater than 105 percent may trigger an action level.   
 

We appreciate the opportunity to provide these comments. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
William C. Weller 
Consultant to AHIP     
 
c/c: Steve Ostland, Chair, Accident & Health Working Group 
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 Alan Furan, Chair, HAOI Subgroup of AHWG 
 John Engelhardt, NAIC staff to AHWG 

Randi Reichel, AHIP Consultant 
 Shari Westerfield, BCBSA 
 Joe Zolecki, BCBSA 
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Health Financial Analysis Handbook – Annual 2008 / Quarterly 2009 

 
III. Analysts Reference Guide – C.2. Statement of Actuarial Opinion 
 

 

Overview of Statement of Actuarial Opinion 
 
The Statement of Actuarial Opinion (Opinion) contained in the Health Annual Statement instructions has been significantly 
modified beginning with the 2009 Annual Statement.  The most significant change is the adoption of prescribed language 
and a Table of Key Indicators.  The Table of Key Indicators will note where prescribed language has not been used, as well 
as if the Statement is other than unqualified.  Generally the analyst can focus on the following four steps to comprise much of 
the Level 1 Procedures. 
 

1. Review Table of Key Indicators for use of other than prescribed language. 
2. Review Table of Key Indicators for use of an unqualified opinion. 
3. Determine if the Company has provided a notification letter to the domiciliary state describing the 

appointment of the actuary. 
4. Determine if a certification letter is attached if the actuary has relied upon someone for data. 

 
As noted in the discussion of Level 1 Procedures below, in most instances proper review and analysis of the Opinion beyond 
Level 1 Procedures will use in-depth knowledge of actuarial science where most opinionOpinions will be reviewed in detail 
by actuarial staff members.  However, it is up to each state to determine how best to address this review with available 
resources.  
 
The following provides an in depth description of elements of the Opinion. 
 
The Health Annual Statement instructions contain 10 sections which provide instructions for the Opinion which include 
instructions relevant to the Actuarial Memorandum that supports the Opinion.  These 10 sections are summarized below. 
 
Section 1 requires a Qualified Health Actuary(actuary) to render the Opinion.  For this Opinion an actuary means a member 
of the American Academy of Actuaries, or a person recognized by the American Academy of Actuaries as qualified for such 
actuarial valuation.  The actuary must be appointed (Appointed Actuary) by the board of directors (or a committee of the 
board) to render the Opinion.  Section 1 includes specific responsibilities of the insurer regarding the appointment of the 
Appointed Actuary and addresses documentation, and replacement requirements.  Requirements include notification of any 
replacement of the Appointed Actuary to the commissioner with disclosure of any disagreements with the prior actuary 
relevant to the Opinion.  This requiremernt is only effective for changes that occur on or after December 31, 2009.  
Requirements are also provided regarding a responsive letter from the prior actuary addressing agreement or disagreement to 
reasons for replacement provided by the company.  Section 1 also provides for reporting and documentation requirements 
between the Appointed Actuary and the Board of Directors or the Audit Committee.  Section 1A provides definitions and 
Section 1B provides requirements for the Actuarial Memorandum which supports the Opinion. 
 
Section 2 requires that the Opinion contain four clearly designated sections:  Identification, Scope, Reliance, and Opinion.  A 
fifth section, Relevant Comments, may be provided at the option of the actuary.  A Table of Key Indicators must be provided 
which indicates whether these five sections use prescribed wording only, prescribed wording with additional wording, or 
revised wording.  The Table of Key Indicators also provides whether the opinion Opinion is unqualified, qualified, adverse, 
or inconclusive. 
 
Section 3 provides the Table of Key Indicators which indicates whether the sections of Identification, Scope, Reliance, or 
Opinion use prescribed wording only, prescribed wording with additional wording, or revised wording.  For the Relevant 
Comments section, this table provides revised wording was an indicator that is used or whetherwhen any of the actuary’s 
work as detailed in the Actuarial Memorandum includes wording which deviates from Actuarial Standards of Practice, as 
provided in such standards.  The Table of Key Indicators also provides whether the opinionOpinions is unqualified, 
qualified, adverse, or inconclusive 
 
Section 4 (Identification section) is self-explanatory. 
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Health Financial Analysis Handbook – Annual 2008 / Quarterly 2009 
 

III. Analysts Reference Guide – C.2. Statement of Actuarial Opinion   

    

    

Section 5 (Scope section) is also self-explanatory where all actuarial items listed in the instructions should be provided even 
if amounts are zero. 
 
Section 6 (Reliance section) requires the actuary to identify theany person upon whom the actuary relied for data used in the 
reserve analysis.  A statement from the person relied on is also required by this section.  The actuary may choose to accept 
responsibility for the data without reliance on another.  The actuary would state this by using prescribed language in this 
section. 
 
Section 7 (Opinion section) provides the prescribed statements the actuary is to make which opine on the items identified in 
Section 5.  This is a key section to review for deviations from prescribed language which form the basis for whether the 
opinionOpinion is unqualified, qualified, adverse, or inconclusive as indicated in Section 3. 
 
Section 8 (Relevant Comments section) is optional.  The actuary may use this section to state a qualification of his or her 
opinion or provide greater explanation of that qualification.  The actuary may also address topics of regulatory importance or 
explain some aspect of the annual statement.  Examples may include explanations of any material changes in assumptions or 
methods that were made during the year.   
 
Section 9 of the opinionOpinion instructions provides additional guidance to the actuary regarding adverse, qualified, or 
inconclusive opinions.  The determination of adverse, qualified, or inconclusive must be explicitly stated in the Table of Key 
Indicators provided in the opinionOpinion.  It is expected that adequate explanation of this determination be provided in the 
opinionOpinion. 
 
Section 10 of the opinionOpinion provides for signatures which is self explanatory. 
 
Considerations 
 
Requirements for the Opinion provide for conformance with specific Standards of Practice adopted by the Actuarial 
Standards Board (ASB) of the American Academy of Actuaries including standards relating to follow-up studies and 
standards of what should be included in an Opinion. For managed-care health plans, ASB standards for Opinions (ASOP 5, 
“Incurred Health and Disability Claims” or ASOP 42,”Determining Health and Disability Liabilities Other than Liabilities 
for Incurred Claims”) require consideration by the actuary of any capitated risk contracts that exist. Such consideration 
should also include or indicate whether the actuary has evaluated the financial position of the provider entities.  
 
There is a significant difference between the Opinion requirements as found in the Life & Health or Property & Casualty 
Annual Financial Statements and the Health Annual Financial Statement. Effective for 2003 Statutory Statements, companies 
with over 95 percent of specific types of health insurance would file the Health Annual Financial Statement regardless of 
their state license. Such companies must comply with not only the Opinion requirements of the Health Annual Financial 
Statement but also with the Opinion requirements based on their state license. For example, life insurance companies who 
file the Health Annual Financial Statement are still subject to any asset adequacy opinion requirements as required by the 
Actuarial Opinion and Memorandum Regulation pursuant to the Standard Valuation Law. 
 
The NAIC Health Insurance Reserves Model Regulation if implemented by a state with respect to health entities defines the 
minimum reserve requirements. The NAIC Accounting Practice and Procedures Manual (AP&P Manual) Appendix A-010 
defines minimum health reserve requirements when there are no other state specific requirements1. Although Appendix A-
010 describes the separate minimum standard for each type of reserve separately, SSAP 54 requires a health entity’s health 
insurance reserves to also be tested in total using the gross premium valuation method. The Opinion for the Health Annual 
Financial Statement is required to address certain other liabilities as well as these specific reserves. The Annual Financial 
Statement Instructions specifically include: 
 
1. Claims unpaid (Page 3, Line 1), 
 

                                                           
1 The NAIC Accounting Practices and Procedures Manual Appendix A-010 incorporates minimum reserve requirements from the Health Insurance 
Reserves Model Regulation.  
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2. Accrued medical incentive pool and bonus payments (Page 3, Line 2), 
 
3. Unpaid claims adjustment expenses (Page 3, Line 3), 

 
4. Aggregate health policy reserves (Page 3, Line 4) including unearned premium reserves and additional policy reserves 

from the Underwriting and Investment Exhibit – Part 2D, 
 
5. Aggregate life policy reserves (Page 3, Line 5), 

 
6. Property/casualty unearned premium reserves (Page 3, Line 6), 

 
7. Aggregate health claim reserves (Page 3, Line 7), 

 
8. Any actuarial reserves or liabilities not included in the items above. 

 
 
Although the instructions specifically identify the above actuarial items for review, certain other actuarial items also require 
review as provided in the general item 8 above. Some actuarial items are often incorporated into the required items while 
others have not been incorporated in the required list.  
 
Actuarial reserves and liabilities that are incorporated into the required items above are as follows (note items 1a & 1b are 
repeated from list above): 
 
1. Aggregate Health Policy Reserves (Page 3, Line 4) includes: 
 

a. Unearned Premium Reserve (Underwriting and Investment Exhibit, Part 2D, Line 1). 
 
b. Additional Policy Reserves (Underwriting and Investment Exhibit, Part 2D, Line 2). 

 
c. Reserve For Future Contingent Benefits (Underwriting and Investment Exhibit, Part 2D, Line 3). 

 
d. Reserve For Rate Credits or Experience Rated Refunds (Underwriting and Investment Exhibit, Part 2D, Line 4).  

 
e. Aggregate Write-ins For Other Policy Reserves (Underwriting and Investment Exhibit, Part 2D, Line 5). 

 
2. Aggregate Health Claim Reserves (Page 3, Line 7) includes,  
 

a. Present Values of Amounts Not Yet Due On Claims (Underwriting and Investment Exhibit, Part 2D, Line 9). 
 
b. Reserve For Future Contingent Benefits (Underwriting and Investment Exhibit, Part 2D, Line 10). 

 
c. Aggregate Write-ins For Other Claim Reserves; Actuarial Reserves Should Be Included in the Opinion 

(Underwriting and Investment Exhibit, Part 2D, Line 11). 
 
Note that additional policy reserves include premium deficiency reserves. Premium deficiency reserves are identified in 
Underwriting and Investment Exhibit Part 2D, Footnote a.  
 
The Opinion Scope section, discussed above asfor Section 5 of the annual statement opinionOpinion instructions, should 
specifically identify those items and amounts to which the actuary is expressing an opinion, including but not limited to the 
above specifically identified lines from the Annual Financial Statement.  Where the actuary determines that no liability 
exists, the value $0.00 should be entered.  Lines should not be deleted. 
 
If there has been a material change in the actuarial assumptions from those previously employed, that change should be 
described in the Annual Financial Statement and in the Relevant Comments section of the Opinion (see Section 8 of the 
annual statement opinionOpinion instructions & summarized above).  
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If the actuary has not examined the underlying records, but has relied upon product definitions, computer listings and 
summaries of enrollment and claims payments prepared by the health entity, a prescribed statement to this effect is required 
by the Reliance section of the Opinion. A signed statement by the person relied on is also required by this Reliance section 
for items provided, confirming the accuracy, completeness, and/or reasonableness of the items.  Instructions for the Reliance 
section of the Opinion are provided in Section 6 of the annual statement opinionOpinion instructions. 
 
Most health coverages do not require extensive cash flow testing, due to the short duration of the claim liabilities. The 
Actuarial Standards Board has issued Actuarial Standards of Practice to guide actuaries in determining when an asset 
adequacy analysis should be performed and methods of asset adequacy analysis to consider. One of these is a prospective 
gross premium valuation. There is also guidance in the AP&P Manual, Appendix A-822. If required by either regulation or 
professional standards, the actuary should have included an opinion of the asset adequacy.2 Unlike life insurance Opinions, 
there is currently no specific guidance for health asset adequacy opinionOpinions.  
 
As provided in the instructions and mentioned above the Opinion can take four forms: 
 

� Unqualified opinion. 
 
� Qualified opinion. 

 
� Adverse opinion. 

 
� Inconclusive opinion. 

  
In cases where the Opinion is other than unqualified, the analyst should determine what the weakness is that prevents an 
unqualified opinion. A qualified opinion would state that the reserves may be adequate, but there are somewhat likely 
circumstances under which they would not be adequate. An adverse opinion is one in which the amounts reviewed do not 
satisfy opining statement “D” in the Opinion section of the Opinion.  This opining statement “D” reads as, “Make a good and 
sufficient provision for all unpaid claims and other actuarial liabilities of the organization under the terms of its contracts and 
agreements.”  An adverse opinion implies that amounts reviewed are not adequate under state regulations and/or actuarial 
standards. If the actuary’s opinion is adverse or qualified, the actuary should have specifically stated the reason(s) for such 
an opinion in the Opinion section and/or Relevant Comments section of the Opinion. If the actuary is unable to form an 
opinion, the actuary should have issued an inconclusive opinion and specifically state the reason(s) for this.  
 
Discussion of Level 1 Annual Procedures 
 
In most instances proper review and analysis of the Opinion and Actuarial Memorandum will require in-depth knowledge of 
actuarial science. In order to achieve this as a part of the financial review process, most opinionOpinions will be reviewed in 
detail by actuarial staff members. Their review should encompass procedures discussed in the next section covering the 
Supplemental Procedures for the Opinion.  
 
Soon after the Annual Financial Statement is received, a cursory review of the opinionOpinion should be performed to 
identify if any extraordinary item is detailed in the opinionOpinion. The primary goal of the Level 1 Procedures is to 
determine if a Opinion was received and available for later review. And if so, was it an opinionOpinion which was 
unqualified, qualified, adverse, or inconclusive. 
 
Discussion of Supplemental Procedures 
 

                                                           
2 Accounting Practices and Procedures Manual, Appendix A-822 provides guidance for Asset Adequacy Analysis Requirements. The only companies filing 
the Health Annual Financial Statement that are subject to the requirements of Appendix A-822 are those licensed as life insurance companies. 
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The analysis of the Opinion, although filed with the Annual Financial Statement, is documented on the separate Opinion 
Supplemental Procedures because of its significance.  These supplemental procedures are found in Section V of this Health 
Financial Analysis Handbook and are discussed as follows: 
 
Procedures #1, #2, #3,and #4 assist the analyst in determining that the Opinion was prepared by a qualified actuary and that 
the reserve amounts agree with the Annual Financial Statement.  
 
Procedure #5 assists the analyst in determining if the health entity’s actuary, the health entity’s accounting firm, or an officer 
of the health entity has verified the accuracy and completeness of source data. 
 
Procedure #6 assists the analyst in determining if the health entity’s actuary has covered the required reserves.  
 
Procedure #7 assists the analyst in determining that the health entity’s actuary’s opinion statement on reserves is in 
accordance with the criteria found in the Health Annual Financial Statement Instructions paragraph #8 and in particular that 
the opinionOpinion states that the reserves meet the requirements of the state of domicile. While tThe Annual Financial 
Statement Instructions list certain items to include in the opinionOpinion paragraph, (1a) through (8g) and prescribed, certain 
other items such as (h) and (i) may have beenalso be included in the past.  For 2009, these should be included within item 
(8). The analyst should also determine the actuary’s conclusion concerning reserve adequacy in total. It is important for the 
actuary to document the reasons for his or her conclusion, which should be available upon request by the analyst.   
 
Procedure #8 is intended to assist the analyst in determining that the health entity’s actuarial methods, considerations and 
analyses used in forming the actuary’s opinion conform to the relevant Standards of Practice as promulgated by the Actuarial 
Standards Board. 
 
Procedures #9, #10, and #11 are performed only in the situation where an asset adequacy test has been performed by the 
actuary. These procedures assist the analyst in reviewing the actuary’s asset adequacy testing and actuarial memorandum that 
supports the Opinion. The Annual Financial Statement Instructions and Health Insurance Reserves Model Regulation do not 
specifically require asset adequacy testing for health entities, but may be required by actuarial standards of practices in some 
specific situations. A small number of health entities hold life insurance licenses and may, therefore, be subject to the asset 
adequacy and memorandum regulations. The analyst should become familiar with his or her state requirements and special 
situations that may exist.  
 
For the small number of health entities that are subject to actuarial memorandum requirements, the actuarial memorandum is 
a comprehensive document that provides an understanding of the health entity’s reserves, the assets available to support the 
reserves, and the projected impact on the health entity’s financial condition of varying economic and interest rate projection 
scenarios. It is not automatically filed with the Annual Financial Statement, but is provided to the regulator only upon 
request. The decision as to whether to request the actuarial memorandum is an important one. The actuarial memorandum 
should be requested for health entities with known financial problems, significant changes in product mix or investment 
strategy, or significant growth in a particular product line. The Regulatory Asset Adequacy Issues Summary, which is filed 
with the Annual Financial Statement, assists the regulatory actuary in determining whether to request the actuarial 
memorandum. The Regulatory Asset Adequacy Issues Summary would include the following eight data requests, many of 
which may not apply to health asset adequacy analysis (Refer to the NAIC Actuarial Opinion and Memorandum Regulation, 
Section 7):  
 

1) For interest sensitive products, the amount of any negative ending surplus values on a market value basis under 
each of the Required Interest Scenarios;  

 
2) The extent to which the Appointed Actuary uses assumptions in the asset adequacy analysis which are 

materially different than the assumptions used in the previous asset adequacy analysis;  
 
3) The amount of reserves and the identity of the product lines which have been subject to asset adequacy analysis 

in the prior opinion but were not subject to such analysis for the current opinion;  
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4) The number of additional interest rate scenarios that were tested identifying separately the number of 
deterministic scenarios and stochastic scenarios. Also, identify the number of such scenarios which produced 
ending negative surplus values on market value basis;  

 
5) If sensitivity testing was performed, identify the assumptions tested and describe the variation in ending surplus 

values on a market value basis from the base case values; 
  
6) Comments should be provided on any interim results that may be of significant concern to the Appointed 

Actuary;  
 

7) The methods used by the actuary to recognize the impact of reinsurance on the company’s cash flows, 
including both assets and liabilities, under each of the scenarios tested; and  

 
8) Whether the actuary has verified that all options embedded in fixed income securities and equity-like features in 

any investments have been appropriately considered in the asset adequacy analysis. 
 
 
Additional Reference Sources 
 

1. Annual Statement Instructions Health Insurance Companies, NAIC. 
 

2. Standard Valuation Law, NAIC. 
 

3. Health Insurance Reserves Model Regulation, NAIC.  
 

4. Actuarial Standards of Practice, Actuarial Standards Board. 
 

5. Accounting Practices and Procedures Manual Appendix C (specifically Actuarial Guideline XIV, as applicable), 
NAIC.  
 

6. Accounting Practices and Procedures Manual Appendix A-822 , NAIC. 
 

7. Actuarial Opinion and Memorandum Regulation, NAIC. 
 
W:\jun09\tf\lha\wg\Sec 3 C2_SG.doc 
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V. Supplemental Procedures – B. Statement of Actuarial Opinion 
 

 

The instructions to the Health Annual Financial Statement require a Statement of Actuarial Opinion (Opinion) to be attached 
to the Annual Financial Statement. 
 
The Opinion must be issued by the appointed actuary who is a qualified health actuary appointed by the board of directors 
(or a committee of the board).  For purposes of the health actuarial oOpinion the Health Annual Statement Instructions 
provide a qualified health actuary means a member of the American Academy of Actuaries or a person recognized by the 
American Academy of Actuaries as qualified for such health actuarial valuation.  

 
1. 1. Does the Opinion include a completed Table of Key Indicators?  For each section of the Opinion, there 

should be one and only one box checked.  While sections where the actuary has used prescribed language need less 
review, a review of a sampling of these sections may be appropriate.  Where additional wording has been added or 
non-prescribed wording is noted, review of all differences should be completed.  It may be necessary to review 
these findings with an actuary to fully understand the impact of the differences. 

 
 

2. Does the Opinion state the actuary’s qualifications and affiliation? 
 

3.    {Renumber balance of section.} 
 

 
 

 
2. Was the actuary appointed by the board of directors (or its equivalent) or by a committee of the board by December 
31 of the calendar year for which the Opinion was rendered and did the company notify the commissioner of this within five 
(5) business days of the appointment? 
 
3. Is this the same actuary who was appointed for the previous Opinion? 
 

a. If “no”, did the insurer notify the domiciliary state insurance regulator within 5 business days of the 
replacement?  These requirments apply on if the change occurred on or after December 31, 2009. 

b. Within 10 business days of the above notification, did the insurer also provide an additional letter stating 
whether or not there were any disagreements with the former actuary during the preceding 24 months and 
also in writing request the former actuary for a responsive letter as to whether the former actuary agrees or 
disagrees with the statements provided in the company’s letter? 

 
c. Did the company provide the responsive letter from the replaced actuary? 

 
4. Do the reserve amounts included in the aActuarial oOpinion agree with the amounts per the Annual Financial 
Statement? 

 
5. If the appointed actuary has not examined the underlying records and has relied upon the listings and summaries of 
policies in-force prepared by the health entity or a third party, is there a certification letter attached to the Opinion signed by 
the individual or firm who prepared such underlying data? 
 
6. Although tThe Health Annual Statement Instructions list (a) through (h) as prescribed items, certain other actuarial 
items, such as (i) through (iv), may also be included. If the following items are included in the Annual Financial Statement 
and required by the Annual Statement Instructions, does the oOpinion cover the following in the scope and opinion of 
amounts?  

 
Per Annual Statement Instructions: 
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a. Claims unpaid (Page 3, Line 1). 
 

b. Accrued medical incentive pool and bonus payments (Page 3, Line 2). 
 

c. Unpaid claims adjustment expenses (Page 3, Line 3). 
 

d. Aggregate health policy reserves (Page 3, Line 4 including unearned premium reserves and additional 
policy reserves from the Underwriting and Investment Exhibit – Part 2D. 

 
e. Aggregate life policy reserves (Page 3, Line 5). 

 
f. Property/casualty unearned premium reserves (Page 3, Line 6). 

 
g. Aggregate health claim reserves (Page 3, Line 7). 

 
h. Any actuarial reserves or liabilities not included in the items above . 

 
Note:  Section 3 and section 5 should use consistent numbering/lettering for these items. 
 An examples of an item included in (h) above include the retrospective premium asset (Page 2, line 13.3). 

 
If any of the above are no, what item(s) are missing?  

 
7. Does the aActuarial oOpinion state that the actuarial amounts are carried on the balance sheet and does the Opinion 
include the following:  

 
(Annual Statement Instructions specifically refer to at least the items below in (a) through (g); however, other items 
such as (h) and (i) may be included by some health entities): 

 
a. Are in accordance with accepted actuarial standards consistently applied and are fairly stated in accordance 

with sound actuarial principles.? 
 

b. Are based on actuarial assumptions relevant to contract provisions and appropriate to the purpose for 
which the statement was prepared.? 
 

c. Meet the requirements of the laws of the state of domicile, and are at least as great as the minimum 
aggregate amounts required by the state in which this statement is filed.? 

 
d. Make good and sufficient provision for all unpaid claims and other actuarial liabilities of the organization 

under the terms of its contracts and agreements.? 
 

e. Are computed on the basis of assumptions consistent with those used in computing the corresponding 
items in the Annual Statement of the preceding year-end.? 
 

f. Include appropriate provisions for all actuarial  items that ought to be established.? 
 

g. Was tThe Underwriting and Investment Exhibit – Part 2B was reviewed for reasonableness and 
consistency with the applicable Actuarial Standards of Practice. ? 
 

(In particular, item (g)this should be prepared consistent with Actuarial Standard of Practice No. 5, “Incurred Health 
and Disability Claims”, section 3.6, “Follow-Up Studies.”) 
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(Annual Statement Instructions specifically refer to at least the items above in (a) through (g); however, items (h) 
and (i) below must be included by managed care health entities) 
 
Additional Optional Items: 

 
h. If the opinion is for a managed care health plan does it state that the actuary has knowledge of all capitated 

risk arrangements? 
 

i. If the opinion is for a managed care health plan, does it indicate whether the actuary has evaluated the 
financial position of the provider entities? 

 
8. Does the actuarial opinion state that the aActuarial methods, considerations and analyses used in forming the 

actuary’s opinion conform to the relevant Standards of Practice as promulgated from time to time by the Actuarial 
Standards Board, whichose standards form the basis of this statement of actuarial opinion.? 

 
If an asset adequacy analysis was not required, do not proceed with the procedures for asset adequacy analysis (# 9, 
10, & 11) and skip to the Summary and Conclusion.  

 
9. If the oOpinion was based on an asset adequacy analysis, did the actuary determine that the reserves were sufficient 

in light of the assets held to meet future policy obligations? 
 
10. If the oOpinion was based on an asset adequacy analysis, based upon the judgment of the analyst and after 

reviewing the Opinion and Regulatory Asset Adequacy Issues Summary, if available, should the actuarial 
memorandum or other supporting documentation be requested from the health entity? If no, skip to the summary 
and conclusion. 

 
11. Based on an asset adequacy analysis, does the actuarial memorandum or other supporting documentation include the 

following: 
 

a. For reserves: 
 
i. Product descriptions. 

 
ii. Source of liability in-force. 

 
 iii.  Reserve method and basis. 

 
iv. Investment reserves. 

 
v. Reinsurance arrangements. 

 
vi. Persistency of in-force business. 

 
b. For assets (if the aActuarial  oOpinion is based on an asset adequacy analysis that involved the direct 

analysis of investments): 
 
i. Portfolio descriptions. 

 
ii. Investment and disinvestment assumptions. 

 
iii. Source of asset data. 
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iv. Asset valuation bases. 
 

c. For analysis basis: 
 

i. Methodology. 
 

ii. Rationale for inclusion/exclusion of different blocks of business and how pertinent risks were 
analyzed. 

 
iii. Rationale for degree of rigor in analyzing different blocks of business. 

 
iv. Criteria for determining asset adequacy. 

 
v. Effect of federal income taxes, reinsurance and other relevant factors such as dividends, 

commissions, etc. 
 

d. Summary of results. 
 

e. Conclusions. 
 

f. A statement that the actuarial methods, considerations and analyses used in the preparation of this 
memorandum conform to the appropriate Actuarial Standards of Practice as promulgated by the Actuarial 
Standards Board, which standards form the basis for the memorandum. 

 
g.  Method for aggregating reserves and assets. 

 
Summary and Conclusion 

 
Note any section where the Table of Key Indicators notes that the actuary has not used the prescribed wording.  Summarize 
any pertinent comments by the qualified actuary. Provide conclusions as to whether or not the non-prescribed wording 
(either additional wording or different wording) in the Opinion reduces the value thereof. 
Develop and document an overall summary and conclusion regarding the Opinion, and if applicable, the actuarial 
memorandum. In developing a conclusion, the analyst should consider the above procedures, as well as any other procedures 
that, in the analyst’s judgment, are relevant to evaluating the Opinion and actuarial memorandum under the specific 
circumstances involved. If there are serious inadequacies they should be reviewed with the actuary involved. If the 
inadequacies are not adequately explained, the analyst should consider consulting the Actuarial Board offor Counseling and 
Discipline, which provides guidance to the actuarial profession to improve the quality of actuarial activities.  
 
Recommendations for further action, if any, based on the overall conclusion above: 
 
� Contact the health entity seeking explanations or additional information from the health entity or the qualified 

actuary 
 
�  Obtain the health entity’s business plan 
 
�  Require additional interim reporting from the health entity 
 
�  Refer concerns to examination section for targeted examination 
 
�  Consult with the in-house actuary 
 
�  Engage an independent actuary to review health entity’s reserves 
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�  Meet with the health entity’s management 
 
�  Obtain a corrective plan from the health entity. 
 
�  Other (explain) 
 
 
 

Analyst ________________ Date ________ 
 
Comments as a result of supervisory review. 
 

Reviewer _______________ Date ________ 
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July 9, 2009   
 
 
To: Steve Ostland, Chair Accident & Health Working Group 
 John Engelhardt, NAIC Staff to AHWG 
 
Re: Exposed Draft Changes to Health Financial Analysis Handbook 
 

The Accident & Health Working Group exposed proposed changes to the Health Financial 
Analysis Handbook to address the new Health Actuarial Opinion Instructions (HAOI) for the 
NAIC Health Blank.  The following are some general comments that America’s Health 
Insurance Plans (AHIP) wishes to make.  In addition, attached is a copy of the two documents 
with AHIP proposed additional changes to match more closely the wording in the instructions.  
Many are intended to insure that the wording in the Handbook matches the prescribed wording in 
the HAOI.  Places where we would expect further discussion on one of the issues below are 
identified in the attached drafts with ***See Letter at the start and ]*** at the end.  
 
 
Changes in the Appointed Actuary Effective for 2009 
 
The HAOI requires the notification of the state of domicile within 10 days of the change in the 
appointed actuary.  This appears an appropriate requirement for 2010 and later as the effective 
date of the revised instructions will always be prior to any such change in the appointed actuary.  
For changes prior to 2010, the effective date of the requirement is not stated.  The effective date 
of the Blanks change is “Annual 2009” but this may be of little use with respect changes that 
have already occurred or that will occur prior to year-end 2009. 
 
We recommend that that the Handbook note that for 2008 and prior opinions, there is no 
notification requirement, that for 2009 the notification is only required if the change involves the 
appointment of a new actuary on or after December 31, 2009.  Assuming that this is acceptable, 
it would make sense to alert companies of this transition position.  AHIP would be willing to 
assist in this effort. 
 
References to the Actuarial Memorandum 
 
It appears that all references to the Actuarial memorandum are intended to apply to the 
memorandum required for life insurers that file using the Health blank (see comments on 
Procedures #9, #10 and #11 on pages 5 and 6 of III. Analysts Reference Guide – C.2. Statement 
of Actuarial Opinion as well as pages 3 and 4 of V. Supplemental Procedures – B. Statement of 
Actuarial Opinion). 
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July 9, 2009 
Page 2 
 
 
 
This language may need to be retained to the extent the NAIC wishes to have these life insurers 
complete a separate actuarial memorandum based on the Actuarial Opinion and Memorandum 
Regulation.  However, the language is totally inconsistent with the anticipated components of the 
Actuarial Memorandum required by section 1B. of the HAOI.  AHIP offers our assistance in 
addressing this issue as well. 
 
References to Items No Longer Mentioned in HAOI 
 
The exposed draft retains language dealing with “Additional Optional Items” that are no longer a 
separate aspect of the revised HAOI.  Given the new focus on the use of prescribed language, we 
recommend that there be nothing in the Handbook that suggests the analyst should be looking for 
additional optional items (see page 3 of V. Supplemental Procedures – B. Statement of Actuarial 
Opinion) until these issues have been discussed by the AHWG. 
 
We appreciate the opportunity to provide these comments. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
William C. Weller 
Consultant to AHIP     
 
c/c: Randi Reichel, AHIP Consultant 
 Shari Westerfield, BCBSA 
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Health Financial Analysis Handbook – Annual 2008 / Quarterly 2009 

 
III. Analysts Reference Guide – C.2. Statement of Actuarial Opinion 
 

       

Overview of Statement of Actuarial Opinion 
 
The Statement of Actuarial Opinion (Opinion) contained in the Health Annual Statement instructions has been significantly 
modified beginning with the 2009 Annual Statement.  The most significant change is the adoption of prescribed language 
and a Table of Key Indicators.  The Table of Key Indicators will note where prescribed language has not been used, as well 
as if the Statement is other than unqualified.  Generally the analyst can focus on the following four steps to comprise much of 
the Level 1 Procedures. 
 

1. Review Table of Key Indicators for use of other than prescribed language. 
2. Review Table of Key Indicators for use of an unqualified opinion. 
3. Determine if the Company has provided a notification letter to the domiciliary state describing the 

appointment of the actuary. 
4. Determine if a certification letter is attached if the actuary has relied upon someone for data. 

 
As noted in the discussion of Level 1 Procedures below, in most instances proper review and analysis of the Opinion beyond 
Level 1 Procedures will use in-depth knowledge of actuarial science where most opinionOpinions will be reviewed in detail 
by actuarial staff members.  However, it is up to each state to determine how best to address this review with available 
resources.  
 
The following provides an in depth description of elements of the Opinion. 
 
The Health Annual Statement instructions contain 10 sections which provide instructions for the Opinion which include 
instructions relevant to the Actuarial Memorandum that supports the Opinion.  These 10 sections are summarized below. 
 
Section 1 requires a Qualified Health Actuary(actuary) to render the Opinion.  For this Opinion an actuary means a member 
of the American Academy of Actuaries, or a person recognized by the American Academy of Actuaries as qualified for such 
actuarial valuation.  The actuary must be appointed (Appointed Actuary) by the board of directors (or a committee of the 
board) to render the Opinion.  Section 1 includes specific responsibilities of the insurer regarding the appointment of the 
Appointed Actuary and addresses documentation, and replacement requirements.  Requirements include notification of any 
replacement of the Appointed Actuary to the commissioner with disclosure of any disagreements with the prior actuary 
relevant to the Opinion.  Requirements are also provided regarding a responsive letter from the prior actuary addressing 
agreement or disagreement to reasons for replacement provided by the company.  Section 1 also provides for reporting and 
documentation requirements between the Appointed Actuary and the Board of Directors or the Audit Committee.  Section 
1A provides definitions and Section 1B provides requirements for the Actuarial Memorandum which supports the Opinion. 
 
Section 2 requires that the Opinion contain four clearly designated sections:  Identification, Scope, Reliance, and Opinion.  A 
fifth section, Relevant Comments, may be provided at the option of the actuary.  A Table of Key Indicators must be provided 
which indicates whether these five sections use prescribed wording only, prescribed wording with additional wording, or 
revised wording.  The Table of Key Indicators also provides whether the opinionOpinion is unqualified, qualified, adverse, 
or inconclusive. 
 
Section 3 provides the Table of Key Indicators which indicates whether the sections of Identification, Scope, Reliance, or 
Opinion use prescribed wording only, prescribed wording with additional wording, or revised wording.  For the Relevant 
Comments section, this table provides revised wording waswas an indicator that is used or whetherwhen any of the actuary’s 
work as detailed in the Actuarial Memorandum includes wording which deviates from Actuarial Standards of Practice, as 
provided in such standards.  The Table of Key Indicators also provides whether the opinion Opinion is unqualified, qualified, 
adverse, or inconclusive 
 
Section 4 (Identification section) is self-explanatory. 
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Section 5 (Scope section) is also self-explanatory where all actuarial items listed in the instructions should be provided even 
if amounts are zero. 
 
Section 6 (Reliance section) requires the actuary to identify theany person upon whom the actuary relied for data used in the 
reserve analysis.  A statement from the person relied on is also required by this section.  The actuary may choose to accept 
responsibility for the data without reliance on another.  The actuary would state this by using prescribed language in this 
section. 
 
Section 7 (Opinion section) provides the prescribed statements the actuary is to make which opine on the items identified in 
Section 5.  This is a key section to review for deviations from prescribed language which form the basis for whether the 
opinionOpinion is unqualified, qualified, adverse, or inconclusive as indicated in Section 3. 
 
Section 8 (Relevant Comments section) is optional.  The actuary may use this section to state a qualification of his or her 
opinion or provide greater explanation of that qualification.  The actuary may also address topics of regulatory importance or 
explain some aspect of the annual statement.  Examples may include explanations of any material changes in assumptions or 
methods that were made during the year.   
 
Section 9 of the opinionOpinion instructions provides additional guidance to the actuary regarding adverse, qualified, or 
inconclusive opinions.  The determination of adverse, qualified, or inconclusive must be explicitly stated in the Table of Key 
Indicators provided in the opinionOpinion.  It is expected that adequate explanation of this determination be provided in the 
opinionOpinion. 
 
Section 10 of the opinionOpinion provides for signatures which is self explanatory. 
 
Considerations 
 
. Requirements for the Opinion provide for conformance with specific Standards of Practice adopted by the Actuarial 
Standards Board (ASB) of the American Academy of Actuaries including standards relating to follow-up studies and 
standards of what should be included in an Opinion. For managed-care health plans, ASB standards for Opinions (ASOP 5, 
“Incurred Health and Disability Claims” or ASOP 42,”Determining Health and Disability Liabilites Other than Liabilities for 
Incurred Claims”) require consideration by the actuary of any capitated risk contracts that exist. Such consideration should 
also include or indicate whether the actuary has evaluated the financial position of the provider entities.  
 
There is a significant difference between the Opinion requirements as found in the Life & Health or Property & Casualty 
Annual Financial Statements and the Health Annual Financial Statement. Effective for 2003 Statutory Statements, companies 
with over 95 percent of specific types of health insurance would file the Health Annual Financial Statement regardless of 
their state license. Such companies must comply with not only the Opinion requirements of the Health Annual Financial 
Statement but also with the Opinion requirements based on their state license. For example, life insurance companies who 
file the Health Annual Financial Statement are still subject to any asset adequacy opinion requirements as required by the 
Actuarial Opinion and Memorandum Regulation pursuant to the Standard Valuation Law. 
 
The NAIC Health Insurance Reserves Model Regulation if implemented by a state with respect to health entities defines the 
minimum reserve requirements. The NAIC Accounting Practice and Procedures Manual (AP&P Manual) Appendix A-010 
defines minimum health reserve requirements when there are no other state specific requirements1. Although Appendix A-
010 describes the separate minimum standard for each type of reserve separately, SSAP 54 requires a health entity’s health 
insurance reserves to also be tested in total using the gross premium valuation method. The Opinion for the Health Annual 
Financial Statement is required to address certain other liabilities as well as these specific reserves. The Annual Financial 
Statement Instructions specifically include: 
 
1. Claims unpaid (Page 3, Line 1), 
 

                                                           
1 The NAIC Accounting Practices and Procedures Manual Appendix A-010 incorporates minimum reserve requirements from the Health Insurance 
Reserves Model Regulation.  
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2. Accrued medical incentive pool and bonus payments (Page 3, Line 2), 
 
3. Unpaid claims adjustment expenses (Page 3, Line 3), 

 
4. Aggregate health policy reserves (Page 3, Line 4) including unearned premium reserves and additional policy reserves 

from the Underwriting and Investment Exhibit – Part 2D, 
 
5. Aggregate life policy reserves (Page 3, Line 5), 

 
6. Property/casualty unearned premium reserves (Page 3, Line 6), 

 
7. Aggregate health claim reserves (Page 3, Line 7), 

 
8. Any actuarial reserves or liabilities not included in the items above. 

 
 
Although the instructions specifically identify the above actuarial items for review, certain other actuarial items also require 
review as provided in the general item 8 above. Some actuarial items are often incorporated into the required items while 
others have not been incorporated in the required list.  
 
Actuarial reserves and liabilities that are incorporated into the required items above are as follows (note items 1a & 1b are 
repeated from list above): 
 
1. Aggregate Health Policy Reserves (Page 3, Line 4) includes: 
 

a. Unearned Premium Reserve (Underwriting and Investment Exhibit, Part 2D, Line 1). 
 
b. Additional Policy Reserves (Underwriting and Investment Exhibit, Part 2D, Line 2). 

 
c. Reserve For Future Contingent Benefits (Underwriting and Investment Exhibit, Part 2D, Line 3). 

 
d. Reserve For Rate Credits or Experience Rated Refunds (Underwriting and Investment Exhibit, Part 2D, Line 4).  

 
e. Aggregate Write-ins For Other Policy Reserves (Underwriting and Investment Exhibit, Part 2D, Line 5). 

 
2. Aggregate Health Claim Reserves (Page 3, Line 7) includes,  
 

a. Present Values of Amounts Not Yet Due On Claims (Underwriting and Investment Exhibit, Part 2D, Line 9). 
 
b. Reserve For Future Contingent Benefits (Underwriting and Investment Exhibit, Part 2D, Line 10). 

 
c. Aggregate Write-ins For Other Claim Reserves; Actuarial Reserves Should Be Included in the Opinion 

(Underwriting and Investment Exhibit, Part 2D, Line 11). 
 
Note that additional policy reserves include premium deficiency reserves. Premium deficiency reserves are identified in 
Underwriting and Investment Exhibit Part 2D, Footnote a.  
 
The Opinion Scope section, discussed above asfor Section 5 of the annual statement opinionOpinion instructions, should 
specifically identify those items and amounts to which the actuary is expressing an opinion, including but not limited to the 
above specifically identified lines from the Annual Financial Statement.  Where the actuary determines that no liability 
exists, the value $0.00 should be entered.  Lines should not be deleted. 
 
If there has been a material change in the actuarial assumptions from those previously employed, that change should be 
described in the Annual Financial Statement and in the Relevant Comments section of the Opinion (see Section 8 of the 
annual statement opinionOpinion instructions & summarized above).  
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If the actuary has not examined the underlying records, but has relied upon product definitions, computer listings and 
summaries of enrollment and claims payments prepared by the health entity, a prescribed statement to this effect is required 
by the Reliance section of the Opinion. A signed statement by the person relied on is also required by this Reliance section 
for items provided, confirming the accuracy, completeness, and/or reasonableness of the items.  Instructions for the Reliance 
section of the Opinion are provided in Section 6 of the annual statement opinionOpinion instructions. 
 
Most health coverages do not require extensive cash flow testing, due to the short duration of the claim liabilities. The 
Actuarial Standards Board has issued Actuarial Standards of Practice to guide actuaries in determining when an asset 
adequacy analysis should be performed and methods of asset adequacy analysis to consider. One of these is a prospective 
gross premium valuation. There is also guidance in the AP&P Manual, Appendix A-822. If required by either regulation or 
professional standards, the actuary should have included an opinion of the asset adequacy.2 Unlike life insurance Opinions, 
there is currently no specific guidance for health asset adequacy opinionOpinions.  
 
As provided in the instructions and mentioned above the Opinion can take four forms: 
 

� Unqualified opinion. 
 
� Qualified opinion. 

 
� Adverse opinion. 

 
� Inconclusive opinion. 

  
In cases where the Opinion is other than unqualified, the analyst should determine what the weakness is that prevents an 
unqualified opinion. A qualified opinion would state that the reserves may be adequate, but there are somewhat likely 
circumstances under which they would not be adequate. An adverse opinion is one in which the amounts reviewed do not 
satisfy opining statement “D” in the Opinion section of the Opinion.  This opining statement “D” reads as, “Make a good and 
sufficient provision for all unpaid claims and other actuarial liabilities of the organization under the terms of its contracts and 
agreements.”  An adverse opinion implies that amounts reviewed are not adequate under state regulations and/or actuarial 
standards. If the actuary’s opinion is adverse or qualified, the actuary should have specifically stated the reason(s) for such 
an opinion in the Opinion section and/or Relevant Comments section of the Opinion. If the actuary is unable to form an 
opinion, the actuary should have issued an inconclusive opinion and specifically state the reason(s) for this.  
 
Discussion of Level 1 Annual Procedures 
 
In most instances proper review and analysis of the Opinion and Actuarial Memorandum will require in-depth knowledge of 
actuarial science. In order to achieve this as a part of the financial review process, most opinionOpinions will be reviewed in 
detail by actuarial staff members. Their review should encompass procedures discussed in the next section covering the 
Supplemental Procedures for the Opinion.  
 
Soon after the Annual Financial Statement is received, a cursory review of the opinionOpinion should be performed to 
identify if any extraordinary item is detailed in the opinionOpinion. The primary goal of the Level 1 Procedures is to 
determine if a Opinion was received and available for later review. And if so, was it an opinionOpinion which was 
unqualified, qualified, adverse, or inconclusive. 
 
Discussion of Supplemental Procedures 
 

                                                           
2 Accounting Practices and Procedures Manual, Appendix A-822 provides guidance for Asset Adequacy Analysis Requirements. The only companies filing 
the Health Annual Financial Statement that are subject to the requirements of Appendix A-822 are those licensed as life insurance companies. 
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The analysis of the Opinion, although filed with the Annual Financial Statement, is documented on the separate Opinion 
Supplemental Procedures because of its significance.  These supplemental procedures are found in Section V of this Health 
Financial Analysis Handbook and are discussed as follows: 
 
Procedures #1, #2, #3,and #4 assist the analyst in determining that the Opinion was prepared by a qualified actuary and that 
the reserve amounts agree with the Annual Financial Statement.  
 
Procedure #5 assists the analyst in determining if the health entity’s actuary, the health entity’s accounting firm, or an officer 
of the health entity has verified the accuracy and completeness of source data. 
 
Procedure #6 assists the analyst in determining if the health entity’s actuary has covered the required reserves.  
 
Procedure #7 assists the analyst in determining that the health entity’s actuary’s opinion statement on reserves is in 
accordance with the criteria found in the Health Annual Financial Statement Instructions paragraph #8 and in particular that 
the opinionOpinion states that the reserves meet the requirements of the state of domicile. ***[See letter: While the Annual 
Financial Statement Instructions list certain items to include in the opinionOpinion paragraph, (a) through (g), certain other 
items such as (h) and (i) may also be included.]*** The analyst should also determine the actuary’s conclusion concerning 
reserve adequacy in total. It is important for the actuary to document the reasons for his or her conclusion, which should be 
available upon request by the analyst.   
 
Procedure #8 is intended to assist the analyst in determining that the health entity’s actuarial methods, considerations and 
analyses used in forming the actuary’s opinion conform to the relevant Standards of Practice as promulgated by the Actuarial 
Standards Board. 
 
***[See letter Procedures #9, #10, and #11 are performed only in the situation where an asset adequacy test has been 
performed by the actuary. These procedures assist the analyst in reviewing the actuary’s asset adequacy testing and actuarial 
memorandum that supports the Opinion. The Annual Financial Statement Instructions and Health Insurance Reserves Model 
Regulation do not specifically require asset adequacy testing for health entities, but may be required by actuarial standards of 
practices in some specific situations. A small number of health entities hold life insurance licenses and may, therefore, be 
subject to the asset adequacy and memorandum regulations. The analyst should become familiar with his or her state 
requirements and special situations that may exist.  
 
For the small number of health entities that are subject to actuarial memorandum requirements, the actuarial memorandum is 
a comprehensive document that provides an understanding of the health entity’s reserves, the assets available to support the 
reserves, and the projected impact on the health entity’s financial condition of varying economic and interest rate projection 
scenarios. It is not automatically filed with the Annual Financial Statement, but is provided to the regulator only upon 
request. The decision as to whether to request the actuarial memorandum is an important one. The actuarial memorandum 
should be requested for health entities with known financial problems, significant changes in product mix or investment 
strategy, or significant growth in a particular product line. The Regulatory Asset Adequacy Issues Summary, which is filed 
with the Annual Financial Statement, assists the regulatory actuary in determining whether to request the actuarial 
memorandum. The Regulatory Asset Adequacy Issues Summary would include the following eight data requests, many of 
which may not apply to health asset adequacy analysis (Refer to the NAIC Actuarial Opinion and Memorandum Regulation, 
Section 7):  
 

1) For interest sensitive products, the amount of any negative ending surplus values on a market value basis under 
each of the Required Interest Scenarios;  

 
2) The extent to which the Appointed Actuary uses assumptions in the asset adequacy analysis which are 

materially different than the assumptions used in the previous asset adequacy analysis;  
 
3) The amount of reserves and the identity of the product lines which have been subject to asset adequacy analysis 

in the prior opinionOpinion but were not subject to such analysis for the current opinionOpinion;  
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4) The number of additional interest rate scenarios that were tested identifying separately the number of 
deterministic scenarios and stochastic scenarios. Also, identify the number of such scenarios which produced 
ending negative surplus values on market value basis;  

 
5) If sensitivity testing was performed, identify the assumptions tested and describe the variation in ending surplus 

values on a market value basis from the base case values; 
  
6) Comments should be provided on any interim results that may be of significant concern to the Appointed 

Actuary;  
 

7) The methods used by the actuary to recognize the impact of reinsurance on the company’s cash flows, 
including both assets and liabilities, under each of the scenarios tested; and  

 
8) Whether the actuary has verified that all options embedded in fixed income securities and equity-like features in 

any investments have been appropriately considered in the asset adequacy analysis.]*** 
 
 
Additional Reference Sources 
 

1. Annual Statement Instructions Health Insurance Companies, NAIC. 
 

2. Standard Valuation Law, NAIC. 
 

3. Health Insurance Reserves Model Regulation, NAIC.  
 

4. Actuarial Standards of Practice, Actuarial Standards Board. 
 

5. Accounting Practices and Procedures Manual Appendix C (specifically Actuarial Guideline XIV, as applicable), 
NAIC.  
 

6. Accounting Practices and Procedures Manual Appendix A-822 , NAIC. 
 

7. Actuarial Opinion and Memorandum Regulation, NAIC. 
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The instructions to the Health Annual Financial Statement require a Statement of Actuarial Opinion (Opinion) to be attached 
to the Annual Financial Statement. 
 
The Opinion must be issued by the appointed actuary who is a qualified health actuary appointed by the board of directors 
(or a committee of the board).  For purposes of the health actuarial oOpinion the Health Annual Statement Instructions 
provide a qualified health actuary means a member of the American Academy of Actuaries or a person recognized by the 
American Academy of Actuaries as qualified for such health actuarial valuation.  

 
1. Does the Opinion state the actuary’s qualifications and affiliation?  

Note: Nothing in this document discusses the review of the Table of Key Indicators and whether or not, if the 
Table says that the prescribed language was used that this in fact the case.  Nor does it address how to deal 
with situations where the Table indicates that alternative language or additional language is included in the 
Opinion.   

 
2. Was the actuary appointed by the board of directors (or its equivalent) or by a committee of the board by December 
31 of the calendar year for which the Opinion was rendered and did the company notify the commissioner of this within five 
(5) business days of the appointment? 
 
3. ***[See letter Is this the same actuary who was appointed for the previous Opinion? 
 

a. If “no”, did the insurer notify the domiciliary state insurance regulator within 5 business days of the 
replacement? 

b. Within 10 business days of the above notification, did the insurer also provide an additional letter stating 
whether or not there were any disagreements with the former actuary during the preceding 24 months and 
also in writing request the former actuary for a responsive letter as to whether the former actuary agrees or 
disagrees with the statements provided in the company’s letter? 

 
c. Did the company provide the responsive letter from the replaced actuary?]*** 

 
4. Do the reserve amounts included in the aActuarial oOpinion agree with the amounts per the Annual Financial 
Statement? 

 
5. If the appointed actuary has not examined the underlying records and has relied upon the listings and summaries of 
policies in-force prepared by the health entity or a third party, is there a certification letter attached to the Opinion signed by 
the individual or firm who prepared such underlying data? 
 
6. ***[See letter Although the Health Annual Statement Instructions list (a) through (h), certain other actuarial items, 
such as (i) through (iv), may also be included.]***   If the following items are included in the Annual Financial Statement 
and required by the Annual Statement Instructions, does the oOpinion cover the following in the scope and opinion of 
amounts?  

 
Per Annual Statement Instructions: 

 
a. Claims unpaid (Page 3, Line 1). 

 
b. Accrued medical incentive pool and bonus payments (Page 3, Line 2). 

 
c. Unpaid claims adjustment expenses (Page 3, Line 3). 

 
d. Aggregate health policy reserves (Page 3, Line 4 including unearned premium reserves and additional 

policy reserves from the Underwriting and Investment Exhibit – Part 2D. 
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e. Aggregate life policy reserves (Page 3, Line 5). 

 
f. Property/casualty unearned premium reserves (Page 3, Line 6). 

 
g. Aggregate health claim reserves (Page 3, Line 7). 

 
h. Any actuarial reserves or liabilities not included in the items above . 

 
 An examples of an item included in (h) above include the retrospective premium asset (Page 2, line 13.3) 
 
 

: 
 
 

 
 
 

 
If any of the above are no, what item(s) are missing?  

 
7. Does the aActuarial oOpinion state that the actuarial amounts carried on the balance sheet and include the 
following:  

 
***[See letter – this should be deleted (Annual Statement Instructions specifically refer to at least the items below 
in (a) through (g); however, other items such as (h) and (i) may be included by some health entities)]***: 

 
a. Are in accordance with accepted actuarial standards consistently applied and are fairly stated in accordance 

with sound actuarial principles.? 
 

b. Are based on actuarial assumptions relevant to contract provisions and appropriate to the purpose for 
which the statement was prepared.? 
 

c. Meet the requirements of the laws of the state of domicile, and are at least as great as the minimum 
aggregate amounts required by the state in which this statement is filed.? 

 
d. Make good and sufficient provision for all unpaid claims and other actuarial liabilities of the organization 

under the terms of its contracts and agreements.? 
 

e. Are computed on the basis of assumptions consistent with those used in computing the corresponding 
items in the Annual Statement of the preceding year-end.? 
 

f. Include appropriate provisions for all actuarial  items that ought to be established.? 
 

g. Was tThe Underwriting and Investment Exhibit – Part 2B was reviewed for reasonableness and 
consistency with the applicable Actuarial Standards of Practice. ? 
 

(In particular, item (g)this should be prepared consistent with Actuarial Standard of Practice No. 5, “Incurred Health 
and Disability Claims”, section 3.6, “Follow-Up Studies.”) 

 
***[See letter – this should be deleted (Annual Statement Instructions specifically refer to at least the items above 
in (a) through (g); however, items (h) and (i) below must be included by managed care health entities) 
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Additional Optional Items: 

 
h. If the opinion is for a managed care health plan does it state that the actuary has knowledge of all capitated 

risk arrangements? 
 

i. If the opinion is for a managed care health plan, does it indicate whether the actuary has evaluated the 
financial position of the provider entities?]*** 

 
8. Does the actuarial opinion state that the aActuarial methods, considerations and analyses used in forming the 

actuary’s opinion conform to the relevant Standards of Practice as promulgated from time to time by the Actuarial 
Standards Board, whichose standards form the basis of this statement of actuarial opinion.? 

 
***[See letter If an asset adequacy analysis was not required, do not proceed with the procedures for asset adequacy 
analysis (# 9, 10, & 11) and skip to the Summary and Conclusion.  

 
9. If the oOpinion was based on an asset adequacy analysis, did the actuary determine that the reserves were sufficient 

in light of the assets held to meet future policy obligations? 
 
10. If the oOpinion was based on an asset adequacy analysis, based upon the judgment of the analyst and after 

reviewing the Opinion and Regulatory Asset Adequacy Issues Summary, if available, should the actuarial 
memorandum or other supporting documentation be requested from the health entity? If no, skip to the summary 
and conclusion. 

 
11. Based on an asset adequacy analysis, does the actuarial memorandum or other supporting documentation include the 

following: 
 

a. For reserves: 
 
i. Product descriptions. 

 
ii. Source of liability in-force. 

 
 iii.  Reserve method and basis. 

 
iv. Investment reserves. 

 
v. Reinsurance arrangements. 

 
vi. Persistency of in-force business. 

 
b. For assets (if the aActuarial  oOpinion is based on an asset adequacy analysis that involved the direct 

analysis of investments): 
 
i. Portfolio descriptions. 

 
ii. Investment and disinvestment assumptions. 

 
iii. Source of asset data. 
 
iv. Asset valuation bases. 
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c. For analysis basis: 
 

i. Methodology. 
 

ii. Rationale for inclusion/exclusion of different blocks of business and how pertinent risks were 
analyzed. 

 
iii. Rationale for degree of rigor in analyzing different blocks of business. 

 
iv. Criteria for determining asset adequacy. 

 
v. Effect of federal income taxes, reinsurance and other relevant factors such as dividends, 

commissions, etc. 
 

d. Summary of results. 
 

e. Conclusions. 
 

f. A statement that the actuarial methods, considerations and analyses used in the preparation of this 
memorandum conform to the appropriate Actuarial Standards of Practice as promulgated by the Actuarial 
Standards Board, which standards form the basis for the memorandum. 

 
g.  Method for aggregating reserves and assets.]*** 

 
Summary and Conclusion 

Note:  This section should certainly refer to the Table of Key Indicators.  As such, it needs to be rewritten. 
Summarize any pertinent comments by the qualified actuary. Develop and document an overall summary and conclusion 
regarding the Opinion, and if applicable, the actuarial memorandum. In developing a conclusion, the analyst should consider 
the above procedures, as well as any other procedures that, in the analyst’s judgment, are relevant to evaluating the Opinion 
and actuarial memorandum under the specific circumstances involved. If there are serious inadequacies they should be 
reviewed with the actuary involved. If the inadequacies are not adequately explained, the analyst should consider consulting 
the Actuarial Board offor Counseling and Discipline, which provides guidance to the actuarial profession to improve the 
quality of actuarial activities.  
 
Recommendations for further action, if any, based on the overall conclusion above: 
 
� Contact the health entity seeking explanations or additional information from the health entity or the qualified 

actuary 
 
�  Obtain the health entity’s business plan 
 
�  Require additional interim reporting from the health entity 
 
�  Refer concerns to examination section for targeted examination 
 
�  Consult with the in-house actuary 
 
�  Engage an independent actuary to review health entity’s reserves 
 
�  Meet with the health entity’s management 
 
�  Obtain a corrective plan from the health entity. 
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�� 

 
�  Other (explain) 
 
 
 

Analyst ________________ Date ________ 
 
Comments as a result of supervisory review. 
 

Reviewer _______________ Date ________ 
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Discussion of Non-Routine Analysis 
The Handbook contains procedures that assist an analyst in deriving an overall assessment of the 
insurer’s financial condition; however, situations may exist when it is necessary to perform 
additional procedures and analysis not contained in the Handbook for one or more insurer. 
 
On occasion events or situations outside of the normal course of business occur that may have a 
material impact on the overall financial condition of an insurer. During these occasions state 
insurance regulators may need to perform non-routine  analysis, which may require additional 
reporting from a specific insurer or from a group of insurers. A few examples of these occasions 
may include significant financial events such as material investment defaults, credit market stress, 
or catastrophic events. Non-routine analysis may also be appropriate and necessary in situations 
impacting a single insurer, group, or a small group of insurers. For example, when permitted 
practices are granted, there may be a need to perform follow-up analysis of the situation requiring 
the permitted practice, including assessing the realizablity of deferred tax assets. The state may 
conduct this analysis themselves or enter into an agreed upon procedures audit with a CPA firm 
to assist in the assessment and analysis of the projected future deferred tax assets and the impact 
to surplus.  
 
The following are a few examples of types of non-routine analysis that may be appropriate in an 
economic downturn, investment defaults, and changes in the credit markets (Note some or all of 
these may be applicable in other non-market or investment related situations as well). 

• Focused analysis on asset quality where insurers hold higher amounts of riskier assets. 
The analyst should not only consider exposure to individual default events but also 
aggregate exposure. Additional review or explanation from the insurer may be requested 
when high amounts of other-than-temporary impairments, unrealized losses and/or large 
variances between book and market value are reported. The analyst should review the 
value of affiliated investments and assess indirect exposure to economic events that may 
result in the decline in the affiliated holdings. Analysts may consider other sources of 
analysis or information to assist in the review of investments. For example, an analyst 
may consider requesting a Portfolio Analysis Memorandum from the NAIC Securities 
Valuation Office. 

• Analysts should consider the impact of tightened short-term credit markets on insurers or 
groups who have dependency on commercial paper, overnight repos, dollar repos, etc. 
Another area that could be impacted by changes in credit markets is the insurer’s ability 
to obtain letters of credit (LOC) provided for XXX (life reserves) or other reinsurance 
reserves, and the costs of those LOCs for insurer dependent on LOCs. 

• If the insurer engages in securities lending, the analyst may consider requesting detailed 
information about the program to review the types of assets (risk and duration match) 
within the program, gain an understanding of the structure and terms of the program and, 
if material, monitor monthly changes in the program. 

• Certain insurance products may be impacted more than others in an economic downturn. 
The analyst should consider the impact to an insurer that writes a material amount of 
products that are more likely to be accelerated (e.g. funding agreements, guaranteed 
interest contract–GICs) or where the liability can be accelerated (e.g., variable annuities, 
living benefit/death benefit on variable annuities). 
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• The analyst should consider the level of sensitivity of the insurer to ratings downgrades 

and the possible impact on the insurer or the group. For example, its ability to market 
new business or the impact of rating downgrades on any debt covenants. If an insurer is 
downgraded, the analyst may consider monitoring surrenders, new business sales as well 
as any changes in the insurer’s business plans.  

• Where liquidity is a concern, the analyst may also consider requesting interim reporting 
from the insurers on areas of risk specific to that insurer. For example, surrender activity, 
high risk investment exposures, GICs, capital and surplus, available liquidity, available 
credit facilities and capital losses.  

• Where significant concerns exist, the state may consider requesting the insurer to perform 
stress testing on the possible future impacts of additional equity losses, defaults, or other 
areas relevant to the situation.  
 

Examples of types of non-routine analysis that may be appropriate in catastrophic events.   
• Implement disaster reporting requests to appropriate insurers and monitor claims 

exposure during future periods following the event. 
• Identify insurers and reinsurers with material exposure 
• Implement appropriate procedures to identify fraudulent activities 
• Perform an in-depth analysis of liquidity to ensure timely payment of claims 
• Engage legal staff to ensure appropriate claims payment practices 
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Background Analysis 
 

1. Review the analysis performed on the insurer for the prior year and prior quarters. 
 

a. Indicate the state’s priority designation or any prioritization tool result as of the last review and 
start of the current review:  

 

State’s Priority Designation _____ 
Scoring System Total _____ 
IRIS System Results _____ 

Analyst Team System Validated Level _____ 
RBC Ratio and Trend Test _____ 

 

b. Were there any issues or concerns noted in previous annual or quarterly analysis completed in the 
prior year? If “yes,” discuss the issues or concerns, the follow-up conducted, and include any 
correspondence with the insurer, along with any conclusions. 

 

c. As the domestic regulator, review the Insurer Profile Summary, including the Supervisory Plan, if 
applicable, and document any areas of concern that impact the current analysis. 

 
2. Review any inter-departmental communication, as well as communication with other state insurance 

departments and the insurer. Note any unusual items or areas that indicate further review or follow-up is 
necessary. 

 
3. Review General Interrogatory #5.1 and #5.2. Has the insurer been a party to a merger or consolidation? If 

yes, review the list of the companies involved in the merger/consolidation, noting any observations.  Also, 
ensure Form A or additional filings have been approved. 

 
4. Review General Interrogatory #6.1 and #6.2. Has the insurer had any Certificates of Authority, licenses or 

registrations (including corporate registration, if applicable) suspended or revoked by any governmental 
entity during the reporting period? If yes, review the reason(s) stated for the revocation or suspension, 
noting any observations. 

 
5. Are there any changes in the state’s statutes and/or regulations that could impact the insurer’s financial 

position and reporting? If yes, to the extent information is available, has the insurer failed to complyied 
with any the new state’s statutes and regulations enacted during the period? 

 
6. Review the most recent report from a nationally recognized rating agency. Also note the current financial 

strength and credit rating, and briefly discuss the explanation of the rating or any change in the rating.  
 
7. Review any industry reports, news releases and emerging issues that have the potential to negatively 

impact the insurer.   
 

8. Review the most recent business plan and financial projections, if available from recent surveillance 
activity and if considered necessary based on the insurer’s priority designation and financial condition. 

 

a. If significant changes in business plan or philosophy have occurred, assess the insurer’s ability to 
 attain the expectations of the business plan. 

 

b. Are actual results consistent with management’s expectations? 
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Management Assessment 
 

9. Review the Annual Financial Statement Jurat page (page 1). 
 

a. Did the insurer fail to properly execute and notarize the Jurat page? 
 

b. Has there been any change(s) in officers, directors or trustees since the previous Annual Financial 
Statement filing (indicated by a "#" after the name)? If yes, indicate the positions in which the 
changes have occurred. Review the Biographical Affidavit(s) for any new officers, directors, or 
trustees indicated above and note any areas of concern that would indicate further review is 
necessary.  

 

�  President 
�  Secretary 
�  Treasurer 
�  Vice Presidents (number: ____) 
�  Directors or Trustees (number: ____) 
�  Other 

 

c. Assess any significant corporate governance changes and determine whether these changes 
appear to indicate a shift in management philosophy, or whether management has made any 
changes in business culture or business plan. 

 
Balance Sheet Assessment 
 

10. Review the Annual Financial Statement Assets (page 2) and Liabilities, Capital and Surplus and Other 
Funds (page 3). 
 

a. Is capital and surplus below the statutory minimum capital and surplus required? 
 

b. Is capital and surplus less than 5 percent of total admitted assets excluding separate accounts? 
 

c. Has capital and surplus changed by greater than +/-20 percent from the prior year? 
 

d. Is the RBC ratio (total adjusted capital divided by authorized control level risk-based capital 
shown in the Annual Financial Statement Five-Year Historical Data) less than or equal to 250 
percent? 

 

e. Did the insurer fail the RBC Trend Test? 
 
 

e.f. Has there been any change in capital notes compared to the prior year-end? If yes, indicate the 
current and prior year-end balances and the amount of the change. Also comment on any notes 
issued, principal or interest paid, or any other changes that have been made and whether any 
necessary approvals were obtained.   

 

fg. Has there been any change in surplus notes compared to the prior year-end? If yes, indicate the 
current and prior year-end balances and the amount of the change. Also comment on any notes 
issued, principal or interest paid, or any other changes that have been made and whether any 
necessary approvals were obtained.   

 

gh. Is the amount of any individual non-invested asset category greater than 10 percent of total 
admitted assets? If yes, indicate the asset category and amount. 

 

hi. Has any individual asset category, which is greater than 5 percent of total assets (excluding 
separate accounts), changed by greater than +/-20 percent from the prior year? If yes, indicate the 
asset category, current year-end balance and the percentage change from the prior year. The 
analyst should also consider shifts within individual asset categories, such as between investment-
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grade and non-investment-grade bonds, and between publicly traded and privately placed 
securities. 

�

ij. Is the amount of any individual liability category, other than aggregate reserves for life policies 
and contracts, aggregate reserves for accident and health policies and liability for deposit-type 
contracts, greater than 10 percent of total liabilities (excluding separate accounts)? If yes, indicate 
the liability category and amount. 

 

jk. Has any individual liability category, which is greater than 5 percent of total liabilities (excluding 
separate accounts), changed by greater than +/-20 percent from the prior year? If yes, indicate the 
liability category, current year-end balance and the percentage change from the prior year. 

 
Operations Assessment 

 

11. Review the Annual Financial Statement Summary of Operations (page 4). 
 

a. If the absolute value of net income (loss) exceeds 5 percent of capital and surplus, has net income 
(loss) decreased by more than 20 percent or increased by more than 40 percent from the prior 
year? 

 

b. Has any individual income or expense category, for which the current or prior year balance 
exceeded 5 percent of capital and surplus, changed by more than +/-20 percent from the prior 
year? If yes, indicate the income or expense category, current year-end balance, and the 
percentage change from the prior year. 

 

c. Has any individual capital and surplus account category changed by more than +/-10 percent 
from prior year-end? If yes, indicate the capital and surplus category, current year-end balance 
change and the percent change from the prior year. 

 

d. Are net unrealized capital gains/(losses) more than 10 percent of prior year-end capital and 
surplus? 

   
12. Review the Annual Financial Statement of Cash Flow (page 5). Is net cash from operations negative? 
 
13. Evaluate any material ceded reinsurance as reported in Schedule S, Part 3 - Reinsurance Ceded and 

review all General Interrogatories and Notes to Financials pertaining to reinsurance and note any areas of 
concern. 

 
Investment Practices 
 

14. Evaluate the insurer’s investment management practices. 
 

a. Review General Interrogatory #14. Has the purchase or sale of any investments not been 
approved by the board of directors or a subordinate committee thereof? 

 

b. Review General Interrogatory #22.1 and #22.2. Were any securities owned, over which the 
insurer has exclusive control, not in the actual possession of the insurer, except as shown by the 
Schedule of Special Deposits? 

 

c. Review General Interrogatory #23.1 and #23.2. Were any assets owned by the insurer not 
exclusively under the control of the insurer? If yes, indicate the amount at December 31 of 
current year. 

 

d. Review General Interrogatory #19.1 and #19.2. Were any assets subject to a contractual 
obligation to transfer to another party without the liability for such obligation being reported? If 
yes, indicate the amount at December 31 of the current year. 
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15. Review the Annual Financial Statement Summary Investment Schedule (page 20). Note any unusual 

items or areas that indicate further review is warranted. 
 
16. Review the Supplemental Investment Risks Interrogatories. Note any unusual items that would indicate a 

nondiversified portfolio or inappropriate liquidity. 
 

17. Review the Annual Financial Statement Schedule E, Part 3 - Special Deposits. Is the book/adjusted 
carrying value of total special deposits greater than 10 percent of assets? 
 

Review of Disclosures 
 

18. Review the Annual Financial Statement Notes to Financial Statements (page 19).  
 

a. Have any notes required per the NAIC’s Annual Statement Instructions for Life and Health 
Insurance Companies been omitted? 

 

b. Provide an explanation for any unusual or significant items noted. 
 
19. Review the Annual Financial Statement General Interrogatories (page 21) and note any unusual 

responses.  
 
Assessment of Latest Examination Report and Results 
 

20. Review General Interrogatory #3 and determine if a financial examination report was released by the 
 domiciliary state since the last review. 
 

a. As of what balance sheet date is/was the latest financial examination of the insurer? 
 

b. As of what balance sheet date is the latest financial examination report available from either the 
state of domicile or the insurer? 

 

c. As of what release date is the latest financial examination report available from either the state of 
domicile or the insurer? 

d. Have any financial statement adjustments within the latest financial examination report not been 
accounted for in a subsequent financial statement filed with the Department?     

e. Have any of the recommendations within the latest financial examination report not been 
complied with? 

If yes, or if follow-up was required from the review of the examination report in a previous analysis period, 
complete the following procedures. 

 

f. If the answers to 20.d. or 20.e. are yes, follow up with the insurer regarding the implementation 
of recommendations in the Financial Examination Report. 

 

g. Assess the current and future impact of any financial statement adjustments on the insurer’s 
financial condition. 

 
21. During the review of the latest state examination report, the results from that examination and 

communication with the examiner-in-charge (for domestic insurers), did the analyst note any items or 
areas that indicate further review is warranted? 

 
22. Follow up and document on any management letter comments that should be addressed in the current 

period, if applicable. 
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Assessment of Results from Prioritization & Analytical Tools 
 

23. Review the insurer’s NAIC Annual Scoring System results.  
 

a. Indicate the insurer’s total annual score. 
 

b. Provide an explanation on each individual ratio result that received a score of 50 points or more. 
 
24. Review the insurer’s IRIS ratio results.  

 

a. Indicate the number of ratio results that fall outside the usual range.  
 

b. Provide an explanation on each of the ratios that fall outside the usual range. 
 
25. Review and understand the assigned Analyst Team System Validated Level. 
 
26. Review the NAIC Annual Financial Profile Report, and provide an explanation for any unusual or 

significant fluctuations or trends noted.  
 
27. Review any market conduct information, including information available from the state’s market analysis 

department (such as the Market Analysis Chief or the Collaborative Action Designee), and the NAIC 
market analysis tools and databases (MAP, ETS, MARS, RIRS, SAD, MITS, and Complaints). The 
analyst should note any unusual items that translate into financial risks or indicate further review and/or 
additional communication is needed with the Department’s market analysis staff. 

 
Assessment of Supplemental Filings 
 

28. During the review of the Statement of Actuarial Opinion, did the analyst note any unusual items or areas 
that indicate further review is warranted?   

 
29. During the review of the Management’s Discussion and Analysis, did the analyst note any unusual items 

or areas that indicate further review is warranted (April 1st Filing)?  
 
30. During the review of the Audited Financial Report, did the analyst note any unusual items or areas that 

indicate further review is warranted (June 1st Filing)?  
 
31. Review the most recent Annual Financial Statement of the insurer’s holding company and its subsidiaries 

and holding company filings (such as Forms A, B, D, E (or Other Required Information) and 
Extraordinary Dividend/Distribution and SEC forms 10-K and 8-K) if available.  

 

a. During the review, did the analyst note any new or unusual items or areas of concern that may 
potentially impact the insurer?  

 

b. If other insurers within the group exist, note any communication with the domestic state 
insurance departments for those affiliated insurers. 
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Recommendation for Further Analysis 
 

Based on the Level 1 procedures performed, do you recommend that the Level 2, 3 or Supplemental Annual 
Procedures or other procedures listed below be completed? If yes, indicate the sections that you recommend be 
completed: 
 
A. Perform Level 2 and/or Level 3 Procedures: 
 

All Sections  
Investments  
Life Reserves  
Accident and Health Reserves  
Annuity Reserves  
Income Statement and Surplus  
Risk-Based Capital  
Cash Flow and Liquidity  
Reinsurance  
Affiliated Transactions  
MGAs and TPAs  
Separate Accounts  

 
B. Perform Supplemental Procedures: 

 

Annual Audited Financial Reports  
Statement of Actuarial Opinion  
Management’s Discussion and Analysis  
Holding Company Analysis  

Form A  
Form B  
Form D  
Form E, (or Other Required Information)  
Extraordinary Dividend/Distribution  

 
C. Request and review the current business plan and financial projections. 
 

i. If significant changes in the business plan or philosophy have occurred, assess the insurer’s 
ability to attain these expectations. 

 

ii. Determine if actual results are tracking with projection and note any significant variances and the 
reason(s). 

 
Summary and Conclusion 
 

Develop and document an overall summary and conclusion based on the analysis findings within Level 1, 2, 3, 
and Supplemental Procedures. In developing a conclusion, the analyst should consider the above procedures, as 
well as any other factors that, in the analyst’s judgment, are relevant to evaluating the insurer’s overall financial 
condition. The summary and conclusion should include details regarding the insurer’s strengths and weaknesses. 
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In addition, update the Insurer Profile Summary, including the Supervisory Plan, if applicable, for the results of 
the analysis performed. 
 
Do you recommend that the insurer be designated a priority as a result of the procedures performed? If yes, 
indicate the recommended priority designation and rationale. 
 
Describe the rationale for these recommendations. 

 

Analyst ________________ Date ________ 
 
Comments as a result of supervisory review. 

 

Reviewer _______________ Date ________ 
 

Correspondence 
 

The analyst should document any follow-up regarding the Level 1, 2, 3, and Supplemental Procedures. 
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Financial Analysis Handbook – Annual 2009 / Quarterly 2010 
 

V. Supplemental Procedures – A. Audited Financial Report 
 
Audit Committee 
 
16. Effective January 1, 2010, every insurer is required to have designated an Audit Committee, a percentage 

of whose memberswhich should be independent from the insurer depending upon premium volumes.  
 

a. Has the insurer established an Audit Committee? 
 

b. Does the Audit Committee membership meet independence requirements of the domicilary state 
insurance laws? 

 
 

Financial Analysis Handbook – Annual 2009 / Quarterly 2010 
 

III. Analysts Reference Guide – C.1. Audited Financial Reports  
 

Audit Committee 
 

Procedure #16 is intended to verify that thatthe insurer has established an audit committee as required 
onat January 1, 2010. As of this date, every insurer is required to file an audited financial report shall also 
be required to have designated an audit committee.  The procedures also asks the analyst to verify theat 
audit committee membership meets state requirements.  

 
Revisions to the Annual Financial Reporting Model Regulation (Model Audit Rule)  
– Effective January 1, 2010 
 
Amendments to the Annual Financial Reporting Model Regulation, commonly known as the Model Audit Rule, 
become effective on January 1, 2010. The purpose of this regulation is to improve a state’s surveillance of the 
financial condition of insurers by requiring an independent annual audit of the financial statements by Certified 
Public Accountants. The revisions deal with primarily three areas: auditor independence, corporate governance 
and internal control over financial reporting. 
 
Auditor Independence 
Significant revisions to the model related to auditor independence are as follows: 
 
� The lead audit partner may not serve in that capacity for more than five consecutive years and may not rejoin 

in that capacity for a period for more than five consecutive years. Previously, the requirement was seven and 
two years, respectively. 

 
� Includes various non-audit services that, if performed by the auditor, would impair the auditor’s independence 

in relation to that company. Insurers with less than $100 million in direct and assumed premium may request 
a waiver from this requirement based on financial or organizational hardship. 

 
� Partners and senior managers of the audit engagement may not serve as a member of the Board of Directors, 

President, Chief Executive Officer, Controller, Chief Financial Officer or other similar position of the insurer 
if employed by the independent public accounting firm that audited the insurer during the one-year period 
which preceded the most current statutory opinion. 

 
Corporate Responsibility/Governance 
Significant revisions to the model related to corporate responsibility/governance are as follows: 
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� Every insurer required to file an audited financial report shall also be required to have an audit committee that 
is directly responsible for the appointment, oversight and compensation of the auditor. Insurers with less than 
$500 million in direct and assumed premium may apply for a waiver from this requirement based on hardship. 

 
� Based on various premium thresholds, a certain percentage of the audit committee members must be 

independent from the insurer. However, if domiciliary law requires board participation by otherwise non-
independent members, such law shall prevail and such members may participate in the audit committee. 

 
Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
Significant revisions to the model related to internal control over financial reporting are as follows: 
 
� Management of insurance companies with more than $500 million in direct and assumed premium shall file a 

report with the state insurance department regarding its assessment of internal control over financial reporting. 
This report will include a statement by management whether these controls are effective to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliability of the statutory financial statements and disclosure of any unremediated 
material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting. At this premium threshold, nearly 90% of all 
premiums are captured with only 40% of companies needing to comply with the requirements, a vast majority 
of which are already SEC registrants. In fact, at this premium threshold, only 6% of non-public companies 
would have to comply with the proposed internal control reporting requirements. That is only 190 companies 
out of a population of 3,061.  

 
� No CPA attestation (or opinion) will be required of management’s assessment. This CPA attestation can be 

costly, and the elimination of such emphasizes the regulator’s understanding of the need to balance the costs 
and benefits.  

 
With the exception of Audit Committee requirements as discussed in procedure #16 above, these amendments do 
not impact 2009 Annual Financial Analysis Handbook procedures. However analysts should be aware that 
changes to the Annual 2010 Financial Analysis Handbook guidance and procedures are anticipated. 
 
2010 annual statement instructions will refer to state statutes or regulations that require an annual audit of their insurance 
companies by an independent certified public accountant based on the NAIC’s Annual Financial Reporting Model 
Regulation. For guidance regarding this model, see the Implementation Guide for the Annual Financial Reporting Model 
Regulation in Appendix G of the Accounting Practices and Procedures Manual.  
 
 
Additional Reference Sources 
 

1. Annual Statement Instructions for Life, Accident and Health Insurance Companies, NAIC. 
 

2. 2. Annual Financial Reporting Model RegulationModel Rule (Regulation) Requiring Audited Financial 
Reports, Model Laws, Regulations and Guidelines, NAIC. 

 

3. Accounting Practices and Procedures Manual, NAIC 
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Financial Analysis Handbook – Annual 2009 / Quarterly 2010 
 

V. Supplemental Procedures – D. Holding Company Analysis 
3. Review the insurer’s General Interrogatories, Part 1, #8.1 thru #8.4 and identify other regulatory bodies 

that have authority over the group; Federal Reserve, Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, Office of 
Thrift Supervision, etc. 

 

Identify the following: 

��Controlling federal regulatory services agency 

��Any federally regulated action taken 

��Any communication between state and federal regulators that has been planned or initiated    
 

Financial Analysis Handbook – Annual 2009 / Quarterly 2010 
 

III. Analyst Reference Guide – C4. Holding Company Analysis 
Understanding the Lead State Role 
 

It is important for the analyst to understand the concept of a lead state in order to determine how states 
coordinate regulatory activities in their review of insurance groups. Typically, the lead state is the state where 
the parent company is domiciled or, if there is no insurance parent, the state where the largest (as determined 
by direct premiums written volume reported in the most recently filed Annual Financial Statement) insurance 
subsidiary is domiciled. The passage of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act (GLBA) stresses the importance of a 
lead state. It also may be necessary for other financial regulators, including the Federal Reserve Bank and 
other federal and state banking agencies and securities regulators, to identify a central point of contact. State 
regulators should communicate with federal regulators if the insurance company is affiliated with a bank, 
thrift or security firm that reports to a federal agency. Communication between state and federal regulators 
will allow for more effective and efficient regulation on key issues impacting the insurer or financial 
institution. 
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Financial Analyst Role 
 

During the risk-focused surveillance approach, the financial analyst role is to provide continuous off-site 
monitoring of a society’s financial condition, monitoring internal/external changes relating to all aspects of the 
society, maintaining a prioritization system and working with the examination staff to develop an ongoing 
Supervisory Plan, as well as update the Insurer Profile Summary, if applicable. 
 
Overview of Level 1 Procedures 
 

The objective of the Level 1 Procedures is to perform a sufficient level of analysis of all domestic societies in 
order to derive an overall assessment that highlights areas where a more detailed analysis, as found in the Level 2 
Procedures, may be necessary. As part of the Level 1 Analysis, the analyst will review the society’s NAIC Annual 
Scoring System Report, IRIS ratios, Analyst Team Validated Level, and RBC results, and the information 
included in the NAIC Financial Profile Report. The Level 1 Procedures require the analyst to review the prior 
year’s analysis of the society and to perform a general review of the current year’s Annual Financial Statement, 
along with an assessment of supplemental filings, including the Audited Financial Report, Statement of Actuarial 
Opinion, Management’s Disscussion & Analysis (MD&A), and the various holding company filings (e.g., 10-K, 
Form A, etc.).  
 
The analyst should have a firm understanding of the following risk classifications: 

• Credit - Amounts actually collected or collectible are less than those contractually due.  
• Market - Movement in market rates or prices (such as interest rates, foreign exchanges rates or equity 

prices) adversely affects the reported and/or market value of investments. 
• Pricing/Underwriting - Pricing and underwriting practices are inadequate to provide for risks assumed. 
• Reserving - Actual losses or other contractual payments reflected in reported reserves or other liabilities 

will be greater than estimated. 
• Liquidity - Inability to meet contractual obligations as they become due because of an inability to 

liquidate assets or obtain adequate funding without incurring unacceptable losses. 
• Operational - Operational problems such as inadequate information systems, breaches in internal 

controls, fraud or unforeseen catastrophes resulting in unexpected losses. 
• Legal - Non-conformance with laws, rules, regulations, prescribed practices or ethical standards in any 

jurisdiction in which the entity operates will result in a disruption in business and financial loss. 
• Strategic - Inability to implement appropriate business plans, to make decisions, to allocate resources or 

to adapt to changes in the business environment will adversely affect competitive position and financial 
condition.  

• Reputational - Negative publicity, whether true or not, causes a decline in the customer base, costly 
litigation and/or revenue reductions. 

 
A prospective risk is a residual risk that impacts future operations of a society. These anticipated risks arise due to 
assessments of company management and/or operations or risks associated with future business plans. Types of 
risks may include underwriting, investments, claims, and reinsurance. The analyst’s understanding of the above 
nine risk classifications includes an assessment of the level of that risk and the ability of the society to 
appropriately manage the risk during the current period and prospectively. These prospective risks require 
assessment and identification of how they may evolve related to the society’s overall risk profile. Understanding 
how risks that may or may not appear urgent now will potentially impact future operations and how management 
plans to address those risks is key to prospective risk analysis. The assessment of these nine risk classifications 
both currently and prospectively should be part of the quantitative and qualitative analysis completed within the 
Level 1, 2, 3 and Supplemental procedures. The Financial Condition Examiners Handbook provides guidance on 
prospective risks within Exhibit O—Examples of Risks and Exhibit V—Prospective Risk Assessment. 
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At the conclusion of the Level 1 Procedures, the analyst is asked to document an overall summary and conclusion 
regarding the financial condition of the society, as well as the society’s strengths and weaknesses, and to 
determine whether the society be considered a priority company, and whether one or more of the procedures in 
the Level 2 Procedures equivalent to the Life/A&H Handbook should be completed. Because some items, such as 
the Audited Financial Report and the various holding company filings are not required to be filed until after most 
of the annual review is completed, the analyst will document a conclusion based on the Level 1 Annual 
Procedures and the current analysis of the society. The Audited Financial Report and various holding company 
filings should be reviewed upon receipt and, if additional concerns are noted, the conclusion or the first quarter 
conclusion should be revised to reflect the most recent information. Similarly, as the analyst completes the Level 
2 Procedures, the Level 1 conclusion should be reviewed and revised as necessary with any follow-up information 
or similar updates made to the first quarter conclusion. At the completion of the analysis process, including any 
Level 1, 2, 3 or Supplemental Procedures, the analyst should update the Insurer Profiles Summary, if applicable, 
and communicate with financial examination staff. 
 
Insurer Profile Summary 
 

The Insurer Profile Summary is a “living document” maintained by the state of domicile to “house” summaries of 
risk-focused examinations, financial analysis, internal and external changes, priority scores, supervisory plans, 
and other standard information.   
 
Analysts are involved in all phases of the Risk-Focused Surveillance approach. There should be a continuous 
exchange of information between examiners and analysts to ensure that all members of the department are 
properly informed of solvency issues related to the society. The analyst should work with the examination staff to 
update the Insurer Profile Summary, including the Supervisory Plan, if applicable. The Supervisory Plan should 
be developed using the most recent examinations and annual and quarterly analysis results. As the lead state, the 
department should coordinate the ongoing surveillance of companies within the group with input from other 
affected states (with the understanding that the domestic state has the ultimate authority over the regulation of the 
domestic society under its jurisdiction). The Supervisory Plan should include the type of surveillance planned, the 
resources dedicated to the oversight, and the coordination with other states. 
 
Continual Review Process 
 

The above-mentioned review of the Annual Financial Report and the Holding Company Analysis Procedures 
highlights the importance of a continual review process. This ongoing review process is obvious in these cases but 
is also necessary in other areas. For example, to the extent that an analyst completes the Level 1 Procedures for a 
society and has concerns with its reserves, the analyst would complete additional procedures equivalent to 
Life/A&H Procedures for Reserves. Upon completion of the Level 2 Procedures, the analyst may have additional 
concerns and would complete the the equivalent of Life/A&H Level 3 Procedures for Reserves. This analysis may 
result in questions posed to the society and additional information being supplied to the analyst.  
 
In some cases, the state may choose to perform a more in-depth analysis of the society’s reserves, such as a 
targeted examination. This is just one of the many recommendations that could result from the ongoing analysis 
of a society. Other recommendations include 1) requesting additional information from the society, 2) obtaining 
the society’s business plan, 3) requesting additional interim reporting, 4) engaging an independent expert, 5) 
meeting with the society’s management, and 6) obtaining a corrective action plan from the society. These specific 
recommendations are included in the Financial Analysis Framework section of the Handbook and represent just a 
few of the potential actions that could result from the ongoing analysis of a society. 
 
Regardless of the final outcome, the results of the ongoing analysis of the society should be documented in the 
appropriate level of the analysis, including the Level 1 conclusion, if applicable. 
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Financial Examination Assessment 
 

In performing the procedures related to financial examinations, the analyst should review the Supervisory Plan 
and Insurer Profile Summary for additional information obtained through the risk-focused surveillance approach. 
Communication and/or coordination with other departments is crucial during the consideration of these 
procedures. The analyst should also consider the society’s corporate governance, which includes the assessment 
of the risk environment facing the society in order to identify current or prospective solvency risks, oversight 
provided by the board of directors, and the effectiveness of management, including the code of conduct 
established by the board. 
 
The fundamental purposes of a full scope financial condition examination report are: 1) to assess the financial 
condition of the company; and 2) to set forth findings of fact (together with citations of pertinent laws, regulations 
and rules) with regard to any material adverse findings disclosed by the examination. The report on examination 
should be structured and written to communicate to regulatory officials examination findings of regulatory 
importance. This type of communcation includes management letter comments and performace audit comments, 
where appropriate. 
 
These comments are similar to management letter comments frequently made by CPA firms as a result of their 
audit. Many insolvencies have been caused by mismanagement. When examiners identify systems, or operational 
or management problems that exist, performance audit comments are an opportunity to alert management and 
other readers of the financial examination report to problems that, if left uncorrected, could ultimately lead to 
insolvency. 
 
Performance audit comments generally contain the following information: 1) a concise statement of the problem 
found; 2) the factors which caused or created the problem; 3) the materiality of the problem and its effect on the 
financial statements; 4) the financial condition of the society or the society’s operations; and 5) the examiner’s 
recommendation to the society regarding what should be done to correct the problem. 
 
The effectiveness of the financial examination process is enhanced if effective follow-up procedures have been 
established by the domiciliary state insurance department. Periodically, after a financial examination report has 
been issued, inquiries should be made to the society to determine the extent to which corrective actions have been 
taken on report recommendations and criticisms. Because the examiners have usually moved on to another 
examination, many states utilize the financial analysts to perform this function. A lack of satisfactory corrective 
action by the society may be cause for further regulatory action. 
 
Risk-Focused Examinations 
 

The concept of risk in the risk-focused examination encompasses not only risk as of the examination date, but 
risks that extend or commence during the time in which the examination was conducted, and risks which are 
anticipated to arise or extend past the point of completion of the examination. Risks in addition to the financial 
reporting risks may be reviewed as part of the examination process.  
 
The risk-focused examination anticipates that risk assessment may extend through all seven phases of the 
examination. 

• Phase 1 – Understand the Company and Identify Key Functional Activities to be Reviewed—Researching 
key business processes and business units. 

• Phase 2 – Identify and Assess Inherent Risk In Activities—These risks include credit, market, 
pricing/underwriting, reserving, liquidity, operational, legal, strategic and reputational. 

• Phase 3 – Identify and Evaluate Risk Mitigation Strategies/Controls—These strategies/controls include 
management oversight, policies and procedures, risk measurement, control monitoring, and compliance 
with laws. 
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• Phase 4 – Determine Residual Risk—Once this risk is determined, the examiner can determine where to 
focus resources most effectively. 

• Phase 5 – Establish/Conduct Examination Procedures—Upon completion of risk assessment, determine 
nature and extent of the examination. 

• Phase 6 – Update Prioritization and Supervisory Plan—Incorporate the material findings of the risk 
assessment and examination in the determination of the prioritization and supervisory plan. 

• Phase 7 – Draft Examination Report and Management Letter Based on Findings—Incorporate into the 
examination report and management letter the results and observations noted during the examination. 

 
The goals of the risk-focused examinations are to: 

• Assess the quality and reliability of corporate governance to identify, assess and manage the risk 
environment facing the society in order to identify current or prospective solvency risk areas. By 
understanding the corporate governance structure and assessing the “tone at the top,” the examiner will 
obtain information on the quality of guidance and oversight provided by the board of directors and the 
effectiveness of management, including the code of conduct established in cooperation with the board. 
To assist in this assessment, examiners may utilize board and audit committee minutes; list of critical 
management and operating committees, their members and meeting frequencies; and Sarbanes-Oxley 
filings and initiatives, as applicable. 

• Assess the risk that a company’s surplus is materially misstated. 
 
Discussion of Level 1 Annual Procedures 
 

Level 1 Annual Procedures are designed to identify potential areas of concern. As noted above, the principal areas 
of focus in the Level 1 Annual Procedures include the overall analysis of the society and its operations. The 
following provides a brief description of the purpose of each procedure. 
 
Background Analysis  
 

Procedure #1 provides guidance to the analyst in determining if any conclusions reached in the prior year analysis 
of the society should be considered in the work to be completed in the current year. Areas of concern noted in the 
prior year should be reviewed carefully in the current year. Societies who were classified as priority companies in 
the prior year—either by the state’s priority designation, the Scoring System results, the Analyst Team System 
Validated Level, or the RBC ratio—should be reviewed carefully in the current year. The analyst should review 
the Insurer Profile Summary, including the Supervisory Plan, if applicable, for any concerns or risks that may 
require additional attention during the current analysis being performed. 
 
Procedure #2 alerts the analyst to review all inter-departmental communciation, as well as communication with 
other state insurance departments and the society. Internal communication may include departments such as 
examination, licensing and admissions, consumer affairs, rate filings, policy/forms analysis, agents’ licensing, 
legal, and market conduct. It may be necessary to communicate with other state departments if a multi-state 
domestic society writes a significant amount of business in other states. Additional communciation with the 
society throughout the year should be reviewed to identify any items or areas that may require special attention 
during the analysis process. Refer to the introductory chapters for further discussion on internal and external 
communication. 
 
Procedure #3 directs the analyst to determine if significant changes in the society’s organizational structure or 
management have occured. Changes such as these can have a significant impact on the ongoing operations of the 
society. While organizational and management changes alone may not indicate a problem, knowledge of these 
changes may help the analyst understand other changes and potential problems, such as a significant growth in 
premiums written. Additionally, the analyst should verify that Form A or additional filings have been approved. 
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Procedure #4 requires the analyst to review General Interrogatories, Part 1, #6.1 and #6.2, to determine whether 
the society had any Certificates of Authority, licenses or registrations (including corporate registration if 
applicable) suspended or revoked by any governmental entity during the reporting period and investigate the 
reason(s) for the action(s). 
 
Procedure #5 directs the analyst to identify if there are recent changes in the state’s statutes and regulations that 
could have an impact on the society’s financial results or business profile. If so, to the extent that information is 
available regarding the new statute or regulation, the analyst should determine if the society has complied with 
any new state statutes and/or regulations that have been enacted during the period. 
 
Procedure #6 requires the analyst to review the most recent rating agency report. In many cases, a rating agency 
downgrade may have an impact on the society’s ability to generate new business or to retain existing business. 
The significance of the impact of a downgrade is generally dependent upon the type of product sold by the society 
and the level of the rating given by the agency. 
 
Procedure #7 directs the analyst to review any industry reports, news releases or any emerging issues that have 
the potential to negatively impact the society. An example might include regulatory or media scrutiny of certain 
insurance lines of business, whether related to market conduct or financial issues. Another example would be 
changes in the economic environment that may negatively impact investment returns or result in material capital 
losses.  
 
Procedure #8 directs the analyst to review the business plan of the society if it is available from recent 
surveillance activity, such as previous analysis or examinations, and if a review of the business plan is considered 
necessary based on the society’s priority designation and financial condition. If reviewed, the analyst should 
assess if the plan is consistent with current operations and expectations of projected results. For example, consider 
if the society is writing more or less premium or different lines of buiness than outlined in the plan. Consider if 
the plan is consistent with changes in the makets or geographical areas where business is being written, or new 
licenses obtained to write business. The analyst should assess significant variances in the business plan through 
review of the plan and/or through communication with the society. If a business plan is not available or current 
and, based on the analysis performed, the analyst feels it is necessary to request a business plan and recommend 
further analysis in this area, a procedure exists at the end of Level 1 within the Recommendations for Further 
Analysis section. 
 
Management Assessment 
 

Procedure #9 assists the analyst in determining if changes in the society’s management or board of directors have 
occurred. Changes such as these can have a significant impact on the ongoing operations of the society and 
management philosophy. Changes in the board of directors may also indicate changes in the audit committee. 
When assessing management, the analyst should take into consideration not only the changes in management but 
also the analyst’s and examiner’s knowledge about the current management team and any concerns that may exist 
regarding management. While management changes alone may not indicate a problem, knowledge of these 
changes may help the analyst understand other potential problems. 
 
With regard to corporate governance, there are many aspects that require consideration such as:  adequate 
competency; independent and adequate involvement of the board of directors; multiple channels of 
communication; code of conduct between the board and management; sound strategic and financial objectives; 
support from relevent business planning; reliable risk management processes; sound principles of conduct; 
reporting of findings to the board; adoption of Sarbanes-Oxley provisions; and board oversight and approval of 
executive compensation and performance evaluations. 
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The analyst should review the biographical affidavit for any new officers, directors or trustees; follow up on any 
unusual items or areas of concern; and consider whether changes identified will alter management philosophy. 
The analyst should pay close attention to responses regarding any suspensions, revocations, or non-approval of 
licenses, conflicts of interest, civil actions, or criminal violations, and follow-up on any areas of concern. 
Communication with other state insurance departments may be necessary if the officer previously worked for a 
society domiciled in another state.  
 
Balance Sheet Assessment 
 

Procedure #10 directs the analyst in identifying significant changes in a society’s assets, liabilities, and surplus. 
Significant changes identified in procedure #10 should be explained, to the extent possible. The procedure also 
assists the analyst in determining if the overall amount of surplus continues to meet Risk Based Capital (RBC) 
requirements. RBC creates a minimum standard for surplus. Generally, an analyst should be careful not to extend 
the use of the RBC beyond its intent. For example, a society with a 600 percent RBC ratio is not necessarily 
stronger than a society with a 500 percent RBC ratio. 
 
Operations Assessment 
 

Procedure #11 assists the analyst in identifying significant changes in a society’s Statement of Income. Shifts in 
net income could indicate a change in premium earned, a change in benefits incurred, or other more complex 
issues that require further investigation. For this reason, it is critical that the analyst understand material changes 
within each income and expense category. 
 
Procedure #12 assists the analyst in identifying unusual results in a society’s Cash Flow. During the review of the 
cash flow statement, the analyst should understand shifts in cash inflows and cash outflows that impact cash from 
operations. The analyst should also investigate investment acquisitions and dispositions, the society’s investment 
strategies, and the origin of other sources of cash. 
 
Procedure #13 requires the analyst to identify material ceded reinsurance as reported in Schedule S, Part 3– 
Reinsurance Ceded, and review all General Interrogatories and Notes to Financial Statements pertaining to 
reinsurance. The analyst should understand the society’s reinsurance programs and identify any credit risks. In 
addition, the analyst should be aware of the types of collateral held for reinsurance with unauthorized reinsurers. 
 
Investment Practices 
 

Procedure #14 assists the analyst in identifying unusual investment management practices of the society. These 
steps are specifically designed to assist the analyst in determining if the society has the proper control over its 
investments.  
 
Procedure #15 requires the analyst to review the Summary Investment Schedule to determine if the society uses 
any unusual methods for valuing its invested assets. The Summary Investment Schedule provides a comparison 
between the gross investment holdings, as valued in accordance with the AP&P Manual, and the admitted assets, 
as valued in accordance with the state of domicile’s basis of accounting. This schedule should be reviewed in 
conjunction with Note #1 of the Annual Financial Statement, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, 
Section A. 
 
Procedure #16 requires the analyst to review the Supplemental Investment Risks Interrogatories to determine 
whether the society’s investment portfolio is adequately diversified with the appropriate level of liquidity to meet 
cash flow requirements. 
 
Procedure #17 assists the analyst in determining the amount of assets held as deposits with the states. These 
deposits are placed with the states to secure the settlement of the society’s obligations to policyholders, claimants 
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and others. Societies with greater than 10 percent of their assets held as deposits with states may hold greater 
liquidity risk in certain situations. 
 
Review of Disclosures 
 

Procedure #18 requires the analyst to review the Notes to Financial Statements to assist in identifying any 
relevent quantitative and qualitative information.   
 
Procedure #19 requires the analyst to review the General Interrogatories to assist in identifying any unusual 
responses.  
 
Assessment of Latest Examination Report and Results 
 

Procedures #20, 21 and 22 assist the analyst in gathering specific information related to the society’s most recent 
financial examination. During a review of the examination report, the analyst should note any items or areas that 
indicate further review is necessary. This might include such things as internal controls issues, risk management, 
information technology or other issues that could impact the society’s priority. The analyst should also review the 
management letter comments, which may include risks or progress on issues that the analyst should give attention 
to the current analysis being performed. Effective communication between the analyst and the examination staff 
can be very important in developing a good understanding of the society’s management and financial position. As 
an example, the examination staff may have specific information on the reliability of the society’s financial 
reporting. In addition, the analyst may want to utilize the Exam Tracking System on I-SITE. The analyst should 
consider the impact, if any, of the Financial Examination Report findings on the conclusions reached as a result of 
the analysis of the Annual Financial Statement and consider the need to perform additional analysis (i.e., complete 
additional supplemental procedures). 
 
Assessment of Results from Prioritization and Analytical Tools 
 

Procedure #23 requires the analyst to review the IRIS ratio results of the society, which can assist in identifying 
any unusual financial results.  
 
Unusual IRIS ratios and Annual Scoring ratio results should be explained, to the extent possible, by the analyst. If 
changes cannot be explained or if certain changes appear to be inconsistent with the analyst’s understanding of the 
society and its operations, additional analysis is suggested. 
 
Procedure #24 requires the analyst to review and understand the assigned Analyst Team System Validated Level, 
documented within the ATS Report and the ATS Validated Level Report on I-SITE. In addition, the analyst can 
reference the ATS Procedures Manual and ATS Level Definitions documents on I-SITE. The Analyst Team 
typically completes the validation process by mid-April. 
 
Procedure #25 requires the analyst to review the Annual Financial Profile Report, which can assist in identifying 
unusual trends and results.  
 
Procedure #26 alerts the analyst to review communication they have engaged in with the market analysis unit of 
the Department, including the results of market conduct exams as well as information drawn from the review of 
market analysis tools available on I-SITE. Market analysis tools available on I-SITE include Market Analysis 
Profile (MAP), Examination Tracking System (ETS), Market Analysis Review System (MARS), Regulatory 
Information Retrieval System (RIRS), Special Activities Database (SAD), Market Initiative Tracking System 
(MITS) and the Complaints Database. Analysts should review any market conduct issues identified by market 
analysis staff or I-SITE tools and consider the financial implications those issues may have on the society. For 
example, large fines levied by states, suspensions or revokations of licenses, market conduct exam settlements 
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(whether financial or other), or other regulatory actions taken based on market conduct violations, may have a 
material impact on the financial solvency of the society.  
 
Assessment of Supplemental Filings 
 

Procedure #28 requires the analyst to review the Statement of Actuarial Opinion to assess the adequacy of the 
society’s reserves. See the Statement of Actuarial Opinion Supplemental Procedures for additional guidance in 
this area. 
 
Procedure #28 requires the analyst to review the MD&A, which can provide additional information to the 
analysis of the society. See the MD&A Supplemental Procedures for additional guidance in this area.  
 
Procedure #29 requires the analyst to review the Audited Financial Report, which helps to assess the reliance 
placed on the validity of the society’s financial statements. The Audited Financial Report also contains additional 
financial information that is generally not included in the Annual Financial Statement and can be helpful to the 
analyst. See the Audited Financial Report Supplemental Procedures for additional guidance in this area.  
 
Procedure #30 requires the analyst to review the most recent financial statement of the holding company, as filed 
in the SEC 10-K Report. In addition, the analyst should review Forms A, B, D, E and Extraordinary 
Dividends/Distributions, if available.  
 
Discussion of Level 1 Quarterly Procedures 
 

The Level 1 Quarterly Procedures are designed to help the analyst perform a general review of the society and its 
operations. The quarterly procedures are similar to the annual procedures because they are mostly broad-based 
questions; however, the quarterly procedures include questions that focus primarily on changes from the prior 
year. At the conclusion of the quarterly Level 1 Procedures, the analyst is asked to do the following: 1) develop 
and document an overall summary and conclusion regarding the financial condition of the society; 2) determine 
whether the society be condisered a priority company; and 3) indicate whether one or more of the procedures in 
the Level 2 Quarterly Procedures equivalent to the Life/A&H Handbook should be completed. As with the annual 
review, the quarterly Level 1 conclusion should be reviewed and revised as necessary when subsequent 
procedures and follow-up with the society are completed. 
 
Additional Reference Sources 
 

1. Financial Condition Examiners Handbook, NAIC. 
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Life/A&H Financial Analysis Handbook – Annual 2009 / Quarterly 2010 
 

IV. Level 1 Annual Procedures for Fraternal Societies 
 

 

Background Analysis 
 

1. Review the analysis performed on the society for the prior year and prior quarters. 
 

a. Indicate the state’s priority designation or any prioritization tool result as of the last review and 
start of the current review:  

 

State’s Priority Designation _____ 
        IRIS System Results _____ 

Analyst Team System Validated Level _____ 
RBC Ratio _____ 

 

b. Were there any issues or concerns noted in previous annual or quarterly analysis completed in the 
prior year? If “yes,” discuss the issues or concerns, the follow-up conducted, and include any 
correspondence with the society, along with any conclusions. 

 

c. As the domestic regulator, review the Insurer Profile Summary, including the Supervisory Plan, if 
applicable, and document any areas of concern that impact the current analysis. 

 
2. Review any inter-departmental communication, as well as communication with other state insurance 

departments and the society. Note any unusual items or areas that indicate further review or follow-up is 
necessary. 

 
3. Review General Interrogatory #5.1 and #5.2. Has the society been a party to a merger or consolidation? If 

yes, review the list of the companies involved in the merger/consolidation, noting any observations.  Also, 
ensure Form A or additional filings have been approved. 

 
4. Review General Interrogatory #6.1 and #6.2. Has the society had any Certificates of Authority, licenses or 

registrations (including corporate registration, if applicable) suspended or revoked by any governmental 
entity during the reporting period? If yes, review the reason(s) stated for the revocation or suspension, 
noting any observations. 

 
5. Are there any changes in the state’s statutes and/or regulations that could impact the society’s financial 

reporting or position? If yes, to the extent information is available, has the society failed to comply with 
the state’s statutes and regulations enacted during the period? 

 
6. Review the most recent report from a nationally recognized rating agency. Also note the current financial 

strength and credit rating, and briefly discuss the explanation of the rating or any change in the rating.  
 
7. Review any industry reports, news releases and emerging issues that have the potential to negatively 

impact the society.   
 

8. Review the most recent business plan and financial projections, if available from recent surveillance 
activity and if considered necessary based on the society’s priority designation and financial condition. 

 

a. If significant changes in business plan or philosophy have occurred, assess the society’s ability to 
 attain the expectations of the business plan. 

 

b. Are actual results consistent with management’s expectations? 
 
Management Assessment 
 

9. Review the Annual Financial Statement Jurat page (page 1). 
 

a. Did the society fail to properly execute and notarize the Jurat page? 
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Life/A&H Financial Analysis Handbook – Annual 2009 / Quarterly 2010 
 

IV. Level 1 Annual Procedures for Fraternal Societies 
 

 

b. Has there been any change(s) in officers, directors or trustees since the previous Annual Financial 
Statement filing (indicated by a "#" after the name)? If yes, indicate the positions in which the 
changes have occurred. Review the Biographical Affidavit(s) for any new officers, directors, or 
trustees indicated above and note any areas of concern that would indicate further review is 
necessary.  

 

�  President 
�  Secretary 
�  Treasurer 
�  Vice Presidents (number: ____) 
�  Directors or Trustees (number: ____) 
�  Other 

 

c. Assess any significant corporate governance changes and determine whether these changes 
appear to indicate a shift in management philosophy, or whether management has made any 
changes in business culture or business plan. 

 
Balance Sheet Assessment 
 

10. Review the Annual Financial Statement Assets (page 2) and Liabilities, Surplus and Other Funds (page 
3). 
 

a. Is surplus below the statutory minimum surplus required? 
 

b. Is surplus less than 5 percent of total admitted assets excluding separate accounts? 
 

c. Has surplus changed by greater than +/-20 percent from the prior year? 
 

d. Is the RBC ratio (total adjusted capital divided by 50% of calculated risk-based capital amount 
shown in the Annual Financial Statement Five-Year Historical Data) less than or equal to 250 
percent? 

 
 

e. Has there been any change in surplus notes compared to the prior year-end? If yes, indicate the 
current and prior year-end balances and the amount of the change. Also comment on any notes 
issued, principal or interest paid, or any other changes that have been made and whether any 
necessary approvals were obtained.   

 

f. Is the amount of any individual non-invested asset category greater than 10 percent of total 
admitted assets? If yes, indicate the asset category and amount. 

 

g. Has any individual asset category, which is greater than 5 percent of total assets (excluding 
separate accounts), changed by greater than +/-20 percent from the prior year? If yes, indicate the 
asset category, current year-end balance and the percentage change from the prior year. The 
analyst should also consider shifts within individual asset categories, such as between investment-
grade and non-investment-grade bonds, and between publicly traded and privately placed 
securities. 

�

i. Is the amount of any individual liability category, other than aggregate reserves for life policies 
and contracts, aggregate reserves for accident and health policies and liability for deposit-type 
contracts, greater than 10 percent of total liabilities (excluding separate accounts)? If yes, indicate 
the liability category and amount. 

 
j. Has any individual liability category, which is greater than 5 percent of total liabilities (excluding 

separate accounts), changed by greater than +/-20 percent from the prior year? If yes, indicate the 
liability category, current year-end balance and the percentage change from the prior year. 
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Life/A&H Financial Analysis Handbook – Annual 2009 / Quarterly 2010 
 

IV. Level 1 Annual Procedures for Fraternal Societies 
 

 

Operations Assessment 
 

11. Review the Annual Financial Statement Summary of Operations (page 4). 
 

a. If the absolute value of net income (loss) exceeds 5 percent of surplus, has net income (loss) 
decreased by more than 20 percent or increased by more than 40 percent from the prior year? 

 

b. Has any individual income or expense category, for which the current or prior year balance 
exceeded 5 percent of surplus, changed by more than +/-20 percent from the prior year? If yes, 
indicate the income or expense category, current year-end balance, and the percentage change 
from the prior year. 

 

c. Has any individual surplus account category changed by more than +/-10 percent from prior year-
end? If yes, indicate the capital and surplus category, current year-end balance change and the 
percent change from the prior year. 

 

d. Are net unrealized capital gains/(losses) more than 10 percent of prior year-end surplus? 
   
12. Review the Annual Financial Statement of Cash Flow (page 5). Is net cash from operations negative? 
 
13. Evaluate any material ceded reinsurance as reported in Schedule S, Part 3 - Reinsurance Ceded and 

review all General Interrogatories and Notes to Financials pertaining to reinsurance and note any areas of 
concern. 

 
Investment Practices 
 

14. Evaluate the society’s investment management practices. 
 

a. Review General Interrogatory #14. Has the purchase or sale of any investments not been 
approved by the board of directors or a subordinate committee thereof? 

 

b. Review General Interrogatory #22.1 and #22.2. Were any securities owned, over which the 
society has exclusive control, not in the actual possession of the society, except as shown by the 
Schedule of Special Deposits? 

 

c. Review General Interrogatory #23.1 and #23.2. Were any assets owned by the society not 
exclusively under the control of the society? If yes, indicate the amount at December 31 of 
current year. 

 

d. Review General Interrogatory #19.1 and #19.2. Were any assets subject to a contractual 
obligation to transfer to another party without the liability for such obligation being reported? If 
yes, indicate the amount at December 31 of the current year. 

 

 
15. Review the Annual Financial Statement Summary Investment Schedule (page SI01). Note any unusual 

items or areas that indicate further review is warranted. 
 
16. Review the Supplemental Investment Risks Interrogatories. Note any unusual items that would indicate a 

nondiversified portfolio or inappropriate liquidity. 
 

17. Review the Annual Financial Statement Schedule E, Part 3 - Special Deposits. Is the book/adjusted 
carrying value of total special deposits greater than 10 percent of assets? 
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Life/A&H Financial Analysis Handbook – Annual 2009 / Quarterly 2010 
 

IV. Level 1 Annual Procedures for Fraternal Societies 
 

 

 
Review of Disclosures 
 

18. Review the Annual Financial Statement Notes to Financial Statements (page 19).  
 

a. Have any notes required per the NAIC’s Annual Statement Instructions for Life and Health 
Insurance Companies been omitted? 

 

b. Provide an explanation for any unusual or significant items noted. 
 
19. Review the Annual Financial Statement General Interrogatories (page 21) and note any unusual 

responses.  
 
Assessment of Latest Examination Report and Results 
 

20. Review General Interrogatory #3 and determine if a financial examination report was released by the 
 domiciliary state since the last review. 
 

a. As of what balance sheet date is/was the latest financial examination of the society? 
 

b. As of what balance sheet date is the latest financial examination report available from either the 
state of domicile or the society? 

 

c. As of what release date is the latest financial examination report available from either the state of 
domicile or the society? 

d. Have any financial statement adjustments within the latest financial examination report not been 
accounted for in a subsequent financial statement filed with the Department?     

e. Have any of the recommendations within the latest financial examination report not been 
complied with? 

If yes, or if follow-up was required from the review of the examination report in a previous analysis period, 
complete the following procedures. 

 

f. If the answers to 20.d. or 20.e. are yes, follow up with the society regarding the implementation 
of recommendations in the Financial Examination Report. 

 

g. Assess the current and future impact of any financial statement adjustments on the society’s 
financial condition. 

 
21. During the review of the latest state examination report, the results from that examination and 

communication with the examiner-in-charge (for domestic societies), did the analyst note any items or 
areas that indicate further review is warranted? 

 
22. Follow up and document on any management letter comments that should be addressed in the current 

period, if applicable. 
 
Assessment of Results from Prioritization & Analytical Tools 
 

23. Review the society’s IRIS ratio results.  
 

a. Indicate the number of ratio results that fall outside the usual range.  
 

b. Provide an explanation on each of the ratios that fall outside the usual range. 
 
24. Review and understand the assigned Analyst Team System Validated Level. 
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Life/A&H Financial Analysis Handbook – Annual 2009 / Quarterly 2010 
 

IV. Level 1 Annual Procedures for Fraternal Societies 
 

 

25. Review the NAIC Annual Financial Profile Report, and provide an explanation for any unusual or 
significant fluctuations or trends noted.  

 
26. Review any market conduct information, including information available from the state’s market analysis 

department (such as the Market Analysis Chief or the Collaborative Action Designee), and the NAIC 
market analysis tools and databases (MAP, ETS, MARS, RIRS, SAD, MITS, and Complaints). The 
analyst should note any unusual items that translate into financial risks or indicate further review and/or 
additional communication is needed with the Department’s market analysis staff. 

 
Assessment of Supplemental Filings 
 

27. During the review of the Statement of Actuarial Opinion, did the analyst note any unusual items or areas 
that indicate further review is warranted?   

 
28. During the review of the Management’s Discussion and Analysis, did the analyst note any unusual items 

or areas that indicate further review is warranted (April 1st Filing)?  
 
29. During the review of the Audited Financial Report, did the analyst note any unusual items or areas that 

indicate further review is warranted (June 1st Filing)?  
 
30. Review the most recent Annual Financial Statement of the society’s holding company and its subsidiaries 

and holding company filings (such as Forms A, B, D, E (or Other Required Information) and 
Extraordinary Dividend/Distribution and SEC forms 10-K and 8-K) if available.  

 
a. During the review, did the analyst note any new or unusual items or areas of concern that may 

potentially impact the society?  
 
b. If other societies within the group exist, note any communication with the domestic state 

insurance departments for those affiliated societies. 
 

 
Recommendation for Further Analysis 
 

Based on the Level 1 procedures performed, do you recommend that the Level 2, 3 or Supplemental Annual 
Procedures or other procedures listed below be completed? If yes, refer to the procedures in the Life/A&H Level 
2 and 3 listed below for possible additional procedures and indicate the sections that you recommend be 
completed: 
 
A. Perform Level 2 and/or Level 3 Procedures: 
 

All Sections  
Investments  
Life Reserves  
Accident and Health Reserves  
Annuity Reserves  
Income Statement and Surplus  
Risk-Based Capital  
Cash Flow and Liquidity  
Reinsurance  
Affiliated Transactions  
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Life/A&H Financial Analysis Handbook – Annual 2009 / Quarterly 2010 
 

IV. Level 1 Annual Procedures for Fraternal Societies 
 

 

MGAs and TPAs  
Separate Accounts  

 
B. Perform Supplemental Procedures: 

 

Annual Audited Financial Reports  
Statement of Actuarial Opinion  
Management’s Discussion and Analysis  
Holding Company Analysis  

Form A  
Form B  
Form D  
Form E, (or Other Required Information)  
Extraordinary Dividend/Distribution  

 
C. Request and review the current business plan and financial projections. 
 

i. If significant changes in the business plan or philosophy have occurred, assess the society’s 
ability to attain these expectations. 

 

ii. Determine if actual results are tracking with projection and note any significant variances and the 
reason(s). 

 
Summary and Conclusion 
 

Develop and document an overall summary and conclusion based on the analysis findings within Level 1, 2, 3, 
and Supplemental Procedures. In developing a conclusion, the analyst should consider the above procedures, as 
well as any other factors that, in the analyst’s judgment, are relevant to evaluating the society’s overall financial 
condition. The summary and conclusion should include details regarding the society’s strengths and weaknesses. 
In addition, update the Insurer Profile Summary, including the Supervisory Plan, if applicable, for the results of 
the analysis performed. 
 
Do you recommend that the society be designated a priority as a result of the procedures performed? If yes, 
indicate the recommended priority designation and rationale. 
 
Describe the rationale for these recommendations. 

 

Analyst ________________ Date ________ 
 
Comments as a result of supervisory review. 

 

Reviewer _______________ Date ________ 
 

Correspondence 
 

The analyst should document any follow-up regarding the Level 1, 2, 3, and Supplemental Procedures. 
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Financial Analysis Handbook – 2009 Annual / 2010 Quarterly 
 

VI.A. Level 1 Quarterly Procedures for Fraternal Societies 
 

 

Background Analysis 
 

1. Review the analysis performed on the society for the prior year and prior quarters. 
 

a. Indicate the state’s priority designation or any prioritization tool result as of the last review and 
start of the current review:  

 

State’s Priority Designation _____ 
IRIS System Results _____ 

Analyst Team System Validated Level _____ 
RBC Ratio _____ 

 

b. Were there any issues or concerns noted in previous annual or quarterly analysis completed in the 
prior year? If “yes,” discuss the issues or concerns, the follow-up conducted, and include any 
correspondence with the society, along with any conclusions. 

 

c. Have any of the following been received or reviewed since the last analysis? If yes, complete or 
review any Level 2 or Supplemental Procedures that relate to these items and comment on them 
here: 

 

� Financial Examination Report 
 

� Audited Financial Report 
 

� Statement of Actuarial Opinion 
 

� MD&A  
 

� Holding Company Filing(s) 
 

d. As the domestic regulator, review the Insurer Profile Summary, including the Supervisory Plan, if 
applicable, and document any areas of concern that impact the current analysis. 

 
2. Review any inter-departmental communication, as well as communication with other state insurance 

departments and the society. Note any unusual items or areas that indicate further review or follow-up is 
necessary. 

 
3. Review General Interrogatory # 4.1. Has the society been a party to a merger or consolidation? If yes, 

review the list of the companies involved in the merger/consolidation and note any observations. Also, 
ensure Form A or additional filings have been approved. 

 
4. Review General Interrogatory # 7.1. Has the society had any Certificates of Authority, licenses or 

registrations (including corporate registration, if applicable) suspended or revoked by any governmental 
entity during the reporting period? If yes, please review the reason(s) stated for the revocation or 
suspension, noting any observations. 

 
5. Are there any changes in the state’s statutes and/or regulations that could impact the society’s financial 

reporting or position? If yes, to the extent information is available, has the society failed to comply with 
the state’s statutes and regulations enacted during the period? 

 
6. Review the most recent report from a nationally recognized rating agency. Also note the current financial 

strength and credit rating and briefly discuss the explanation of the rating or any change in the rating. 
 
 
7. Review any industry reports, news releases and emerging issues that have the potential to negatively 

impact the society.   
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Financial Analysis Handbook – 2009 Annual / 2010 Quarterly 
 

VI.A. Level 1 Quarterly Procedures for Fraternal Societies 
 

 

 
8. Review the most recent business plan and financial projections, if available from recent surveillance 

activity and if considered necessary based on the society’s priority designation and financial condition. 
 

 

a. If significant changes in business plan or philosophy have occurred, assess the society’s ability to 
attain the expectations of the business plan.  

 

b. Are actual results consistent with management’s expectations? 
 

Management Assessment 
 

9. Review the Quarterly Financial Statement Jurat Page (page 1). 
 

a. Did the society fail to properly execute and notarize the Jurat Page? 
 

b. Has there been any change(s) in officers, directors or trustees since the previous Financial 
Statement (indicated by a "#" after the name)? If yes, indicate the positions in which the changes 
have occurred. Review the Biographical Affidavit(s) for any new officers, directors or trustees 
indicated above and note any areas of concern that would indicate further review is necessary.  

 

�  President 
�  Secretary 
�  Treasurer 
�  Vice Presidents (number: ____) 
�  Directors or Trustees (number: ____) 
�  Other 

 
 

c. Assess any significant corporate governance changes and determine whether these changes 
appear to indicate a shift in management philosophy, or whether management has made any 
changes in business culture or business plan. 

 
Balance Sheet Assessment 
 

10. Review the Quarterly Financial Statement Assets (page 2) and Liabilities, Surplus and Other Funds (page 
3) and the Quarterly Financial Profile Report. 
 

a. Is surplus below the statutory required minimum? 
 

b. Is surplus less than 5 percent of total admitted assets, excluding separate accounts? 
 

c. Has surplus changed by greater than +/-20 percent from the prior year-end? If yes, indicate the 
current quarter balance and the percentage change from the prior year-end. 

 

d. Has there been any change in surplus notes issued by the society during the quarter? If yes, 
comment on any notes issued, principal or interest paid, or any other changes that have been 
made. Also, comment on whether any necessary approvals were obtained. 

 

e. Is the amount of any individual asset category, other than cash and invested assets, greater than 
10 percent of total admitted assets, excluding separate accounts? If yes, indicate the asset 
category and amount. 

 

f. Has any individual asset category, which exceeds 5 percent of total assets for either the current or 
prior year, changed by more than +/-20 percent from the prior year-end? If yes, indicate the asset 
category, current balance, and the percentage change from the prior year-end. 

 

g. Is the amount of any individual liability category, other than aggregate reserves for life policies 
and contracts, aggregate reserves for accident and health policies, deposit-type deposit contracts 
greater than 10 percent of total liabilities? If yes, indicate the liability category and amount. 
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VI.A. Level 1 Quarterly Procedures for Fraternal Societies 
 

 

 

h. Has any individual liability category, which exceeds 5 percent of total liabilities for either the 
current or prior year, changed by more than +/-20 percent from the prior year-end? If yes, 
indicate the liability category, current balance, and the percentage change from the prior year-
end. 

 
Operations Assessment 
 

11. Review the Quarterly Financial Statement, Statement of Operations (page 4) and the Quarterly Financial 
Profile Report. 

 

a. If the absolute value of net income (loss) exceeds 5 percent of surplus, has net income (loss) 
decreased by more than 20 percent or increased by more than 40 percent from the prior year-to-
date? If yes, indicate the current quarter balance and the percentage change from the prior year-
to-date. 

 

b. Has any individual summary of operations category, whose balance exceeded 5 percent of surplus 
for either the current year or prior year, changed by more than +/-20 percent from the prior year-
to-date? If yes, indicate the line item, current balance, and the percentage change from the prior 
year-to-date. 

 

c. Has any individual direct premiums and deposit-type contract funds category changed by more 
than +/-20 percent from the prior year-to-date? If yes, indicate the premium category, current 
year-to-date balance, and the percentage change from the prior year-to-date. 

 

d. Are net unrealized capital gain/losses more than 10 percent of prior year-end surplus?  
 
Investment Practices 
 

12. Review Schedule D – Part 1B, showing the acquisitions, dispositions and non-trading activity during the 
current period for bonds and preferred stocks by rating class. 
 

a. Has the percentage of (i) investment or (ii) non-investment grade bonds to total bonds at the end 
of the quarter changed by +/-10 percentage points or greater from the percentage owned at the 
beginning of the quarter? 

 

b. Has the percentage of (i) investment or (ii) non-investment grade preferred stock to total preferred 
stock at the end of the quarter changed by +/-10 percentage points or greater from the percentage 
owned at the beginning of the quarter? 

 
Review of Disclosures 
 

13. Review the Quarterly Statement Notes to Financials, General Interrogatories and Supplemental Schedules 
and note anything unusual. 

 
Assessment of Results from Prioritization and Analytical Tools 

 
14. Review the Quarterly Financial Profile Report and provide an explanation for any unusual or significant 

fluctuations or trends. 
 
15. Review any market conduct information including information available from the state’s market analysis 

department (such as the Market Analysis Chief or the Collaborative Action Designee), and the NAIC 
market analysis tools and databases (MAP, ETS, MARS, RIRS, SAD, MITS, and Complaints). The 
analyst should note any unusual items that translate into financial risks or indicate further review and/or 
additional communication is needed with the Department’s market analysis staff. 
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VI.A. Level 1 Quarterly Procedures for Fraternal Societies 
 

 

 
Assessment of Latest Examination Report and Results 
 

16. Review General Interrogatory #6, and determine if a financial examination report was released by the 
domicilary state since the last review. 
 
a. As of what balance sheet date is/was the latest financial examination of the society? 

b. As of what balance sheet date is the latest financial examination report available from either the 
state of domicile or the society? 

c. As of what release date is the latest financial examination report available from either the state of 
domicile or the society? 

 

d. Have any financial statement adjustments within the latest financial examination report not been 
accounted for in a subsequent financial statement filed with the Department?     

e. Have any of the recommendations within the latest financial examination report not been 
complied with? 

 
If yes, or if follow-up was required from the review of the examination report in a previous analysis period, 
complete the following procedures. 
 

f. If the answers to 16.d. or 16.e. are yes, follow up with the society regarding the implementation 
of recommendations in the Financial Examination Report. 

 

g. During the review of the latest state examination report, the results from that examination and 
communication with the examiner-in-charge (for domestic societies), did the analyst note any 
items or areas that indicate further review is warranted? 

h. Follow up and document on any management letter comments that should be addressed in the 
current period, if applicable. 

 
Recommendation for Further Analysis 
 

Do you recommend that any of the Level 2, 3 or Supplemental Procedures or other procedures listed below be 
completed? If yes, refer to the procedures in the Life/A&H Level 2 and 3 listed below for possible additional 
procedures and indicate the sections that the analyst recommend be completed: 

 

 
A. Perform Level 2 or Level 3 Procedures: 
 

� All Sections 
� Investments 
� Life Reserves 
� Accident and Health Reserves 
� Annuity Reserves 
� Income Statement and Surplus 
� Cash Flow and Liquidity 
� Reinsurance 
� Affiliated Transactions 
� MGAs and TPAs 
� Separate Accounts 

 
B. Perform Supplemental Procedures: 
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VI.A. Level 1 Quarterly Procedures for Fraternal Societies 
 

 

� Audited Annual Financial Statement 
� Statement of Actuarial Opinion 
� Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
� Holding Company Analysis 
� Form A 
� Form B 
� Form D 
� Form E (or Other Required Information) 
� Extraordinary Dividends/Distributions 

 
C. Request and review the current business plan and financial projections. 
 

i. If significant changes in the business plan or philosophy have occurred, assess the society’s 
ability to attain these expectations. 

 

ii. Determine if actual results are tracking with projection and note any significant variances and the 
reason(s). 

 
Summary and Conclusion 
 

Develop and document an overall summary and conclusion based on the analysis findings within Level 1, 2 and 3 
Procedures. In developing a conclusion, the analyst should consider the above procedures, as well as any other 
factors that, in the analyst’s judgment, are relevant to evaluating the society’s overall financial condition. The 
summary and conclusion should include details regarding strengths and weaknesses. In addition, update the 
Insurer Profile Summary, including the Supervisory Plan, if applicable, for the results of the analysis performed. 
 
Do you recommend that the society be designated a priority as a result of the procedures performed? If yes, 
indicate the recommended priority designation and rationale. 
 
Describe the rationale for these recommendations. 

 

Analyst ________________ Date ________ 
 
Comments as a result of supervisory review. 

 

Reviewer _______________ Date ________ 
 

Correspondence 
 

The analyst should document any follow-up regarding the Level 1, 2, 3 and Supplemental Procedures. 
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Draft: 11/24/09 
 

Financial Examiners Coordination (E) Working Group 
Conference Call 

November 19, 2009 
 
The Financial Examiners Coordination (E) Working Group of the Examination Oversight (E) Task Force met via conference 
call Nov. 19, 2009. The following Working Group members participated: Dave DelBiondo, Co-Chair (PA); Connie Ridinger, 
Co-Chair (IN); Jim Hattaway (AL); Al Bottalico (CA); Robert Lamberjack (MI); Peter Foley (MN); Fred Heese (MO); Bill 
Harrington (OH); and Patrick McNaughton (WA). 
 
1. Minutes from Previous Conference Call 
 
Mike Sindel (NAIC) stated that the Working Group held a conference call Oct. 7 to receive an update from the Regulator 
Issues (E) Subgroup and referrals from the industry subgroups. 
 
On a motion from Mr. Hattaway, seconded by Mr. Lamberjack, the Working Group adopted the minutes from the conference 
call (Attachment Four-A). 

 
2. Status Report from the Regulator Issues (E) Subgroup 
 
Mr. Bottalico stated that the Regulator Issues (E) Subgroup has held two conference calls this quarter. The Subgroup 
discussed the association (zone) exam concept on the first call held Oct. 14 and proposed recommendations to the Financial 
Examiners Handbook (E) Technical Group for consideration. On the second call, the Subgroup continued its work on 
revising the lead state framework that is currently in the Handbook by reviewing the referrals received from the industry 
subgroups. The members of the Subgroup discussed the feedback regarding how industry would define a coordinated group 
exam. Mr. Bottalico added that it will take several more calls to work through all the feedback received. Mr. Sindel explained 
how the industry input was being considered by the Working Group and the Subgroup. 
 
On a motion from Ms. Ridinger, seconded by Mr. Harrington, the Working Group received the report from the Subgroup. 
 
3. Guidance on Coordination and Scheduling Group Examinations 
 
Mr. DelBiondo stated that the Working Group is seeking feedback related to the guidance that was developed by NAIC staff, 
including the process discussed in the guidance. The process places more of the initial responsibility on how a holding 
company group should be scheduled and coordinated for financial exam purposes. He asked whether there were additional 
topics that should be included in the guidance that were not currently incorporated. Mr. Sindel mentioned that the framework 
that the Regulator Issues (E) Subgroup is working on would provide the general guidance on the process of how 
examinations within a holding company group would be scheduled and coordinated. The document that this Working Group 
is considering would be supplemental to that guidance and would be a document that the regulators would give to an 
employee of the holding company group that has the knowledge of the general workings of the group. The holding group 
would then provide input to the regulator, including supporting documentation, of how the group may be coordinated for 
financial examination purposes. This document provides some information the group may consider when providing its 
recommendations, but the listing is not all-inclusive. Mr. Sindel stated that the input from the holding group is critical to the 
coordination of these exams because company personnel have the expertise regarding information of each unique group. This 
information may include key systems and processes, corporate governance, risk management and computer systems. 
 
Mr. Heese asked if the lead state would be the regulator contacting the holding company group. Mr. Sindel said that is what 
he anticipates. Mr. Lamberjack asked if the document was going to be a “living” document. Mr. Sindel stated that staff 
proposes that it would be a document in the Handbook and therefore published annually, but could be adjusted based on the 
holding company group and ultimately modified in the publication if necessary. Susan Lee (ING) asked if the document 
would be sent to the holding company even if the holding company was not an insurer. Mr. Sindel responded that the 
document would be distributed to whoever the regulators feel has the appropriate knowledge of the group to recommend how 
it should be coordinated. The person may be at the holding company level or could be someone at a major insurance 
subsidiary.  
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Mr. DelBiondo added that the document was created to be general so that it could be used for each holding company group. 
He mentioned that the regulators will be highly dependent on the companies to provide information on how they see the 
structure of their groups initially to begin coordinating these exams. Mr. Bottalico stated that there are differences between 
companies that write different lines of business that will need to be considered when this general guidance is implemented, 
but the guidance should be written at a high level so it is universal to coordinating financial exams of all types of companies. 
Mr. Sindel explained that the first two questions answered by the industry subgroups are being used by the Regulator Issues 
(E) Subgroup to help them develop the coordination framework, while the third question is what the Working Group used to 
develop the exhibit discussed here.  
 
Larry Lentini (INS Services) proposed some changes that the Working Group agreed to. Bill Sergeant (State Farm) asked if 
any of this information would be duplicative of what insurers are already required to report and file with the NAIC. Mr. 
Sindel responded that the goal is not to require duplicative reporting, and regulators and insurers should try to utilize what is 
already required if possible.  
 
Having no further business, the Financial Examiners Coordination (E) Working Group adjourned.  
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Draft: 10/27/09 
 

Financial Examiners Coordination (E) Working Group 
Conference Call 
October 7, 2009 

 
The Financial Examiners Coordination (E) Working Group of the Examination Oversight (E) Task Force met via conference 
call Oct. 7, 2009. The following Working Group members participated: Dave DelBiondo, Co-Chair (PA); Connie Ridinger, 
Co-Chair (IN); Jim Hattaway (AL); Al Bottalico (CA); Bill Arfanis (CT); Robert Lamberjack (MI); Peter Foley (MN); and 
Patrick McNaughton (WA). 
 
1. Status Report from the Regulator Issues Subgroup 
 
Mike Sindel (NAIC) mentioned that the Subgroup held two conference calls in the past quarter. On the first call, held July 23, 
the Subgroup discussed several items related to the lead state concept to coordinating financial examinations and asked NAIC 
staff to begin developing a revised framework based on the Subgroup’s deliberations. On the second call, held Aug. 31, the 
Subgroup reviewed the framework and made some revisions. The Subgroup delayed additional work on this framework until 
information is received from the industry subgroup memos regarding the definition of a coordinated financial exam and 
characteristics that may make coordinating exams of holding company groups difficult. The Subgroup began discussions 
about the zone exam concept and how it relates to the Exam Tracking System (ETS). The Subgroup requested that NAIC 
staff prepare a memorandum detailing the issues with the existing concept and potential solutions. This memo will be 
discussed by the Subgroup on its next conference call scheduled for Oct. 14. Mr. Sindel mentioned that all guidance prepared 
by the Subgroup will be referred to the Financial Examiners Coordination (E) Working Group for consideration and exposure 
when completed. 
 
On a motion from Mr. McNaughton, seconded by Mr. Hattaway, the Working Group received the report from the Subgroup. 
 
2. Referrals from the Industry Subgroups 
 
Ms. Ridinger stated that each of the three industry coordination subgroups met several times to receive feedback from 
industry representatives on the topic of coordinated financial examinations. As a result of the feedback received, each 
subgroup developed a memorandum that has been referred to the Working Group for consideration. Mr. McNaughton 
presented the referral from the Health Coordination Subgroup (Attachment Four-A) and Mr. Sindel presented the referrals 
from the Life Coordination Subgroup (Attachment Four-B) and the P&C Coordination Subgroup (Attachment Four-C). 
 
Ms. Ridinger suggested that the results from the first two questions in each of the subgroup referrals be referred to the 
Regulator Issues Subgroup to assist with the development of Financial Condition Examiners Handbook guidance on 
coordinating holding company groups in relation to financial exams. She stated that she would like to use the information for 
the third question to develop a questionnaire that examiners can send to companies to help schedule holding company group 
exams. This document would be sent out well in advance of the exam to allow time for the insurer to complete it. This would 
also allow the examiners time to coordinate the exam based on the results. Depending on the attributes of each of the 
companies in a group, the examiners will determine the best way to coordinate the exams and schedule them accordingly. 
Ms. Ridinger asked NAIC staff to begin developing the questionnaire using the information received from the industry 
subgroup to present back to the Working Group on its next conference call.  
 
Having no further business, the Financial Examiners Coordination (E) Working Group adjourned. 
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Summary of Feedback Received 
(Health Companies) 

 
As discussed during the conference call on Aug. 5, 2009, a request of the Health Coordination Subgroup was sent to 
interested parties to obtain information that can be utilized to improve the coordination of financial examinations and make 
them more efficient for insurers and regulators. The responses received have been summarized for presentation in this 
document. 
 
1. How would you define a coordinated financial exam? Do you have any specific expectations from a coordinated 

financial exam? Please explain. 
 

Most respondents indicated an expectation that a coordinated examination includes a concerted effort to utilize the work 
performed by others. The coordinated examination should attempt to be a comprehensive and simultaneous examination 
of each of a holding company’s affiliated insurance legal entities, which may be domiciled in multiple states. The lead 
state should have a system and tool in place to share examination schedules to ensure that examinations are conducted 
efficiently and timely. The lead state should familiarize itself with the structure of the company (that is, whether it is a 
holding company, part of a holding company, or single state); the internal operations of the company (that is, whether it 
has consolidated operations with parent/sister/subsidiary companies and what those operations are); and whether those 
consolidated operations have been examined by other states. The lead state should coordinate C-level interviews to 
minimize the impact that personal interviews have on senior management of both the legal entity and the holding 
company. One respondent mentioned that interviews should begin at the legal-entity level and that C-level individuals of 
companies within the holding company system should only be interviewed if there is a demonstrable need to do so. 
When interviews with holding company personnel are deemed necessary, the interviews should be performed by the lead 
state and shared with all other states. The examiners should, whenever possible, conduct the interviews by telephone or 
during regularly scheduled board/committee meetings. 
 
Further, most respondents indicated, that all examining states should make a consistent effort to utilize the work already 
performed by other states, the external audit firms and the internal audit department whenever possible to avoid 
duplication of efforts. All examining states should provide adequate oversight of the work of its staff and consultants. 
This includes adequate review of other state examiners’ work papers before reliance is placed on that work. The 
examining states should ensure that the scope and extent of planned testing is well established before the start of the 
examination to avoid placing undue burden on the Company.  
 
One respondent indicated information that is common throughout the enterprise should be housed by one state (perhaps 
the domiciliary state of the largest company) and incorporated as part of the examination documents by all examining 
states. 
 
Another respondent indicated that in an ideal situation, a coordinated exam would place all examination responsibilities 
on one state. The other domestic states should have some input in the planning process, but would not need to be onsite 
at the company. The other domestic states could then rely on the work that is performed by the lead state and perform an 
independent review of the work papers. Those states could then adopt the examination as their own. Proper planning up 
front should address any individual state’s concerns and provide adequate testing to include any work that is necessary 
on a company-by-company basis. 

 
2. What are some characteristics or traits of the health companies in your holding company group that may make 

coordinating exams difficult? Please explain. 
 

Respondents indicated that variations in assets, size, direct written premiums and product offerings of various legal 
entities within a holding company system can create challenges. Health companies, particularly those with health 
maintenance organizations (HMOs) within their family of companies will be more likely than other types of insurers to 
have many single-state entities as opposed to multi-state licensed legal entities within their structure. This can represent a 
challenge to state examiners, particularly where not all companies are integrated into the parent holding company 
system. The broad range in the size and complexity of these companies, including several different domiciliary states 
utilizing various exam schedules, can make coordination more difficult.  
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3. Please list the types of information you would expect to provide to a financial examiner to assist them in coordinating the 
companies in your holding company group and making the exam(s) more efficient. In other words, what company 
characteristics would you consider if you had to determine how to coordinate the exams for the companies in your 
holding company group? Please provide as many as possible and explain. 

 
The following responses were received suggesting information that would be useful for regulators in determining the 
coordination of a holding company examination. There were a number of suggestions that examiners already receive that 
are important in conducting coordinated exams but were not included in the listing below as the information was not 
necessarily beneficial in determining how to coordinated exams. This information included items such as Form B and 
10K information. The responses have been summarized to avoid duplication of suggestions. 
 

• Provide a diagram of the corporate structure and relationship between the holding company and the various 
insurance legal entities 

• Provide a description of Sarbanes-Oxley scope, entity level controls and the significant processes evaluated by 
management along with results of management’s most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting 

• Provide an overview of the common management lines of authority for company operations to facilitate more 
effective and focused interviews with company management 

• An overview of our shared services and centralized functions that are in place across the legal entities. 
• Provide a listing by name of all administration systems, including locations and names of experts who manage 

them, with those systems that are common to multiple entities identified as such 
• Provide information regarding IT systems and system controls that are utilized or similar for multiple or all 

companies in a group 
• Provide access to the company’s independent certified public accountants (CPAs) to ascertain their audit 

approach to the company’s holding company system and its various regulated subsidiaries  
• Provide management’s risk assessment of the legal entity under review to help state examiners to determine the 

entity’s risk exposures  
• Provide Model Audit Rule documentation if applicable to demonstrate that the legal entity has documented 

internal controls around the statutory financial reporting process 
• Documentation of the internal audit program and a listing of the internal audits performed during the period 

under review.  
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Summary of Feedback Received 
(Life Companies) 

 
As discussed during the conference call on Aug. 3, 2009, a request of the Life Coordination Subgroup was sent to interested 
parties to obtain information that can be utilized to improve the coordination of financial examinations and make them more 
efficient for insurers and regulators. The responses received have been summarized for presentation in this document.  
 
1. How would you define a coordinated financial exam? Do you have any specific expectations from a coordinated 

financial exam? Please explain. 
 

Most respondents indicated an expectation that examinations of all entities within a holding company group should 
always be coordinated unless there is a valid, documented reason not to coordinate. The coordinated examination should 
be a comprehensive and simultaneous examination of each of a holding company’s affiliated insurance legal entities, 
which may be domiciled in multiple states. The coordinated examination should be planned well in advance of the start 
of fieldwork in order to gather the necessary information on shared processes and systems throughout the group to 
adequately plan the work to be performed. There should be a collaborative communication plan amongst all states, with 
the lead state assuming primary responsibility for communicating with the company. There would be defined 
responsibilities amongst the participating states, with clearly defined decision making authority being held by the lead 
state. Processes performed at the enterprise level (e.g. corporate governance, IT systems, etc.) should be reviewed and 
maintained by a lead state and incorporated into the examination workpapers by all examining states. All examining 
states should use common processes and information requests to obtain the needed planning information.  
 
Further, most respondents indicated, that for other common functional activities that impact multiple insurance entities 
(e.g. claim processing, investing), responsibilities for examining the processes in these areas should be divided up 
amongst the participating states to avoid redundancy. The results of this review should be shared through a centralized 
repository so that all impacted states could have access to the work performed and place reliance on the 
controls/processes reviewed and resulting conclusions/assessments. States that cannot participate in the onsite 
examination should have remote access to review examination workpapers in real time. The results of this type of 
coordinated examination would benefit both the industry and insurance departments.  Utilizing examiner resources from 
multiple departments should lead to better allocation of those resources thus providing cost savings to both companies 
and insurance departments. 
 
Some respondents indicated that as the products offered in their companies differ, that coordinated exams would not 
provide significant efficiencies. However, their expectation would still be that the timing/scheduling of examinations 
would be coordinated amongst the states and that those processes performed at the enterprise level would still be subject 
to review by one lead state (e.g. corporate governance).   
 
Other respondents indicated an expectation that all the insurance entities within a holding company group would be 
examined at one time by a single state regulator, with no direct involvement by other domestic states. The other states of 
domicile should then rely on the work performed by the lead state.  
 
One respondent recommended that, in order to facilitate coordinated examinations and align examination scheduling, a 
one-time exemption of the mandatory 5 year examination period should be granted to allow states the ability to get on 
the same examination schedules as the other domestic states. 

 
2. What are some characteristics or traits of the life companies in your holding company group that may make coordinating 

exams difficult? Please explain. 
 

Most respondents indicated that multiple entities within their groups are domiciled in multiple states with varying 
examination cycles. In addition, most respondents indicated that common systems and applications are typically used by 
each business product offered by the holding company, and that the products are often distributed across multiple 
entities. Since company control documentation and testing, as well as external auditor work, may be organized by 
business product and not by legal entity, this can complicate the examination process if examiners are strictly focused on 
a legal entity review.  
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Some respondents indicated that although most of their entities share common systems and applications, there are 
individual entities within the group that offer unique products and do not share systems and applications with the rest of 
the group.   
 
Other respondents indicated that business processes vary significantly from entity to entity throughout the group, which 
make it difficult to gain efficiencies from a coordinated exam. 
 
Other respondents indicated a difficulty in that the parent holding company is not an insurance entity, which complicates 
a review of corporate governance.  

 
3. Please list the types of information you would expect to provide to a financial examiner to assist them in coordinating the 

companies in your holding company group and making the exam(s) more efficient. In other words, what company 
characteristics would you consider if you had to determine how to coordinate the exams for the companies in your 
holding company group? Please provide as many as possible and explain. 

 
The following responses were received suggesting information that would be useful for regulators in determining the 
coordination of a holding company examination. The responses have been summarized to avoid duplication of 
suggestions.  
 

• Provide a diagram of the corporate structure and relationship between the holding company and the various 
insurance legal entities, with any significant changes since the last examination prominently notated  

• Provide a listing of all legal entities and their state of domicile 
• Provide the primary location of books and records for each legal entity 
• Provide company organization charts and directors’ names for each legal entity 
• Provide a business overview write-up including  financial plans and management’s concerns and risks for each 

legal entity 
• Provide the types and respective premium volume of products within each legal entity 
• Provide a listing by name of all administration systems, including locations and names of experts who manage 

them, with those systems that are common to multiple entities identified as such 
• Provide an overview of the “mutual service” departments (e.g. IT, accounting, investments, executive, etc.) 

servicing multiple companies within the group. 
• Provide a description of Sarbanes-Oxley scope, entity level controls and the significant processes evaluated by 

management along with results of management’s most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting 

• Provide an overview of the common management lines of authority for company operations to facilitate more 
effective and focused interviews with company management. 

• Provide a description of unique product offerings for any of the life affiliates. 
• Provide an overview of Model Audit Rule documentation, including a description of the “Group of Insurers” 

determined for purposes of Model compliance.  
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Summary of Feedback Received 
(P&C Companies) 

 
As discussed during the conference call on Aug. 4, 2009, a request of the P&C Coordination Subgroup was sent to interested 
parties to obtain information that can be utilized to improve the coordination of financial examinations and make them more 
efficient for insurers and regulators. The responses received have been summarized for presentation in this document.  
 
1. How would you define a coordinated financial exam? Do you have any specific expectations from a coordinated 

financial exam? Please explain. 
 

The majority of respondents indicated that the coordinated examination should be planned well in advance of the start of 
fieldwork in order to gather the necessary information on shared processes and systems throughout the group to 
adequately plan the work to be performed. There should be a collaborative communication plan amongst all states, with 
the lead state assuming primary responsibility for communicating with the company. There would be defined 
responsibilities amongst the participating states, with clearly defined decision making authority being held by the lead 
state. Processes performed at the enterprise level (e.g. corporate governance, IT systems, etc.) should be reviewed and 
maintained by a lead state and incorporated into the examination workpapers by all examining states.  
 
Many respondents indicated that all examining states should use common processes and information requests (including 
questionnaires) to obtain the needed planning information. A recommendation was made that NAIC staff work with 
states that are utilizing different information requests to build the additional questions or information they would like to 
receive into the existing planning questionnaire found in the Examiners Handbook. All information requests and 
planning for the coordinated examination (including logistical requirements) should be communicated to company 
personnel well in advance of on-site examination activities. Interviews with executives at the holding company level 
should be performed by the lead state and utilized by all other states to prevent duplication of work. In addition, the lead 
state should coordinate interviews with executives at all other levels to ensure that individuals are not interviewed by 
multiple states during an examination cycle. The lead state should also be the primary reviewer of auditor workpapers. 
 
Many respondents also indicated that utilizing examiner resources from multiple departments should lead to better 
allocation of those resources thus providing cost savings to both companies and insurance departments. The group of 
examiners from different states should start and finish work at the same time to reduce inefficiencies. One respondent 
recommended that examiners perform work offsite and share the work performed by utilizing technology whenever 
possible. The lead state should provide a reasonable notice of the on-site start date and allow for proper advance 
preparation of company personnel. 
 
Other respondents indicated an expectation that all the insurance entities within a holding company group would be 
examined at one time by a single state regulator, with no direct involvement by other domestic states. The other states of 
domicile should then rely on the work performed by the lead state. One respondent mentioned that upon the completion 
of the exam, the states should issue one comprehensive report. 
 
One respondent recommended that, in order to facilitate coordinated examinations and align examination scheduling, a 
one-time exemption of the mandatory 5 year examination period should be granted to allow states the ability to get on 
the same examination schedules as the other domestic states. One respondent also mentioned that a coordinated exam 
should always be performed at the holding group level unless there is a valid documented reason not to. 

 
2. What are some characteristics or traits of the property and casualty companies in your holding company group that may 

make coordinating exams difficult? Please explain. 
 
Most respondents indicated that multiple entities within their groups are domiciled in multiple states with varying 
examination cycles. Although some respondents indicated that they utilize common systems and applications, other 
respondents mentioned varying processes as well as different operating divisions, locations, and products. Some of the 
unique operating concerns include the market in which companies operate, the method(s) of distribution, the types of 
business conducted, and systems may not be similar in some cases. 
 
One respondent indicated intercompany pooling arrangements as a unique consideration for exam coordination. 
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3. Please list the types of information you would expect to provide to a financial examiner to assist them in coordinating the 
companies in your holding company group and making the exam(s) more efficient. In other words, what company 
characteristics would you consider if you had to determine how to coordinate the exams for the companies in your 
holding company group? Please provide as many as possible and explain. 

 
The following responses were received suggesting information that would be useful for regulators in determining the 
coordination of a holding company examination. The responses have been summarized to avoid duplication of 
suggestions.  
 

• Provide information on similarities and differences of operations including markets, distribution channels, risk 
management 

• Provide overview of “mutual service” departments or business units that service multiple companies within the 
group (e.g. IT, accounting, investments, executive, etc.) 

• Provide information on the common management lines of authority (including board of directors) for company 
operations including corporate governance charts (functional charts) 

• Provide a breakdown of IT systems and applications/processes used by the companies including flowcharts 
• Provide internal control framework for companies in group 
• Provide an explanation as to whether a coordinated exam makes sense given the unique characteristics of a 

particular group 
• Provide a comprehensive overview of key functional activities and how such activities are managed 
• Provide breakdown of direct written premium by company and line of business 
• Provide information on significant agreements and transactions with affiliates 

 
One respondent indicated that critical pieces of information necessary to coordinate include a completed Exam Planning 
Questionnaire (with necessary attachments/exhibits), combined and individual Annual Statements, and Statutory Audit 
Reports with notes to the financials. Another respondent added that consistency in the questionnaires provided by 
examiners is critical to coordination. 
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Draft: 11/23/09 
 

Financial Examiners Handbook (E) Technical Group 
Conference Call 

November 19, 2009 
 
The Financial Examiners Handbook (E) Technical Group of the Examination Oversight (E) Task Force met via conference 
call Nov. 19, 2009. The following Technical Group members participated: Al Bottalico, Chair (CA); Jim Hattaway (AL); Bill 
Arfanis (CT); Kevin Brown (DC); Connie Ridinger (IN); Donald Crawley (MD); Jim Nixon (NE); John Marshall (NV); Bill 
Harrington (OH); Greg Lathrop (OR); Dave DelBiondo (PA); Pat McNaughton (WA); and Fred Thornton (WI). Also 
participating was: David Smith (VA). 
 
1. Exposures from Fall Conference Call 
 
Mr. Bottalico discussed several items that were previously exposed on the Technical Group’s last conference call, including 
exhibits on letters of representation, prospective risk assessment and exam interviews. The exposures also included additional 
detailed guidance on these topics and the reorganization of the Financial Condition Examiners Handbook. No comments 
were received on any of the exposed items during the exposure period. 
 
On a motion from Ms. Ridinger, seconded by Mr. Hattaway, the guidance was adopted by the Technical Group for inclusion 
in the 2010 Handbook (Attachment Four-A). 
 
2. Examination Repositories 
 
Mr. Bottalico stated that the project to create the examination repositories has concluded and has resulted in 18 total 
repositories. He added that regulators, interested parties and NAIC staff have expended a considerable amount of time and 
resources to create these tools for examiners. He thanked all of the people that helped create or revise these repositories and 
noted that the tools will be beneficial to examiners when conducting exams.  
 
Mr. Bottalico mentioned that each of the repositories has been publicly exposed and has had a detailed review performed by 
at least three member states of the Technical Group. He added that the Technical Group plans to review and update these 
repositories on an ongoing basis. 
 
On a motion from Mr. Harrington, seconded by Mr. Marshall, the Technical Group adopted the examination repositories for 
inclusion in the 2010 Handbook and agreed to place the existing repositories online as reference materials for examiners. 
 
3. Examination Repositories Introduction 
 
Mr. Bottalico stated that during the detailed review of the examination repositories, regulators requested an overall 
introduction to the exam repositories that would provide information including why the repositories were created, how to use 
them and what kind of information is incorporated into them. He added that some of the tests in the Possible Detail Tests 
column are attribute tests and have asterisks next to them because they could be used as detail tests in Phase 5 or control tests 
in Phase 3. He explained that these tests have been placed in the detail tests column because they will generally require more 
time and effort to complete than other direct control tests that have been placed within the Possible Tests of Controls column.  
 
On a motion from Mr. Hattaway, seconded by Mr. Harrington, the introduction for the examination repositories was adopted 
by the Technical Group for inclusion in the 2010 Handbook. 
 
4. Guidance on Documentation of Internal Controls 
 
The Technical Group received a referral from the Risk Assessment Implementation Subgroup regarding guidance on the 
documentation of internal controls. Mr. Bottalico mentioned that examiners were having a hard time understanding what was 
required to be documented regarding internal controls. The guidance stated that documentation of the controls was not 
necessary if they were not already documented; it did, however, require that an understanding of the internal controls be 
obtained and documented by the examiner. The feedback received from a survey conducted by the Subgroup was that 
examiners were still having a hard time determining the definition of an understanding of controls and how that pertains to 
documentation in exam work papers.  
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As a result, the Subgroup developed additional guidance to help clarify the expectations related to documenting an 
understanding of controls. Mr. Bottalico stated that the key focus of the guidance developed stated, “In situations where 
control information is not documented or readily available, examiners should not create documentation of the controls 
themselves, but rather, document their understanding of controls. This understanding may consist of only a few simple 
sentences describing how the company mitigates each identified risk. If, after prudent inquiry, the examiner is unable to 
ascertain what controls exist at an identified risk level, the examiner should provide a brief narrative describing the general 
controls that exist for each sub-activity (or, if not possible, each key activity).”  
 
On a motion from Mr. Harrington, seconded by Ms. Ridinger, the guidance on documenting internal controls was adopted by 
the Technical Group for inclusion in the 2010 Handbook (Attachment Four-B).  
 
5. Guidance on Review of Subsequent Events 
 
The Risk Assessment Implementation Subgroup also referred to the Technical Group guidance regarding the review of 
subsequent events. This guidance discusses the types of subsequent events and how the examiner should account for those 
events, including whether a footnote in the exam report or an exam adjustment is necessary. 
 
On a motion from Mr. Marshall, seconded by Mr. McNaughton, the guidance on reviewing subsequent events was adopted 
by the Technical Group for inclusion in the 2010 Handbook (Attachment Four-C). 
 
6. Economic Crisis Update and Revisions to Exhibit M 
 
Mr. Bottalico stated that the Technical Group held a conference call in August to discuss a referral received regarding the 
current economic crisis. The referral asked the Technical Group to determine whether any guidance should be added to the 
Handbook with regard to the crisis. As a result, a listing of topics was created, and the Technical Group decided if guidance 
should be added to the Handbook or to an Exam Alert for each topic. The Exam Risk Alert would be temporary guidance for 
examiners to utilize based on current issues. All the topics that the Technical Group wanted to add to the Handbook have 
been drafted into the Handbook. Some of these items include risks that were added to various exam repositories and 
prospective risks that were added to Exhibit V for situations where prospective risks don’t relate directly to a specific key 
activity. Mike Sindel (NAIC) added that staff plans to develop the Exam Risk Alert next but had previously focused on items 
that would be included in the Handbook due to the publication deadline. 
 
One of the topics discussed in the economic crisis conversation was enterprise risk management (ERM). Therefore, staff 
proposed guidance for inclusion into the Handbook. In summary, Exhibit M discussed ERM and how it is a part of the 
corporate governance of a company and should be addressed by the examiners. It provides some items to consider, such as 
risk tolerances and how management identifies, assesses and mitigates risks. 
 
Mr. Smith proposed that the discussion of an assessment being made on the effectiveness of the insurer’s risk management 
function be changed to a review of the function. Since this is an area that examiners may not have addressed in the past, he 
wanted to make sure that examiners are comfortable with understanding and reviewing the risk management function before 
they provide an assessment on it. Mr. Harrington agreed with these recommended changes.  
 
On a motion from Mr. Harrington, seconded by Mr. Lathrop, revisions to Exhibit M were adopted, as amended, by the 
Technical Group for inclusion in the 2010 Handbook (Attachment Four-D). 
 
7. Referral from the Risk Retention Group (E) Task Force 
 
Mr. Bottalico stated that the Technical Group received a referral from the Risk Retention Group (E) Task Force that proposed 
additional guidance for the Handbook related to risk retention groups. The Task Force recently discussed whether exams on 
risk retention groups are association (zone) exams. Based on the Liability Risk Retention Act, it was determined that exams 
over risk retention groups are not association exams because non-domestic states are not specifically allowed to participate in 
these exams. A domestic regulator could invite or allow another state to participate but is not required to do so. The Task 
Force also proposed some minor changes to the e-mail notification sent from the Exam Tracking System when an exam is 
called. The changes explain that the e-mail is strictly a notification for RRG exams and not an invitation to participate. These 
changes represent guidance for better communication and notification to other states and are not actual changes to the exam 
process.  
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On a motion from Mr. Hattaway, seconded by Mr. McNaughton, the Technical Group adopted these changes into the 
Handbook and the Exam Tracking System e-mail notification (Attachment Four-E). 
 
Having no further business, the Financial Examiners Handbook (E) Technical Group adjourned. 
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EXHIBIT T - 
SAMPLE LETTER OF REPRESENTATION 

An illustrative management representation letter for the property and casualty, mortgage guaranty, title company, 
health, and life, accident and health entities is presented in Exhibit T. The sample letters incorporates a  
representations that should ordinarily be obtained by the examiner as well as clauses for specific issues. The 
management representation letter should be modified by the regulator to meet the circumstances of the particular 
examination and the nature of the company being examined. Some clauses for specific issues in particular lines of 
business have been provided with the relevant line of business shown in parentheses at the end of the clause. An 
electronic copy of each letter of representation (based on line of business) can be found online. 

Modifications or special representations relating to management’s knowledge or intent should be obtained when 
the examiner believes that they are necessary to complement other examination procedures or when corroborating 
evidential matter is limited. It would be unusual to obtain a representation letter that did not include some special 
representations to cover individual company circumstances. 

Certain representations may be limited to matters that may have a material effect on the statutory financial 
statements, as indicated in the illustrative letter. It is preferable for management to specify the agreed-on 
materiality limits in the representation letter. Illustrative language for this materiality purpose is included in the 
sample letter. When evaluating the materiality threshold to be included in the letter, the examiner should consider 
the nature of the company under examination and the extent of detail desired in management’s representations. In 
no event shall the materiality threshold included in the letter exceed planning materiality levels as this level 
relates to the examiner’s overall perspective of the financial statements rather than a particular account balance or 
cycle. The illustrative letter also contains qualitative criterion of materiality, which is required in all 
representation letters. 
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(Property & Casualty - On Company Letterhead) 

 

Date (date should agree with report of examination) 

 

Name of Examiner 
Examiner-In-Charge 
(Name of State) Department of Insurance 
Address 
City, State Zip Code 

We are providing this letter in connection with your examination of the statutory financial statements of (Name of 
Insurance Company, Title Company or Mortgage Guaranty) as of (Month, Date, Year) and for the period from 
(Month, Date, Year) to (Month, Date, Year). We are responsible for the preparation fair presentation of the 
statutory financial statements of financial position, results of operations, and changes in statutory financial position 
in conformity with the accounting practices prescribed or permitted by the (Name of State) Department of 
Insurance. 

Certain representations in this letter are described as being limited to those matters that are material. Solely for the 
purpose of preparing this letter, the term “material,” when used in this letter, means any item or group of similar 
items involving potential amounts of more than $_________. These amounts are not intended to represent the 
materiality threshold for financial reporting and disclosure purposes. Notwithstanding this, an item is considered 
material, regardless of size, if it involves an omission or misstatement of accounting information that, in the light 
of surrounding circumstances, makes it probable that the judgment of a reasonable person relying on the 
information would have been changed or influenced by the omission or misstatement. 

We confirm, to the best of our knowledge and belief, the following representations made to you during the 
examination. 

1. The corporate governance practices and policies the company has in place are adequate and appropriate in 
relation to the size and complexity of the company and the systems and processes used are adequate and 
appropriate to address risk inherent within the company. 

2. We have made available to you all: 

• Statutory financial records and related data; and 

• Minutes of meetings of stockholders/policyholders (if a mutual company), directors and committees, 
or summaries of actions of recent meetings for which minutes have not yet been prepared;. 

• Access to individuals within the company to whom you requested access to gain examination 
evidence; and 

• Risk assessment documentation. 

32. There have been no: 

• Fraud or other irregularities involving management or employees who have significant roles in the 
internal control structure; 
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• Fraud or other irregularities involving other employees that have or may have a material effect on the 
statutory financial statements;  

• Fraud or other irregularities involving agents, MGAs, third party administrators, independent 
contractors, holding companies or other individuals or parties that have or may have a material 
impacteffect on the statutory financial position of the Company; or 

• Communications from regulatory agencies concerning noncompliance with, or deficiencies in, 
statutory financial reporting practices. (P & C, Life, A & H, Mortgage Guaranty, Title) 

• Communications from regulatory agencies concerning noncompliance with, or deficiencies in, 
statutory financial reporting practices. This includes those related to Medicare and Medicaid antifraud 
and abuse statutes. (Health) 

43. We have no plans or intentions that may materially affect the carrying value or classification of assets and 
liabilities.  

54. The financial statements are free of material and intentional immaterial misstatements. 

65. The following have been properly recorded or disclosed in the statutory financial statements: 

• Any related party transactions and related amounts receivable or payable, including sales, purchases, 
loans, transfers, leasing arrangements, and guarantees. 

• All liabilities, both actual and contingent. 

• Guarantees, whether written or oral, under which the Company is contingently liable. 

• Capital stock, repurchase options or agreements on capital stock reserved for options, warrants, 
conversions, or other requirements (N/A for mutual companies). 

• Arrangements with financial institutions involving compensating balances or other arrangements 
involving restrictions on cash balances and line-of-credit or similar arrangements. 

• Significant estimates and material concentrations known to management that are required to be 
disclosed in accordance with SSAP No. 1, Disclosure of Accounting Policies, Risks & Uncertainties, 
and Other Disclosures.  

• The amount of credit risk and extent, nature, and terms of financial instruments with off-balance-sheet 
risk to be disclosed in accordance with SSAP No. 27. 

• Agreements to repurchase assets previously sold. 

76. We confirm the completeness of the information provided regarding the identification of related parties. 

87. There are no violations or possible violations of laws or regulations whose effects should be considered for 
disclosure in the statutory financial statements or as a basis for recording a loss contingency. (P & C, Life, 
A & H, Mortgage Guaranty, Title) 

8. There are no violations or possible violations of laws or regulations whose effects should be considered for 
disclosure in the statutory financial statements or as a basis for recording a loss contingency. This includes 
those related to Medicare and Medicaid antifraud and abuse statutes, including but not limited to the 
Medicare and Medicaid Anti-Kickback Statutes, Limitations on Certain Physical Referrals (the Stark law), 
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and the False Claims Act, in any jurisdiction, whose effects should be considered for disclosure in the 
financial statements or as a basis for recording a loss contingency other than those disclosed or accrued in 
the financial statements. (Health) 

98. Billings to third-party payors comply in all material respects with diagnostic and procedure coding 
guidelines (for example ICD-9-CM and CPT-4) and laws and regulations (including those dealing with 
Medicare and Medicaid antifraud and abuse), and billings reflect only charges for goods and services that 
were medically necessary; properly approved by regulatory bodies (i.e., Food and Drug Administration), if 
required and properly rendered. (Health) 

10. Contingent Liabilities: 

• There are no other liabilities or gain or loss contingencies that are required to be accrued or disclosed 
by SSAP No. 5.  

• There is no litigation against the Company that is considered material in relation to the statutory 
financial position of the Company. For purposes of this section, the Company has excluded litigation 
for which the only amounts sought relate to benefits within the normal terms of coverage under 
contracts of insurance issued by the Company, and which are otherwise considered in the actuarial 
determination of the Company’s unpaid claim reserves. 

• In the occurrence of a contingent liability noted by management the following should be included in 
the management representation letter: Except for the contingent liability disclosed in Note X of the 
financial statements, there are no contingent liabilities whichthat require disclosure in the financial 
statements or notes thereto.  

• (If applicable) The … litigation by XYZ Company has been settled for the total sum of XXX that has 
been properly reflected in the financial statements. No other claims in connection with this litigation 
have been or are expected to be received.  

 911. Adequate provision has been made for adjustments and losses in collection of receivables. 

102. Provision has been made for estimated retroactive adjustments by third-party payors under reimbursement 
agreements. 

131. The Company is in compliance with bond indentures or other debt instruments. 

142. Pending changes in the organizational structure, financing arrangements, or other matters that could have a 
material effect on the financial statements of the Company are properly disclosed. 

153. The Company has properly classified all assets as admitted or nonadmitted in accordance with SSAP No. 
4. 

164. The Company has free and clear title to all owned assets, and there are no liens or encumbrances on such 
assets nor has any asset been pledged except as disclosed in the annual statement. 

175. We have reviewed long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangibles whenever changes in 
circumstances have indicated that the carrying amount of these assets might not be recoverable and have 
recorded the adjustment in accordance with SSAP No. 5. 

186. Deferred tax assets and liabilities as reported in the financial statements comply and have been valued in 
accordance with SSAP No. 10, Income Taxes. 
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197. The Company has properly disclosed and recorded any premium deficiency reserves in accordance with 
SSAP No. 53. (P & C) 

2018. Investments are appropriately recorded and valued as follows: 

• Bonds – are recorded and disclosed in accordance with SSAP No. 26 and interpretations thereof. 

• Preferred stocks – are recorded and disclosed in accordance with SSAP No. 32 and interpretations 
thereof.  

• Common stocks – are recorded and disclosed in accordance with SSAP No. 30 and interpretations 
thereof. Common stock of subsidiaries and affiliated or controlled companies are recorded and 
disclosed in accordance with SSAP No. 46 and interpretations thereof.  

• Short-term investments – are recorded and disclosed in accordance with SSAP No. 2 and 
interpretations thereof.  

• Mortgage loans and collateral loans – are recorded and disclosed in accordance with SSAPs No. 37 
&and No. 21 and interpretations thereof.  

• Real estate – is recorded and disclosed in accordance with SSAP No. 40 and interpretations thereof.  

• Policy loans – are recorded and disclosed in accordance with SSAP No. 49 and interpretations thereof. 
(Life, A & H) 

• Health Care Delivery Assets – are recorded and disclosed in accordance with SSAP No. 73. (Health) 

• Derivatives – are recorded and disclosed in accordance with SSAP’s No. 31 & 86 and interpretations 
thereof. 

2119. We have made you aware of all derivative risks that the company is subject to that are not disclosed on 
Schedule DB of the Annual Statement. 

220. Accident and Health Premiums Due and Unpaid – Premiums are recognized and reported in accordance 
with SSAP No. 54. Uncollected premiums are reported in accordance with SSAP No. 6. (Health) 

23. Adequate consideration has been given to, and appropriate provision made for, estimated adjustments to 
revenue, such as for denied claims and changes to diagnosis-related group (DRG) assignments. (Health) 

24. All peer review organizations, fiscal intermediary, and third-party payor reports and information have been 
made available. (Health) 

25. Cost reports filed with third parties: (Life, A & H, Health) 

• All required Medicare, Medicaid, and similar reports have been properly filed. 

• Management is responsible for accuracy and propriety of all cost records filed. 

• All costs reflected on such reports are appropriate and allowable under applicable reimbursement rules 
and regulations and are patient-related and properly allocated to applicable payors. 

• The reimbursement methodologies and principles employed are in accordance with applicable rules 
and regulations. 
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• Adequate consideration has been given to, and appropriate provision made for, audit adjustments by 
intermediaries, third-party payors, or other regulatory agencies. 

• All items required to be disclosed, including disputed costs that are being claimed to establish a basis 
for subsequent appeal, have been fully disclosed in the cost report. 

• Recorded third-party settlements include differences between filed (and to be filed) cost reports and 
calculated settlements, which are necessary based on historical experience or new or ambiguous 
regulations that may be subject to differing interpretations.      

26. The Company’s liabilities for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses are based upon and recorded at 
management’s best estimate in accordance with SSAP No. 55. (P & C, Mortgage Guaranty) 

261. The Company has properly disclosed and recorded policy reserves in accordance with SSAP’s No. 51, 52, 
54 and 59. The Company’s liabilities for unpaid claims and claim adjustment expenses are based upon and 
recorded at management’s best extimate in accordance with SSAP No. 55. (Life, A & H) 

26. The Company’s liabilities for unpaid claims and claim adjustment expenses are based upon and recorded 
at management’s best estimate in accordance with SSAP No. 55. (Health, Title) 

27. Agents’ balances or uncollected premiums have been recorded and disclosed in accordance with SSAP 
No. 6. (P & C, Mortgage Guaranty, Title) 

228. The Company has properly disclosed and recorded separate account transactions in accordance with SSAP 
No. 56. (Life, A & H) 

29. The Company’s actuary has certified as to the propriety of the basis and amounts at which the deferred and 
uncollected premiums, the reserve for life policies and contracts (including deposit-like contracts; SSAP 
No. 52), and the reserve for accident and health policies are stated. (Life, A & H) 

29. The Company’s actuary has certified to the propriety of the basis and amounts at which the claim reserves 
and all actuarial liabilities are stated at (Month, Date, Year). (Health) 

30. The Company has computed the asset valuation reserve and interest maintenance reserve in accordance 
with methods prescribed by the Annual Statement Instructions of the National Association of Insurance 
Commissioners. (Life, A & H) 

30. The Company has recorded individual and group accident and health reserves in accordance with SSAP 
No. 54. (Health) 

30. The Statutory Contingency Reserve and applicable supplementary reserve has been properly recorded and 
disclosed in accordance with SSAP No. 58. (Mortgage Guaranty) 

30. The Statutory Premium Reserve and applicable supplemental reserve has been properly recorded and 
disclosed in accordance with SSAP No. 57. (Title) 

31. Title plants have been recorded and disclosed in accordance with SSAP No. 57. (Title) 

32. Utilization data has been properly determined and included in the statutory financial statement. (Health) 

33. Covered liabilities are properly stated in the statutory financial statement and are determined as health care 
services covered through “hold harmless” clauses in the provider contracts which state that providers will 
not bill enrollees even though the provided has not been paid by the HMO. (Health) 
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34. The Company is in compliance with contractual agreements, grants, and donor restrictions. (Health) 

35. There were no material commitments for construction or acquisition of property, plant and equipment, or 
to acquire other noncurrent assets, such as investments or intangibles.  

23. In the event of a material commitment, replace this clause #22 with the following: Other than the 
commitment described in Note X of the financial statements, there are no material commitments for 
construction, or acquisition of property, plant and equipment, or to acquire other noncurrent assets, such as 
investments or intangibles which require disclosure in the financial statements.  

3624. We have complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that would have a material effect on the 
statutory financial statement in the event of noncompliance. 

3725. There are no material transactions that have not been properly recorded in the accounting records 
underlying the statutory financial statements. 

3826. All required returns and statutory reporting requirements have been filed on a timely basis with the 
appropriate regulatory bodies. 

3927. All material reinsurance transactions have been recorded and disclosed in accordance with SSAP No. 62. 
(P & C, Mortgage Guaranty, Title) 

39. All material reinsurance transactions have been recorded and disclosed in accordance with SSAP No. 61. 
(Life, A & H, Health) 

2840. The Company has properly disclosed and recorded all changes in accounting principles in accordance with 
SSAP No. 3. 

2941. The Company has recorded and disclosed subsequent events in accordance with SSAP No. 9.  

30. In the event of a subsequent event, the following should replace this clause #29 in the Management 
Representations Letter: Other than …. described in Note X to the financial statements, there have been no 
events subsequent to period end which require adjustment of or disclosure in the financial statements or 
notes thereto. 

3142. The Company is not aware of the employment of or a business relationship with a “prohibited person” as 
defined in The Violent Crime Control and Law Enforcement Act of 1994: United States Code, Section 
1033 (e)(1)(A). 

4332. Note X to the financial statements discloses all of the matters of which we are aware that are relevant to the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, including significant conditions and events, and 
management’s plans. 

4433. We agree with the findings of specialists in evaluating the (describe the assertion) and have adequately 
considered the qualifications of the specialists in determining the amounts and disclosures used in the 
financial statements and underlying accounting records. We did not give or cause any instructions to be 
given to specialists with respect to the values or amounts derived in an attempt to bias their work.  

4534. The valuation of securities is consistent with the methods allowed under the Purposes and Procedures 
Manual of the NAIC Securities Valuation Office and what is required under the NAIC Accounting 
Practices and Procedures Manual. 

3465. The Company has recorded and disclosed defined benefit plans and defined contribution plans in 
accordance with SSAP No. 89. 
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3476. The Company has recorded and disclosed postretirement benefits other than pensions in accordance with 
SSAP No. 14. 

Note:  The following representations may not apply to all examinations, particularly smaller companies with less 
sophisticated information systems environments. 

3487. Regarding the corporate Information Systems (IS) function, we have made available to you all information 
and documentation responsive to your review of the IS function; and we have, to the best of our 
knowledge and belief, answered all questions and inquires fully and accurately. 

4938. Except as already disclosed to you, the corporate IS function has established and maintains adequate 
policies, procedures and guidelines concerning systems security, systems back up, systems design, change 
controls, testing of systems changes, configuration of transaction controls, documentation and error or 
exception reporting. 

5039. All corporate IS policies, and guidelines and systems that could have a material impact on the financial 
statements solvency of the company are monitored and have been complied with; and, no breaches that 
could have a material impact on the financial statementssolvency of the company, whether perpetrated by 
external or internal parties, are known to have occurred. (If incorrect, describe fully.) 

4510. There were no significant deficiencies or material weaknesses with new systems, system modifications or 
new site locations implemented during the period that could have a material impact on the financial 
statementssolvency of the company. 

4521. None of the Company’s third party service providers, upon which the Company relies, has known 
problems which would be likely to threaten the reliability of the Company’s information systems and/or 
the systems' internal controls, or which could have a material impact on the Company's financial 
statementssolvency. 

 

We understand that your examination was made in accordance with standards established by the (Name of State) 
Department of Insurance, and procedures established by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners, 
and accordingly included such tests of the accounting records and such other procedures as considered necessary 
under the circumstances. 

 

Name of Insurance Company, Title Company or Mortgage Guaranty 

 

____________________________________    

Chief Executive Officer Date 

 

____________________________________   

Chief Financial Officer Date 
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EXHIBIT V – PROSPECTIVE RISK ASSESSMENT 

 
The concept of risk on a risk-focused examination encompasses not only risks as of the examination date, but 
risks which extend or commence during the time which the examination was conducted, and risks which are 
anticipated to arise or extend past the point of examination completion. As such, consideration of ‘prospective 
risks’ (including moderate or high residual risks existing at the balance sheet date that will impact future 
operations, risks anticipated to arise due to assessments of company management and/or operations or risks 
associated with future business plans of the company) is an intrinsic element of a risk-focused examination and 
should occur throughout all phases of the examination process.  
 
This exhibit has been included as a guide for examiners to utilize in documenting their consideration of 
prospective risks that are overarching and relate to more than one specific key-activity of the company. 
Additionally, this exhibit includes example categoriesexamples of general prospective riskscircumstances that 
impact insurershave previously been associated with troubled insurance company situations.  
 
In completing this exhibit and documenting the examiner’s consideration of prospective risks throughout the 
examination process, the examiner should conduct an evaluation, and if possible, examination procedures on the 
noted prospective insolvency risks to assess the degree of risk present and recommend future monitoring. 
Throughout the examination process and at the conclusion of the exam, the examiner should communicate with 
the department’s financial analysts to keep them informed of the identified prospective risks and examiner 
assessments.  
  
Consideration of Prospective Risks – Risks Identified During Phases of Risk-Focused Examination: 
 
As discussed throughout the Handbook guidance, the consideration of prospective risks should occur throughout 
each phase of the examination process. During Phase 1 of the examination, the examination team should have 
completed a high level review of the company to ensure that any solvency concerns, including those that 
commenced or extended after the examination date or those that are anticipated to commence or extend beyond 
the examination completion date are considered and addressed during the course of the examination. If the 
examiner identifies a prospective risk that relates to one specific key-activity of the company, this prospective risk 
should be documented in the corresponding risk matrix for that key-activity and treated the same as all other 
identified risks. However, if the examiner identifies a prospective risk that does not relate to a specific key-
activity identified, or relates to more than one key-activity identified, the examiner should utilize this exhibit to 
document the process to consider these prospective risks.  
 
For the prospective risks to be documented in this exhibit, the process to consider these prospective risks should 
generally reflectmirror the risk-focused examination phases. Similar to of key activities/sub-activities. Within 
Phase 2 of the examination, the examinerinsurer should identify assess the inherent risks that may result in 
significant of the prospective solvency risks to the company. As outlined concerns. Within Phase 3, the examiner 
should evaluate the impact of existing risk mitigation strategies to assess whether the potential solvency risk is 
reduced through current internal controls andcompany operations of the company. Following this evaluation, the 
examiner should assess . In Phase 4 an assessment of the residual risk that remains risks for each of the general 
prospective risks identified in the exhibit. Finally, the examiner should perform examinationshould be completed 
to aid the examiner in determining the extent of procedures (if possible) to evaluatenecessary within Phase 5 to 
ensure appropriate consideration of the potential solvency concerns during the prospective risk further or 
determine steps for ongoing monitoring and/or making recommendations tocourse of the company as outlined in 
Phases 5-7examination.  
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Examiners may use the following worksheet to should document the prospective risks identified and the impact of 
existing risk mitigation strategies to assess the extent that the prospective risks identified are mitigated through 
current company operations. (It is presumed that those items noted with moderate or high residual risks would 
often be considered prospective risks that may impact future company operations.) 
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Prospective Risk 
Identified 

Risk Mitigation 
Strategies 

Prospective Residual 
Risk Assessment 

Examination Procedure 
and/ or Communication 
with Analysts 

Prospective Risk 1 
(Example) – In order to 
improve the company’s 
market share, the 
company is currently 
implementing a plan to 
extend their auto 
insurance operations into 
five new states. Example 
1 – Company 
management does not 
enforce a code of conduct 
and the attitude of top 
management was 
apathetic towards the 
establishment of effective 
internal controls.  

The company has 
established a focus group 
to assess the impacts of 
the expansion as well as 
to assess and monitor the 
surplus necessary to 
accept this new business. 
No risk mitigation 
strategies to address this 
concern were identified 

Moderate – The company 
appears to be addressing 
key concerns of the 
planned expansion with 
the establishment of a 
focus group. However, 
this process cannot fully 
reduce the high inherent 
risk of expanding 
operations into several 
new territories. High – 
Although the company 
appears to be solvent at 
this time, the attitude of 
top management presents 
a situation in which 
increased monitoring 
would be required to 
ensure continued 
stability. 

Risk was communicated to 
Due to the lack of an 
appropriate ‘tone at the 
top’, the examiner will 
exercise additional 
conservatism in 
completing the risk-
focused examination. The 
examiner notified the 
financial analysts of this 
concern on 5/30/XX. 
Analysts were  and 
requested to specifically 
evaluate the increased 
premiums and related 
surplus levels. In addition, 
analysts plan to follow- up 
with the company on its 
progress in extending its 
business.additional 
monitoring of this insurer. 
It is recommended that 
future examinations of this 
insurer occur no less than 
every 3 years. 

Prospective Risk 
2:Example 2 – In order 
to improve the company’s 
market share, the 
company is currently 
implementing a plan to 
extend their auto 
insurance operations into 
five new states.  

The company has 
established a focus group 
to assess the extent of 
increased premiums 
expected from this 
expansion as well as 
assess and monitor the 
surplus requirements 
needed to accept this new 
business  

Low – The company 
appears to be addressing 
key concerns of the 
planned expansion with 
the establishment of a 
focus group.  

Risk was communicated to 
financial analysts on 
5/30/XX. Analysts were 
requested to specifically 
evaluate the increased 
premiums and related 
surplus levels. In addition, 
analysts plan to follow- up 
with the company on its 
progress in extending its 
business. 

Prospective Risk 3:    

Prospective Risk 4:    

Prospective Risk 5:    
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Consideration of Prospective Risks – Common AreasCauses of ConcernInsurer Insolvencies: 
 
The prospective risk categories provided within this exhibit are not designed to be an all-inclusive list and may 
not apply to all insurance companies that are under examination. The examiner’s understanding of the company 
obtained in Phase 1 should be utilized to determine whether risks in these categories may be applicable to the 
company. The company will likely face additional prospective risks that do not fit within the categories in this 
exhibitThe NAIC Troubled Insurance Company Handbook (TIC Handbook), which is maintained by the 
Financial Analysis (E) Working Group, discusses some of the more typical circumstances that have been 
associated with previously identified troubled insurance companies situations. A Troubled Company is broadly 
defined by the TIC Handbook as an insurance company that either is or is moving toward a financial position that 
subjects its policyholders, claimants, and other creditors to greater-than-normal financial risk, including the 
possibility that the company may not maintain compliance with the applicable statutory minimum capital and/or 
surplus requirements.  
 

Prospective Risk Category Comments 
Merger and Acquisition Activity If applicable, review the company’s process to identify and perform 

due diligence on potential acquisitions. In addition, it may be 
appropriate to review the company’s process to integrate acquired 
entities and business into its systems.  

Product Development If applicable, review and assess the company’s process to identify, 
develop, price and market new products in accordance with the 
company’s strategy and business needs. 

Legal & Regulatory Changes If applicable, review how the company identifies, monitors and 
addresses changes to the legal and regulatory environment it operates 
within.  

HR/Personnel Risks If applicable, review and assess the company’s HR processes to 
identify, mitigate and monitor risks related to hiring, managing, 
retaining and terminating personnel in accordance with company 
needs.  

Strategic Planning If applicable, review and assess the company’s processes for strategic 
planning to determine whether the company regularly analyzes its 
strengths and weaknesses as well as opportunities and threats on an 
ongoing basis. In addition, it may be appropriate to review the 
company’s process to update its overall business plan on a regular 
basis. 

Compensation Structure If applicable, review the company’s process for developing, 
monitoring and adjusting its compensation structure to ensure that 
employees are appropriately compensated without creating an 
incentive to misrepresent financial results. 

Rating Agency Downgrade If applicable, review the company’s process to monitor and prepare for 
potential adverse changes in its credit ratings. If a future rating agency 
downgrade is deemed likely, consider whether the company is 
adequately prepared to handle the results of such a downgrade.  

Costs of Capital If applicable, review the company’s access and ability to obtain 
capital, reinsurance and letters of credit, if necessary, to meet funding 
and risk diversification needs.   
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E. Part 5: Consideration of Prospective Risks for Indications of Solvency Concerns 

In addition to conducting an examination to verify the current status of the company’s solvency condition, the risk 
assessment surveillance cycle requires examiners to prospectively consider the company’s financial condition by 
assessing whether the company’s current processes provide indications of future solvency concerns. In conducting 
examinations based on the risk-focused surveillance framework, the examiner should give consideration to the 
business processes and management controls that often are considered retrospectively after financial issues 
indicate that a company has potential financial solvency issues. In addition to assessing business risks, other 
elements that would commonly be assessed for prospective solvency risks include consideration of the company’s 
asset/liability matching approach, process for establishing loss reserves, pricing and underwriting and reinsurance 
arrangements. Among other things, these assessments should include consideration of the company’s rate of 
growth and whether the liquidity of assets would create future concerns about the company’s financial solvency.  
 
As discussed in the preamble, this enhanced approach will allow the examiner to review risks that existed at the 
examination “as of” date and will be positioned to assess risks that extend or commence during the time the 
examination was conducted and risks which are anticipated to arise or extend past the point of examination 
completion. How the examiner addresses the prospective risk noted during the examination depends on the nature 
of the prospective risk itself. Consider the following chart for clarification: 
 

Impact on Financial 
Statements (F/S) 
currently under 

Examination 

Type of Risk How Addressed by Examiner 

Impact to the current 
financial statement or 
to financial 
statements up to the 
date of the 
completion of the 
examination. 

 

oSpecific risks that are known as of 
the balance sheet date that would 
have an impact on financial 
statements. 

oSpecific items that the company 
entered into or risks that 
expanded after the balance sheet 
date that impact the financial 
statements: 

�Subsequent event 
�Footnote disclosure 

Follow risk-focused 
examination approach. 
Documentation in: 

�Risk Assessment Matrix 
under the Financial 
Reporting Risk section 

�Completion of Exhibit P 
“Review of Events 
Subsequent to B/S 
Date” 

No impact to current 
financial statement or 
financial statements 
up to the date of 
completion of the 
examination. 

oSpecific Items that the company 
entered into after the balance 
sheet date which requires 
monitoring: 

�New line of business 
�Entering into state 

oEnterprise Risk – Company 
processes that provide 
indications of solvency concerns 
�Business process 
�Corporate governance 

Activity should be monitored 
and detail procedures may be 
required as part of the 
examination and the 
conclusions should be provided 
to financial analysts and used 
for supervisory plan. 
Documentation in:  

�Risk Assessment Matrix 
under the Risks Other 
Than Financial 
Reporting section 
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�Controls or lack of certain 
controls 

 
Preliminary examples of risks that an examiner may want to consider in assessing prospective solvency concerns 
have been included within Exhibit O.  
 
By the end of Phase 1 of the examination, the examination team should have completed a high level review of the 
insurer to identify any solvency concerns that commenced or extended after the examination date, or that are 
anticipated to commence or extend beyond the examination completion date. This should ensure that all potential 
solvency concerns are considered and addressed during the course of the exam. If the examiner identifies a 
prospective risk that relates to one specific key-activity of the company, this prospective risk should be 
documented in the corresponding risk matrix (or similar document) for that key-activity and treated the same as 
all other identified risks. As such, examples of risks that an examiner may want to consider in assessing 
prospective solvency concerns related to common key activities have been included within the examination 
repositories. However, if the examiner identifies a prospective risk that does not relate to a specific key-activity 
identified, or relates to more than one key-activity identified, the examiner should utilize Exhibit V to document 
the process to consider these prospective risks. The examiner should also utilize the risk matrix (or similar 
documentation) for documenting risks identified other than financial reporting risks. These risks may require 
detail examination procedures to be performed and/or be monitored and provided to the financial analysts and 
used for the supervisory plan. (The Risk Assessment Matrix illustrates the method the examiner should utilize in 
documenting and assessing the business and prospective risks within a company.) 

As the examination team analyzes the current information on the company, knowledge of the various risks will 
assist in identifying the key functional activities to focus on during the examination.  
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EXHIBIT Y – EXAMINATION INTERVIEWS 

Overview 

Interviews are a useful examination tool to gather information about key activities, risks, and risk mitigation 
strategies. Employees can also provide information on fraudulent activity within the company. It is critical for the 
examination team to understand and leverage the company’s risk management program; that is how the company 
identifies, controls, monitors, evaluates and responds to its risks. The discipline and structure of risk management 
programs vary dramatically from company to company. Interviews should be performed in the early stages of the 
examination so that regulators can adjust their procedures accordingly. An examiner can perform alternate, 
additional, or fewer substantive and control tests as a result of interviews with the company.  
 
Interviews should be conducted with key members within management of the company as well as members of the 
board of directors, audit committee, internal/external auditors and any other employees deemed necessary. These 
interviews can be used at the beginning of the examination or at any time during the examination as necessary.  
However, a basic understanding of the company is essential to obtain prior to conducting interviews. Examiners 
should consider the size and complexity of the organization in determining which individuals to interview. This 
interview process is a key step in the top down approach, beginning with senior management and then drilling 
down through the various levels of management to obtain a thorough understanding of the organization to assist in 
scoping the examination. In order to select the individuals to interview, the examiners should obtain an 
organizational chart from the company and compile a list of potential interviewees.  Interviews of board members 
and senior company management should be conducted by examiners who possess the appropriate background and 
training.  
 
Interviews should be performed in person if possible. This allows the interviewer to receive both verbal and 
nonverbal communication. The interviews should be kept confidential when possible; however, if a significant 
fraud or other pertinent issue was discovered through the interviews, the regulator has a duty to report the conflict 
to the appropriate officials.  
 
The examiner should conduct the interview in a location where both parties are free to talk openly.  The examiner 
should ask relevant questions with the most general questions posed first as building blocks for additional 
conversation.  The examiner may want to consider alternating between open ended questions (i.e.  Explain to me 
how this process works) vs. closed ended questions (i.e. How many claim processors do you have in your 
department?) to obtain the information. Open ended questions are generally better suited for explanation and 
processes while the closed ended questions are better suited to obtain concise information. The examiner should 
be prepared, listen carefully, and focus on the speaker’s entire message as well as non-verbal expressions during 
the interview process.  
 
Since information obtained from the interview serves as important evidence in the examination process, the 
examiner should develop techniques to plan, conduct, document, and consider interview information.  Although 
interviews play a key role in gaining useful insight into company operations, interviews alone are not sufficient 
exam evidence and should be corroborated with other exam documentation to evaluate the accuracy of the 
information.   
 
NOTE: The following template was prepared to assist examiners in obtaining a general knowledge of the 
company through the interview process. The examiner performing the interview should not rely exclusively on 
this template and should tailor questions based on knowledge of the company and the interviewee. Each section of 
the template is described below to assist the examiner in tailoring the template to the interviewee.   
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Instructions 

Experience and Background – In this section, the examiner should determine the knowledge, education and 
practical experience the interviewee possesses. When obtaining background information on board/committee 
members, the examiner should consider whether the interviewee is independent of the company. If the examiner 
has obtained sufficient information from the interviewee’s biography, questioning may not be necessary. 
 
Duties and Responsibilities – In this section, the examiner should obtain information about what responsibilities 
the interviewee has within the organization including any potential conflicting duties. When interviewing 
board/committee members, the examiner should determine whether the interviewee demonstrates a proper 
understanding of how management establishes and monitors achievement of objectives. In addition, board 
members should be able to explain what company information they monitor on a continuing basis.  
 
Reporting Structure – In the reporting section, the examiner should gain an understanding of the organizational 
structure and how the interviewee’s department interrelates with other departments. Examiners should obtain 
information on who reports to the interviewee as well as whom the interviewee reports to, what information is 
being reported and reviewed and how often.  
 
Ethics – In the ethics section, the examiner should obtain information explaining how ethics are communicated 
and expressed throughout the company. The examiner should also determine if the interviewee is aware of any 
fraudulent activities or allegations of fraudulent activities impacting the company. When interviewing board 
members, the examiner should determine whether the board is reviewing and enforcing the code of conduct on a 
continuing basis.  
  
Risk Areas – In this section, the examiner should ask the interviewee to explain the risks inherent in his/her 
department or area of interest. Inquiring about risks will assist the examiner in completing Phase 2, Identify and 
Assess Inherent Risk in Activities. In addition to interviewing board members and upper management about risks 
inherent to the company, the examiner should also obtain information regarding types of external/environmental 
factors affecting the company. 
 
Risk Mitigation Strategies – In this section, the examiner should ask the interviewee to explain how the company 
mitigates risks identified in the previous section. This information should include what controls are in place to 
prevent or detect those risks. Inquiring about risk mitigation strategies will assist the examiner in Phase 3, Identify 
and Evaluate Risk Mitigation Strategies (Controls). 
 
Corporate Strategy – This section only pertains to board/committee members and upper management. The 
examiner should ask the interviewee to explain the corporate strategic initiatives of the company. In addition, the 
examiner should determine how the company prepares strategic plans for the future of the company and what 
competitive advantages/disadvantages exist within the company. 
 
Other Topics – The examiner should obtain information regarding any other topics not previously discussed in 
this section. Some topics include significant turnover in his/her department, political or regulatory changes that 
may affect business and prospective risks. 
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Examination Interview Template 
 
Interviewer:       Interviewee:        

Date & Time:       Title/Position of Interviewee:      
 
Experience and Background 
              

              

 

Duties and Responsibilities 
              

               

 
Reporting Structure 
               

               

 
Ethics 
              

               

 
Risk Areas 
              

               

 
Risk Mitigation Strategies (Internal Controls) 
              

               

 
Corporate Strategy 
              

               

 
Other Topics 

              

               

NOTE: The following lists of questions represent optional tools for examiners to use when conducting 
examination interviews. Lists have been created for several key positions of the company which are commonly 
interviewed during the examination process. Each list includes questions that have been customized based upon 
the company position that the examiners may consider asking during the interview. It is important to note that the 
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actual questions asked during the examination interview process should be at the discretion of the interviewer. Not 
all questions included in the listing may be appropriate for each interview. In addition, the interviewer 
should ask questions not included in the listing according to the examiner’s understanding of the company. 
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Interview Questions for Board or Committee Members 

 

Experience and Background 
• How has your professional experience and background prepared you to serve on the Board of Directors for 

this company? 
 
Duties and Responsibilities 

• How often does the board/committee meet? Why is that sufficient? 
• Briefly describe your duties and responsibilities, including what company information you monitor on a 

continuous basis. 
• How does management establish objectives and how does the board of directors monitor achievement of 

those objectives? 
• What role does the board of directors play in determining executive compensation? 
• What areas are discussed and what type of decisions are made by the board/committee? 

- How does the board ensure that sufficient information is received to make informed decisions on 
behalf of the company? 

• Does the board/committee review related party transactions? 
 
Reporting Structure 

• Describe the reporting structure of the company including who reports to the board/committee. 
• Describe the interaction the board of directors has with the internal/external auditors. Shareholders. Senior 

Management. 
 
Ethics 

• Does the company have a code of conduct/ethics in place? Is it enforced? Approved? 
• Explain the commitment to ethics by the board/committee and explain how the board/committee conveys 

that commitment to employees. 
- How does the board obtain an understanding of the “tone” throughout the organization? 

• How does the company compare to others in terms of its position on ethics? 
• Do you have any knowledge or suspicion of fraud within the company? 

 
Risk Areas 

• How does the board identify and monitor key risks faced by the company? 
- What are the key risks the board has identified? 
- What are the key prospective risks the company faces? 

• Does the board review any type of stress testing? 
 
Risk Mitigation Strategies (Internal Controls) 

• How often does the board receive reports from management on the internal controls of the company? 
- What information is reported? 

 
Corporate Strategy 

• How is the board involved in significant corporate strategy decisions? 
• Does the board approve an annual business plan? 
• How does the board gain comfort with total exposures and the risk return trade-offs? 
• Where is the company headed strategically? What type of plan is in place to implement this strategy? Has 

it been approved? How is it being monitored? 
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• Is the corporate strategy effectively communicated between senior management and the rest of the 
company? 

• Explain any strengths or weaknesses of the company as well as opportunities or threats  the company is 
facing and how the company is responding to each. 

 
Other Topics 

• Explain any significant turnover in senior management or on the board/committee. 
• What type of succession planning does the company have in place? 
• Based upon the current economic climate, are there any other competencies/skills that would be useful to 

the board? 
• Is the current size of the board sufficient to fulfill necessary oversight responsibilities? 
• How does the company monitor and assess financing needs as well as access to capital? 
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Interview Questions for the Chief Executive Officer 

 
Experience and Background 

• How has your professional experience and background prepared you to serve as the Chief Executive 
Officer for this company? 

 
Duties and Responsibilities 

• Briefly describe your duties and responsibilities. 
• How does management establish objectives and how is the achievement of those objectives monitored? 
• What role do you play in the hiring of senior management and determining executive compensation? 

- How is your compensation determined? 
• How do you support the operations and administration of the board? 
 

Reporting Structure 
• Describe the reporting structure of the company including to whom you report as well as those reporting to 

you. 
• Explain the function and reporting structure of your senior management team. 

- How often are you in contact with them? 
• Describe your interaction with the board of directors. 

 
Ethics 

• Does the company have a code of conduct/ethics in place? Is it enforced? Approved? 
• Explain management's commitment to ethics and explain how management conveys that commitment to 

employees. 
- How does management obtain an understanding of the “tone” throughout the organization? 

• When establishing ethics, does the company evaluate what other companies have implemented?  If yes, 
how does the company compare? 

• Do you have any knowledge or suspicion of fraud within the company? 
 

Risk Areas 
• How are key risks faced by the company identified and monitored? 

- What are the key prospective risks the company faces? 
- How are these risks communicated to senior management and throughout the company? 

• Describe any stress testing performed by the company. 
  

Risk Mitigation Strategies (Internal Controls) 
• What is the formal procedure for reporting on risk management to senior management and the board? 
• Explain your commitment to the internal control structure? 
• What is your company’s plan for operating in crisis/disaster – business continuity? 
• From a strategic perspective, how are risks addressed across all business units and entities? 
 

Corporate Strategy 
• Where is the company headed strategically?  What type of plan is in place to implement this strategy?  Has 

it been approved?  How is it being monitored? 
• What are your plans for retaining and growing business? 
•  Explain what tools or reports you utilize to make key business decisions. 
• Explain any strengths or weaknesses of the company as well as opportunities or threats the company is 

facing and how the company is responding to each. 
• What key measures do you assess to evaluate the company’s performance and competitive position? 
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• If part of a Holding Company: 
- How does the holding company contribute to the company’s strategy? 
- How might the holding company be impacted by the company’s strategy?  

• How often do you discuss corporate strategy with your direct reports? 
 
Other Topics 

• Explain any significant turnover in senior management or on the board/committee. 
• What type of succession planning does the company have in place? 
• How does the company monitor and assess financing needs as well as access to capital? 

 

Attachment Four-A 
Examination Oversight (E) Task Force 

12/6/09

© 2009 National Association of Insurance Commissioners 22



 

Interview Questions for the Chief Financial Officer/Controller 

 

Experience and Background 
• How has your professional experience and background prepared you to serve as Chief Financial Officer 

for this company? 
 
Duties and Responsibilities 

• Briefly describe your duties and responsibilities, including the preparation and information flow of 
financial reports. 

• How does management establish objectives and how is the achievement of those objectives monitored? 
• How is your performance evaluated? Is it based on the performance of the company? 
• Describe your involvement in regulatory compliance. 

 
Reporting Structure 

• Describe the reporting structure of the company including to whom you report as well as those reporting to 
you.  

• Describe your interaction with the board of directors. Internal/external auditors.  
• How is financial information disclosed to the board/shareholders/creditors/others? 

 
Ethics 

• Does the company have a code of conduct/ethics in place? Is it enforced? Approved? 
• Explain management's commitment to ethics and explain how management conveys that commitment to 

employees. 
- How does management obtain an understanding of the “tone” throughout the organization? 

• When establishing ethics, does the company evaluate what other companies have implemented?  If yes, 
how does the company compare  

• Do you have any knowledge or suspicion of fraud within the company? 
• Have you ever had to take a position on an accounting/reporting issue or make an adjustment to the 

financial statements that you were uncomfortable with or did not fully understand? 
 
Risk Areas 

• How are key risks faced by the company identified and monitored? 
- What are the key prospective risks the company faces? 
- How are these risks communicated to your senior management level team and throughout the 

company? 
• What key risks do you monitor in your position? 

- What reports or other means do you utilize to evaluate the risks? 
• Do you monitor risks relevant to specific components or divisions within the entity? 
 

Risk Mitigation Strategies (Internal Controls) 
• How often do you discuss with the audit committee/board of directors how the internal control system 

serves the company? 
• How has the Model Audit Rule affected the company? Holding company? 
• Briefly describe the key aspects of the financial reporting process, including validation of financial 

information, review and approval, and distribution. 
• Describe some of the key management estimates (i.e. loss reserves, etc.) included within the company's 

financial reports and describe how they are performed, reviewed and approved. 
• Describe the budgeting and planning process. 
• Briefly describe the month/year-end close process including manual journal entries and approvals. 
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• What is the process for adopting/implementing accounting guidance? 
 
Corporate Strategy 

• Where is the company headed strategically?  What type of plan is in place to implement this strategy?  Has 
it been approved?  How is it being monitored? 

• What are your plans for retaining and growing business? 
•  Explain what tools or reports you utilize to make key business decisions. 
• How do you identify and manage changes in business conditions? 
• Explain any strengths or weaknesses of the company as well as opportunities or threats the company is 

facing and how the company is responding to each. 
• What key measures do you assess to evaluate your company’s performance and competitive position? 
• If part of a Holding Company: 

- How does the holding company contribute to the company’s strategy? 
- How might the holding company be impacted by the company’s strategy?  

• How often do you discuss corporate strategy with your direct reports? 
 
Other Topics 

• Explain any significant turnover in your department. 
• How are related party transactions approved and recorded and how are related party transactions disclosed 

to shareholders? 
• Is the accounting department adequately staffed? 
• How does the company monitor and assess financing needs as well as access to capital? 
• Explain the company's involvement in transactions that include derivative risks? 
• Is the company subject to any derivative risks that are not disclosed within Schedule DB of the Annual 

Statement?  If so, please explain. 
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Interview Questions for the Chief Operating Officer 

Note: Several different functions/processes could report to the Chief Operating Officer.  Some of these areas have 
questions outlined within this exhibit (e.g. Underwriter, Actuary, etc.)  The examiner will likely need to tailor 
interview questions for other specific functions that are not included (e.g. Claims Handling, Sales & Marketing, 
Human Resources, etc.). 
 
Experience and Background 

• How has your professional experience and background prepared you to serve as the Chief Operating 
Officer for this company? 

 
Duties and Responsibilities 

• Briefly describe your duties and responsibilities. 
• How does management establish objectives and how is the achievement of those objectives monitored? 
• How is your performance evaluated?  Is it based upon the performance of the company? 
• Describe your involvement in regulatory compliance. 
• Describe your involvement in the sales and marketing aspects of the company. 
 

Reporting Structure 
• Describe the reporting structure of the company including to whom you report as well as those reporting to 

you.  
• Describe your interaction with the CEO and other senior management. Board of Directors. 
 

Ethics  
• Does your company have a code of conduct/ethics in place? Is it enforced? Approved? 
• Explain management's commitment to ethics and explain how management conveys that commitment to 

employees. 
• When establishing ethics, does the company evaluate what other companies have implemented?  If yes, 

how does the company compare  
• Do you have any knowledge or suspicion of fraud within the company? 
 

Risk Areas 
• How are key risks faced by the company identified and monitored? 

- What are the key prospective risks the company faces? 
- How are these risks communicated to senior management and throughout the company? 

• What key risks do you monitor in your position? 
- What reports or other means do you utilize to evaluate the risks? 

• Do you monitor risks relevant to specific components or divisions within the entity? 
 

Risk Mitigation Strategies (Internal Controls) 
• How often do you discuss with the audit committee/board of directors how the internal control system 

serves the company?  
• How has the Model Audit Rule affected the company? Holding company? 
• What internal controls are in place to mitigate risks in the processes you supervise? 

 
Corporate Strategy 

• Where is the company headed strategically? What type of plan is in place to implement this strategy? How 
does the strategy impact activities within your department? 

• Explain strengths or weaknesses of the company as well as opportunities and threats the company is facing 
and how the company is responding to each. 

• What are your plans for retaining and growing business? 
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• What key measures do you assess to evaluate your company's performance and competitive position? 
• How often do you discuss corporate strategy with your direct reports? 

 
Other Topics 

• Explain any significant turnover in your department. 
• How do you ensure that your department is adequately staffed? 
• How often are claims reviews or audits performed and by whom?   What are examples of items that would 

be reviewed during the audit? 
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Interview Questions for an Internal Auditor 

 

Experience and Background 
• How has your experience and background prepared you to serve as internal auditor for this company? 

 
Duties and Responsibilities 

• Briefly describe your duties and responsibilities.  
• How is your performance evaluated?  Is it based on the performance of the company? 
• How much of your department’s time is allocated to MAR, business process reviews, compliance? 
• Do you perform any management or accounting functions? 
• How are audit findings communicated to the company? The board/audit committee? 
• Please describe any special projects and/or key initiatives. 

 
Reporting Structure 

• Describe the reporting structure of the company including to whom you report as well as who reports to 
you. 

• Describe your interaction with the board of directors/audit committee? External auditors? Senior 
Management? 

• How do you monitor/follow up on audit findings?  Are findings classified as to significance? 
 
Ethics 

• Does the company have a code of conduct/ethics in place? Is it enforced? Approved? 
• Explain your commitment to ethics and explain how you convey that commitment to your employees. 
• How does your company compare to others in terms of its position on ethics? 
• Do you have any knowledge or suspicion of fraud within the company? 

 
Risk Areas 

• How are key risks faced by the company identified and monitored? 
- What are the key prospective risks the company faces? 
- How are these risks communicated to your senior management level team and throughout the 

company? 
• What key risks do you monitor in your position? 

- What reports or other means do you utilize to evaluate the risks? 
• Do you monitor risks relevant to specific components or divisions within the entity? 
• How do you determine what audits to perform and the appropriate scope for those audits? 

 
Risk Mitigation Strategies (Internal Controls) 

• How does the internal audit department address the potential for override of internal controls? 
• Do you discuss with the audit committee/board of directors how the internal control system serves the 

company? How often? 
• How has the Model Audit Rule affected the company, if at all? Holding company? Internal audit 

department? 
• Describe any internal control issues discussed during the most recent audits. 
• Do you review the company’s application of accounting guidance? 
 

 
Corporate Strategy 
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• Explain strengths or weaknesses of the company as well as opportunities and threats the company is facing 
and how the company is responding to each. 

• What key measures do you assess to evaluate your company's performance and competitive position? 
• If part of a Holding Company: 

- How does the holding company contribute to the company’s strategy? 
- How might the holding company be impacted by the company’s strategy?  

• How often do you discuss corporate strategy with your direct reports? 
 
Other Topics 

• Explain any significant turnover in your department? 
• How do you ensure the internal audit department adequately staffed? 
• How are internal audit members hired? 
• Are any internal audit functions outsourced? 
• Is the company involved in transactions that include derivative risks? 
• Is the company subject to any derivative risks that are not disclosed within Schedule DB of the Annual 

Statement? 
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Interview Questions for Investment Management 

 

Experience and Background 
• How has your professional experience and background prepared you to manage the investments for this 

company? 
 
Duties and Responsibilities 

• Briefly describe your duties and responsibilities. 
• How does management establish investment objectives and how is the achievement of those objectives 

monitored? 
• Describe the governance structure over investments? 
• Are there written investment guidelines that the company must follow? 

- Do you or others monitor them for compliance? 
 

Reporting Structure 
• Describe the organizational structure of the investment function? 
• Describe the reporting structure of the company including to whom you report as well as those reporting to 

you. 
• Describe your interaction with the Board of Directors and the CEO. 
• What is the composition and role of the investment committee and is that committee independent from 

operational management?  
- How often do they meet? 
- What are their areas of concern? 

 
Ethics 

• Does the company have a code of conduct/ethics in place? Is it enforced? Approved? 
• Explain management's commitment to ethics and explain how management conveys that commitment 

employees. 
• Do you have any knowledge or suspicion of fraud within the company? 
 

Risk Areas 
• What is the company’s risk tolerance for investments and how is that communicated? 
• How does the company monitor risks related to investments (interest rate risk, credit risk, etc.)? 
• How does the company review its risk/reward tradeoff? 
• How does the company determine its asset allocation strategy? 

 
Risk Mitigation Strategies (Internal Controls) 

• What is the formal procedure for reporting on risk management to senior management and the board. 
• What internal controls exist to ensure adherence to investment policies and procedures? 
• How is performance and compliance gauged (both with statutory rules and internal investment policies)? 
• Who monitors potential impairment issues? 

- How often? 
• What controls and authorizations are in place to transfer money? 

- Are all employees with access to funds bonded? 
• Are all transactions approved by senior management? 
• How does the company monitor and determine the value for its Schedule BA investments? 
• How are assets and liabilities matched at the company? 
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Corporate Strategy 
• Where is the company headed strategically? What type of plan is in place to implement this strategy? How 

does the strategy impact activities within your department? 
• Explain strengths or weaknesses of the company as well as opportunities and threats the company is facing 

and how the company is responding to each. 
• Is the company-wide strategy clearly communicated to the rest of the company by senior management? 

- How does that impact your department goals/activities? 
• Explain what tools or reports you utilize to make key business decisions. 

 
Other Topics 

• Explain the company's involvement in transactions that include derivative risks? 
• Is the company subject to any derivative risks that are not disclosed within Schedule DB of the Annual 

Statement?  If so, please explain. 
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Interview Questions for Internal Legal Counsel 

 

Experience and Background 
• How has your professional experience and background prepared you to serve as legal counsel for this 

company? 
 
Duties and Responsibilities 

• Briefly describe your duties and responsibilities. 
• How do you identify any potential legal issues that may arise within the company? 

 
Reporting Structure 

• Describe the reporting structure of the company including to whom you report as well as who reports to 
you.  

 
Ethics 

• Does the company have a code of conduct/ethics in place? Is it enforced? Approved? 
• Explain management's commitment to ethics and explain how management conveys that commitment to 

employees. 
• Do you have any knowledge or suspicion of fraud within the company? 

 
Risk Areas 

• How are key legal and regulatory risks faced by the company identified and monitored? 
- What are the key prospective risks the company faces? 
- How are these risks communicated to your senior management level team and throughout the 

company? 
• Explain any significant (use a pre-determined threshold) lawsuits/legal actions outstanding against the 

company? 
• Are the number of lawsuits fluctuating or remaining constant? 
 

Other Topics 
• Has there been any turnover in your department? 
• Describe your staff’s experience.  
• Are any legal functions outsourced?  How are those functions monitored? 
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Interview Questions for Chief Risk Officer 

 

Experience and Background 
• How has your professional experience and background prepared you to serve as the Chief Risk Officer for 

this company? 
 
Duties and Responsibilities 

• Briefly describe your duties and responsibilities. 
• How does your role/function relate to, or how is it integrated with SOX/MAR processes, internal audit, or 

other departments? 
• Describe the major projects taking place and how you divide your departments time (i.e. what are the areas 

of focus)? 
• Do you publish reports/findings? 

- Who do they go to? 
 

Reporting Structure 
• Describe the reporting structure of the company including to whom you report as well as who reports to 

you.  
• Is there a board-level committee or other group that you report to? 

- Is that group independent from your area of management?  
- What is their role and how do you interact with them? 

• Describe those who have been involved (your team, internal audit, operational areas, consultants, external 
auditors, etc.) and their roles in the MAR compliance process. 

• Are there any financial ties to company profits within your compensation package? 
 
Ethics 

• Does the company have a code of conduct/ethics in place? Is it enforced? Approved? 
• Explain management's commitment to ethics and explain how management conveys that commitment to 

employees. 
• When establishing ethics, does the company evaluate what other companies have implemented?  If yes, 

how does the company compare  
• Do you have any knowledge or suspicion of fraud within the company? 

 
Risk Areas 

• How are key risks faced by the company identified and monitored? 
- What are the key prospective risks the company faces? 
- How are these risks communicated to your senior management level team and throughout the 

company? 
• Do you monitor risks relevant to specific components or divisions within the entity? 
• What key risks do you monitor in your position? 

- What reports or other means do you utilize to evaluate the risks? 
• What is the company's plan for operating in crisis/disaster - business continuity? 

 
Risk Mitigation Strategies (Internal Controls) 

• What is the formal procedure for reporting on risk management to senior management and the board? 
• What is your company’s plan for operating in crisis/disaster – business continuity? 
• From a strategic perspective, how are risks addressed across all business units and entities? 
• How has the Model Audit Rule affected the company, if at all? Holding company? Internal audit 

department? 
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• Does the organization structure allow for proper segregation of duties? 
• What internal controls exist to ensure adherence to company policies and procedures? Regulatory 

procedures? 
• What procedures are in place to diversify risks? 
• What strategies are used for managing the most significant risks facing the company? 
• Are executive officers and management team members required to disclose personal business or family 

relationships with organizations your company invests in? 
• Describe any compliance related training conducted by the organization? 

- Is the training required? 
• Are quality reviews performed by internal auditors or other means within the company? 
• How are goals set and performance evaluated? 

- How is that linked to responsibility and accountability? 
- How does all of that impact the divisional level? 

• What is the nature and extent of incentive compensation throughout the company? 
- How are risks related to compensation identified, monitored, and mitigated? 

 
Corporate Strategy 

• Explain strengths or weaknesses of the company as well as opportunities and threats the company is facing 
and how the company is responding to each. 

 
Other Topics 

• Do you have an organizational-wide integrated risk management framework? 
• Explain the company's involvement in transactions that include derivative risks? 
• Is the company subject to any derivative risks that are not disclosed within Schedule DB of the Annual 

Statement?  If so, please explain. 
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Interview Questions for Underwriting 

 

Experience and Background 
• How has your professional experience and background prepared you to serve as an underwriter for this 

company? 
 
Duties and Responsibilities 

• Briefly describe your duties and responsibilities. 
• Describe the company’s book of business. 

- Program business, treaty, facultative 
- Mix of property/liability 
- Mix of excess/quota share 

• Are there written underwriting guidelines that the company must follow? 
- Do you or others monitor them for compliance? 
- Do you have a written best practices checklist which includes quality standards? 

• How do you monitor regulatory compliance? 
• How do you evaluate your staff? 
• Describe how your underwriters’ skill levels are developed? 
 

Reporting Structure 
• Describe the reporting structure of the Underwriting Department including to whom you report as well as 

those reporting to you. 
• Is there an underwriting committee? 

- How is it organized and who are its members? 
• Describe your interaction with the CFO/CEO/BOD? 

- Do you provide them with any specific reports? 
 

Ethics 
• Does the company have a code of conduct/ethics in place? Is it enforced? Approved? 
• Explain management's commitment to ethics and explain how that commitment is conveyed to employees. 
• Do you have any knowledge or suspicion of fraud within the company? 
• Does the company require ethics training for underwriters and brokers? 
 

Risk Areas 
• How are key risks faced by the company identified and monitored? 

- What are the key prospective risks the company faces? 
- How are these risks communicated to your senior management level team and throughout the 

company? 
• What key risks do you monitor in your position? 

- What reports or other means do you utilize to evaluate the risks? 
• Describe the development and approval process for new products? 
• What are the underwriting authorization levels. 
• Which lines of business performed well/poorly in the past? 
• What percent of your cases are automatically underwritten vs. manually underwritten? 
• How do you determine if you are you underwriting the cases you should? 
• Give a general description of product pricing. 

 
Risk Mitigation Strategies (Internal Controls) 

• How does the company ensure that correct contractual language and rates are used? 
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• What controls are in place to ensure underwriting guidelines are followed? 
• How are brokers monitored to ensure compliance with underwriting standards? 
• How often are underwriting audits performed and who performs them? 
• How do you ensure that what is underwritten gets entered as premium correctly? 
• How does the underwriting function fit into the overall corporate strategy? 
• Do you have a documented procedure for following actual loss to expected loss ratios?  
• What reports do you use to monitor underwriting activity?  
• How is premium adequacy maintained? 

 
Corporate Strategy 

• Where is the company headed strategically? What type of plan is in place to implement this strategy? How 
does the strategy impact activities within your department? 

• Explain strengths or weaknesses of the company as well as opportunities and threats the company is facing 
and how the company is responding to each. 

• Explain what tools or reports you utilize to evaluate underwriting decisions. 
• What key measures do you assess to evaluate the company's performance and competitive position. 

 
Other Topics 

• Explain any significant turnover in the underwriting department. 
• Explain the distribution channels used by the company. 
• What is the compensation/commission structure for each distribution channel? 
• How do you ensure that your staff is handling an appropriate number of cases?  
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Interview Questions for the Chief Actuary 

 

Experience and Background 
• How has your professional experience and background prepared you to be the Chief Actuary for this 

company? 
 
Duties and Responsibilities 

• Briefly describe your duties and responsibilities. 
• How does management establish objectives and how is the achievement of those objectives monitored? 
• How is your performance evaluated? Is it based on the performance of the company? 

 
Reporting Structure 

• Describe the reporting structure of the actuarial function including to whom you report as well as those 
reporting to you. 

• Is there a reserving committee? 
- How is it organized and who are its members? 
- How are differences resolved? 

• Describe your interaction with the CFO/CEO/BOD? 
- Do you provide them with any specific reports? 

• Do the Board/Audit Committee members demonstrate an understanding of the variability inherent in the 
reserves? 

 
Ethics 

• Does the company have a code of conduct/ethics in place? Is it enforced? Approved? 
• Explain management's commitment to ethics and explain how that commitment is conveyed to employees. 
• Do you have any knowledge or suspicion of fraud within the company? 
 

Risk Areas 
• How are key legal and regulatory risks faced by the company identified and monitored? 

- What are the key prospective risks the company faces? 
- How are these risks communicated to your senior management level team and throughout the 

company? 
• Have there been changes in the appointed actuary in recent years, and, if so, how often have such changes 

occurred and why?  
• What is the current reinsurance program? Describe any changes over the past 5 years?  

 
Risk Mitigation Strategies (Internal Controls) 

• What is the formal procedure for reporting on risk management to senior management and the board. 
• What controls are in place to ensure reserving guidelines are followed? 
• Who determines what reserves will be booked in the financial statements quarterly? Annually? 

- Does the company book to the actuary’s point estimate, or is there a monitored gap? 
• How often are full reserve analyses performed?  
• Does the company book to the actuary’s point estimate, or is there a monitored gap? 
• Is the actuarial opinion signed by a company actuary or a consultant?  
• Does the company use commercial software or “homegrown” spreadsheets? What controls are in place to 

check for errors? 
• How are pricing and underwriting monitoring integrated into the reserving process? 
• Is there a peer review of the reserving actuary’s work and who performs it? 
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• How much reliance does the Appointed Actuary place on the work of others? 
 
Corporate Strategy 

• Give a general description of the company’s reserving philosophy. 
• Explain what tools or reports you utilize to evaluate actuarial decisions. 

 
Other Topics 

• What is the quality of the Actuarial Report with respect to completeness and clarity of documentation? 
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Phase 1: Part 2 Understanding the Corporate Governance Structure  
(Pg 1-25 of 2009 Handbook) 
 
Management  
Interviews with senior management at the “C” level may be used at the beginning of the examination or at any 
time during the examination as necessary. “C” level management may include the CEO (Chief Executive Officer), 
CFO (Chief Financial Officer), COO (Chief Operating Officer), CIO (Chief Information Officer), CRO (Chief 
Risk Officer), Controller, Chief Actuary or other appropriate executive level management. Examiners should 
consider the size of the organization in determining which individual would provide the examiner with the most 
beneficial information regarding the company for the stage of the examination. This interview process is a key 
step in the top down approach, beginning with senior management and then drilling down through the various 
levels of management to obtain a thorough understanding of the organization to assist in scoping the examination. 
Topics of these high level interviews should include, but not be limited to (1) corporate strategic initiatives, (2) 
external/environmental factors of concern to management, (3) political/regulatory changes that may affect 
business, (4) competitive advantages/disadvantages, (5) management of key functional activities, and (6) how 
management establishes and monitors the achievement of objectives. 

The examiners should consider which individuals should be interviewed and the sources of data to be evaluated to 
complete each planning step. In order to select the individuals to interview, the examiners should obtain an 
organizational chart from the company and compile a list of potential interviewees. Interviews should not be 
limited to the accounting department personnel. The interview list should also include managers of key functional 
business units (depending on the company structure, lines of business or revenue centers may be more 
appropriate). As all companies have different organizational structures, it is important that the interview schedule 
and the examination plan match the company. The examiner should form their objectives, or what they want to 
get out of the interview, prior to conducting the interview.  In order to accomplish this the examiner should have a 
basic knowledge of the job function of the person that they are interviewing so that they can ask relevant 
questions and get the most information possible in one setting, as it is may be difficult to coordinate multiple 
contacts with a "C" level interviewee or a member of the board of directors.  The information maintained in 
Exhibit Y - Examination Interviews provides some basic questions that an examiner may consider when 
performing "C" level interviews.  Exhibit Y, however, does not provide examples for functional positions at the 
insurer (e.g. Claims Handling, Sales & Marketing, etc.).  These functional interviews are typically best 
documented in a narrative format and may be done in conjunction with walkthroughs or other control 
documentation procedures.  For additional information on conducting examination interviews, see Exhibit Y – 
Examination Interviews. 
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Handbook Reorganization  
 
Included for reference in this document are the Original Table of Contents, from the 2009 
Handbook and the Revised Table of Contents which is being proposed for the 2010 Handbook. 

 
It has been proposed that the information in the Handbook be reorganized in order to improve the 
flow and ease of use. This reorganization has been completed and rather than including the entire 
Handbook for exposure the Original Table of Contents and Revised Table of Contents have been 
provided for comparison. A quick overview of each of the changes within the reorganization is 
provided below. 
 
Introduction 
There were no changes to the introduction section itself; however, in the 2010 Handbook the 
Introduction will be broken out into its own section prior to the start of actual guidance in 
"Section 1" of the handbook. 
 
Section 1 - General Examination Guidance 
This is, in large part, Section 3 - "Examination Administration" from the 2009 Handbook.  It was 
determined that most of the information in this section was information that the examiner should 
know prior to getting into the actual phases of the risk-focused examination.  
 
Part 1 - Association Examinations - No changes 
 
Part 2 - Scheduling Financial Condition Examinations - No changes 
 
Part 3 - General Examination Considerations - Previously Section 3, Part 3 "Conducting 
Examinations" in Original Table of Contents.   

Though some of the sub-letters have been relocated within Part 3 they remain the same 
with the exception of the following:  

 
Letter C – Examination Sampling, has been added as a general exam consideration.  The 
information contained in C has been taken from Section 5 of the 2009 Handbook 
without change.  The worksheets included in the 2009 Section 5 have been included as 
Exhibit O for the 2010 Handbook.   
 
Letter H – Comments and Grievance Procedure Regarding Compliance with 
Examination Standards, was moved from the 2009 table of contents Part 5 of Section 3.   

 
Part 4 - Standard Examination Procedures - Formerly Letter B - General Examination Procedures 
under Part 3 - Conducting Examinations. The 2009 guidance had General Exam procedures 
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broken down into the sub bullets shown on the 2010 table of contents. This information was 
pulled out to highlight the importance of the standard procedures that need to be completed for 
each exam so it will be its own part within Section 1 for the 2010 Handbook.   
 
All of the lettered sections within Part 4 are the same as those originally listed under that part on 
page 3-29 of the 2009 Handbook except for Reinsurance Review which has been moved down in 
the 2010 table of contents to be its own part, which is the next part (Part 5) under Section 1. 
 
Part 5 - Reinsurance Review - Previously Section 6 of the 2009 TOC. The 2009 Reinsurance 
section gave a lot of background and basic reinsurance education. This format wasn't really 
consistent with the rest of the Handbook format so all of the extra educational pieces were 
removed and the relevant exam related information was maintained in this part. There were 
previously 11 sections under reinsurance and that has been condensed down to just four sections 
in the 2010 handbook. The eliminated, educational portions of the 2009 Reinsurance guidance 
will be maintained online for easy reference. 
 
Part 6 - Reporting Examination Progress and Findings - No changes 
 
Section 2 - Examination Phases  
Previously Section 1 in the Original Table of Contents  
 
Section 3 - Examination Repositories  
Previously Section 4 in the Original Table of Contents - will include only the new exam 
repositories in 2010 
 
Section 4 - Examination Exhibits  
Previously Section 2 - will be at the end of the book to maintain logical order. 
 
NOTE: The revised table of contents does not have page numbers. A numbering system change 
from the current system (i.e., 1-1, 1-2, 1-3, etc.) to a straight forward numbering system, (i.e. 
1,2,3) will be implemented upon completion of the 2010 Handbook and page numbers will be 
added at that time. 
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C. Consideration of Small/Medium-Sized Insurers 

For many small-to-medium sized insurers, appropriate segregation of duties to mitigate identified inherent 
risks may not exist. This generally  is due to the costs associated w ith employing a sufficient num ber of 
employees. Therefore, a  s mall or medium sized company m ight achieve its control objectives in a  
different ma nner than a large insurer. For exam ple, a s mall or medium  si zed entity  m ay place m ore 
reliance on its control environment and monitoring procedures than specific control activities.  

The extent of  internal cont rol documentation included in t he workpapers is influenced by the nature, 
size, and complexity of the entity an d its environment. There are many levels of documentation that 
may exist for an insurer’s controls.  For public companies there is typically extensive SOX documentation 
available.  For large, non-public insurers, controls may be documented through management's assessment 
of internal controls as required by the Model Audit  Rule (MAR).  For those insurers who are not required 
to fully comply with SOX or MAR, an annual financial statement audit would still be required.  Under the 
Statements of Auditing S tandards (SAS), required by the AICPA, controls m ust be documented and  
reviewed by the external auditor during the financial statement audit.  If  the in surer does no t fall under  
any of t he above situations, the y m ay still have internal control s docum ented by com pany personnel,  
internal auditors or others. 

Although ext ensive documentation of in surer controls makes an exam  more effective and efficient, 
unwritten policies and procedures may still be effect ive if they have been adequately  communicated and 
implemented. Whether policies and procedures are written or not, they must be implemented thoughtfully, 
conscientiously, and consistently in order to be effective. Controls that are not docu mented may be tested 
in a sim ilar manner as if the controls were documented. Examiners should not automatically default t o 
performing only   detail testing when documentation is not availa ble. Regardless of the doc umentation 
available, the examiner should determine whether controls are in place and mitigating the identified risks. 
Examiners may still realize exam ination efficiencies th rough control testing even in situations where no, 
or limited, documentation is available. All of the aforementioned sources of documentation may be useful 
to exam iners in documen ting their un derstanding of controls; however, in situations where control 
information is not d ocumented or readily availabl e, exam iners should  not  create documentation of t he 
controls the mselves, but rather, document their u nderstanding of co ntrols.  This  un derstanding m ay 
consist of only a few simple sentences describing how the company mitigates each identified risk.  

If, after prudent inquiry, the examiner is unable to ascerta in what controls exist at an identified risk level, 
the exam iner should provide a brief  narrative descri bing the general controls that exist f or each sub-
activity (or, if not possible, each key  activity). Under these circu mstances, control testing would not be 
required because obtaining sufficient evidence of risk m itigation would not be likely to reduce the  
inherent risk(s).  As such, an overall control rating of weak should be assigned to the identi fied risk(s). 
The examiner would then include a reference to documentation that would support this assessment. The 
examiner sh ould fol low-up and repo rt on an y k ey controls noted duri ng the exam ination that are  
determined to be deficien t. When appropriate, co mments should be included in the exam ination report, 
Insurer Profile Summary, supervisory plan and management letter for foll ow-up by the financial analysts 
and examiners.  

After documenting an un derstanding of controls, th ere may be situations in which examiners determine 
that it would  not be cost effective or efficient to perform control testing. Although t he risk-focused  
approach provides exam iners with th e flexibilit y t o make this determ ination, the exam iner should still  
focus examination efforts on those area s perceived t o have a higher degree of  risk. For these situations, 
the examiner may eliminate control testing and assess  an overall control rating of weak for th e identified 
risk(s).  
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8. Review of Subsequent Events 
 
Some events or transactions that occur after the balance sheet date may have an important bearing on the 
financial statements.  If it is determined that a subsequent event is material to the financial statements the 
examiner should consider whether the condition existed: (1) at the balance sheet date, (2) after the 
balance sheet date but prior to the issuance of the financial statements or (3) after the balance sheet date 
and subsequent to the issuance of the financial statements.   
 
For those subsequent events that provide additional evidence about conditions that existed at the balance 
sheet date that are not reflected by the values reported in the financial statements, an examination 
adjustment should be made by the examiner.   
 
For those subsequent events that provide evidence about conditions that did not exist at the date of the 
balance sheet but developed prior to the issuance of the insurer's financial statements, a footnote 
disclosure is not required; however, if the undisclosed subsequent event could make the financial 
statements misleading, a description of the event and an estimate of the financial effect of the subsequent 
event should be disclosed in the footnotes to the examination report.  The same treatment should be used 
for subsequent events where no evidence of the condition existed until after the insurer's financial 
statements were issued.  No examination adjustments would be required in these situations since the 
condition did not exist at the balance sheet date.  As long as the insurer used sound judgment at the time 
of the issuance of the financial statements regarding the subsequent event, that future condition should 
not be used to determine the values at the 'as of' date on the balance sheet. 
 
Specific procedures related to the review of subsequent events can be found inThe " Exhibit P - Review 
of Events Subsequent to the Balance Sheet Date." Checklist (Exhibit P) covers the procedures that should 
be used in all examinations. 
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EXHIBIT P - 
REVIEW OF EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE BALANCE SHEET DATE 

Company__________________Examination Date_________________Approved by________________________ 

Generally, the period of review of post- balance sheet events extends from the date of the balance sheet to the date 
of the examination report, which in most cases i s the date of substantial completion of the fieldwork. It is usually  
not possible; however, to extend all pr ocedures to t he same date. If deliver y of the exam ination report is unduly 
delayed, consideration should be given to extending the review to a later date. 

The workpaper should contain specific inform ation as to th e scope of the investigation of subsequent events and 
the consideration given to each of them . Procedures related to subsequent events that extend into the subsequent 
period include, but are not necessarily limited to, the items described below. 

 Performed 
By 

Date 

1. Scan ca sh r eceipt re cords fo r evidence of proceeds of loa ns, 
significant sales of productive assets or other unusual items. 

Amounts over $___________ Date through ____________ 

  

2. Scan cash disburse ment records for unusual pay ments and pa yment 
of liabilities not recorded as of balance sheet date. 

Amounts over $___________ Date through ____________ 

  

3. Review general journal entries for entries that would have a material 
effect upon the financial statements as of the balance sheet date. 

Amounts over $___________ Date through ____________ 

  

4. Read minutes of meetings to di rectors, stockholder s and im portant 
committees up to the report date. If minutes have not been prepared,  
obtain a written representation from the secretary about matters dealt 
with at such meetings. Review draft (if any) of proxy statement to be 
issued to sh areholders fo r matters that may affec t the financi al 
statements. 

  

5. Read latest a vailable interi m financial state ments. Co mpare th em 
with the financial stat ements being reported on and obtai n 
explanations for any  unusual items  noted as a result of the 
comparison. 

Amounts over $___________ Date through ____________ 
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 Performed 
By 

Date 

6. Inquire of officers and other executives having responsibilit y f or 
financial an d accounting matters as to whether the interim 
statements ha ve been prepared on the sa me ba sis a s that used for 
the statements under examination. (Indicate identity  of statements 
and periods covered.) 

  

7. Inquire of officers and other executives having responsibilit y f or 
financial and accounting matters (l imited where appropriate to  
major locations) as to:  

 (Note: Indicate persons with whom  discussions were held and date  
and attach memoranda or comments re garding significant matters 
discussed. Corporate offi ce inquiries should extend to t he report  
date.) 

a. Whether any  substantia l contingent  liabilities or 
commitments existed at the balance sheet date or at the 
date of inquiry. 

b. Whether there were any s ignificant changes in capital  
stock or debt to the date of inquiry. 

c. The current status of items in the financial state ments 
being reporte d on  was accounted for  on the basis of 
tentative, preliminary or inconclusive data. 

d. Whether any other matters had occurred that would 
materially affect the financial stat ements or operations 
of the co mpany. This incl udes appropriate inquiries as 
to subsequen t events of material affiliates accounted 
for by the equity method. 

e. Whether the co mpany is co mplying with the 
requirements set forth in SSAP No. 9 with regard to the 
treatment of subsequent events. 

  

8. If the above procedures produce responses that significantly  affect  
the financial statements, they should be confirmed in writing. This 
may be done in the letter of representation. 
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EXHIBIT M - 
UNDERSTANDING THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE 

The purpose of this exhibit is to assist the examiner in documenting the understanding and assessment of an 
insurer’s board of directors, senior management, organizational structure and a review of the managementrisk- 
management function. A favorable overall assessment of governance does not, by itself, serve to reduce the scope 
or extent of examination procedures; rather, specific governance controls need to be assessed for their adequacy of 
the management of specific risks, in conjunction with other controls designed to manage the same.  
 
A. ASSESSING THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

An assessment of the board of directors may be determined through discussions with the board of directors and 
through gaining an understanding of the board’s oversight role. As a general guideline, the following areas should 
be considered in the assessment of the board of directors:  

1. Are membership criteria and terms for the board of directors sufficient to enable the effective monitoring 
and oversight of management? 

2. Does the board of directors effectively monitor and oversee management activities? 
 
3. Is the board of directors sufficiently independent from management, such that, when necessary, difficult 

and probing questions are raised? 
 
4. What is the frequency and timeliness with which meetings are held with chief financial and/or accounting 

officers, internal auditors and external auditors? 
 

5. Is the information provided to the board of directors or committee members sufficient and timely enough 
to allow monitoring of management’s objectives and strategies, the entity’s financial position and 
operating results, and terms of significant agreements? 

 
6. Is there a formal process through which the board of directors or audit committee is apprised of sensitive 

information, investigations and improper acts (e.g., travel expenses of senior officers, significant litigation, 
investigations of regulatory agencies, defalcations, embezzlement or misuse of corporate assets, violations 
of insider trading rules, political payments, illegal payments) sufficiently and in a timely manner? 

 
An active and effective board of directors, or underlying committee, provides an important oversight function. In 
addition, because of management’s ability to override system controls, the board of directors plays an important 
role in ensuring effective internal control, setting the “tone at the top” and setting other management standards that 
may affect the risk analysis for the company’s activities. Key components include: 

1. Independence from management, such that, when necessary, difficult and probing questions are raised. For 
example, consider whether: 

a. The board of directors constructively challenges management’s planned decisions (e.g., strategic 
initiatives and major transactions) and probes for explanations of past results (e.g., budget 
variances). 

b. A board of directors that consists solely of an entity’s officers and employees (e.g., a small 
corporation) questions and scrutinizes activities, presents alternative views and takes appropriate 
action if necessary. 

2. The use of board committees, where warranted, by the need for more in-depth or directed attention to 
particular matters. For example, consider whether: 

a. Board committees exist. 
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b. They are sufficient, in subject matter and membership, to deal with important issues adequately. 
 

3. The knowledge and experience of directors. For example, consider whether: 
a. Directors have sufficient knowledge, applicable industry experience and time to serve effectively. 

 
4. The frequency and timeliness with which meetings are held with chief financial and/or accounting officers, 

internal auditors and external auditors. For example, consider whether: 
a. The audit committee meets privately with the chief accounting officer and internal and external 

auditors to discuss the reasonableness of the financial reporting process, system of internal control, 
significant comments and recommendations, and management’s performance. 

b. The audit committee reviews the scope of activities of the internal and external auditors annually. 
 

5. The sufficiency and timeliness with which information is provided to the board of directors or committee 
members, to allow monitoring of management’s objectives and strategies, the entity’s financial position 
and operating results, and terms of significant agreements. For example, consider whether: 

a. The board of directors regularly receives key information, such as financial statements, major 
marketing initiatives, significant contracts or negotiations. 

b. Directors believe they receive the proper information. 
 
 

6. The oversight in determining the compensation of executive officers and head of internal audit, and the 
appointment and termination of those individuals. For example, consider whether: 

a. The compensation committee approves all management incentive plans tied to performance. 
b. The compensation committee, in joint consultation with the audit committee, deals with 

compensation and retention issues regarding the chief internal auditor. 
 

7. The board’s role in establishing the appropriate “tone at the top.” For example, consider whether: 
a. The board and audit committee are involved sufficiently in evaluating the effectiveness of the 

“tone at the top.” 
b. The board of directors takes steps to ensure an appropriate “tone.” 
c. The board of directors specifically addresses management’s adherence to the code of conduct. 

 
8. The actions the board of directors or committee takes as a result of its findings, including special 

investigations as needed. For example, consider whether: 
a. The board of directors has issued directives to management detailing specific actions to be taken. 
b. The board of directors oversees and follows up as needed. 

 
B. UNDERSTANDING THE ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE 

The organizational structure should not be so simple that it cannot adequately monitor the enterprise’s activities 
nor so complex that it inhibits the necessary flow of information. Executives should fully understand their control 
responsibilities and possess the requisite experience and levels of knowledge commensurate with their positions. 
Key components include: 

 
1. The appropriateness of the entity’s organizational structure, and its ability to provide the necessary 

information flow to manage its activities. For example, consider whether: 
a. The organizational structure is appropriately centralized or decentralized, given the nature of the 

entity’s operations. 
b. The structure facilitates the flow of information upstream, downstream and across all business 

activities. 
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2. The adequacy of the definition of key managers’ responsibilities, and their understanding of these 
responsibilities. For example, consider whether: 

a. Responsibilities and expectations for the entity’s business activities are communicated clearly to 
the executives in charge of those activities. 

 
3. The adequacy of knowledge and experience of key managers in light of responsibilities. For example, 

consider whether: 
a. The executives in charge have the required knowledge, experience and training to perform their 

duties. 
 

4. The appropriateness of reporting relationships. For example, consider whether: 
a. Established reporting relationships – formal or informal, direct or matrix – are effective, and they 

provide managers information appropriate to their responsibilities and authority. 
b. The management of the business activities has access to senior operating executives through clear 

communication channels. 
c. The internal audit function reports directly to the board of directors or to the audit committee. 

 
5. The extent to which modifications to the organizational structure are made in light of changed conditions. 

For example, consider whether: 
a. Management periodically evaluates the entity’s organizational structure in light of changes in the 

business or industry. 
 

6. Sufficiency in the number of employees, particularly in management and supervisory capacities. For 
example, consider whether: 

a. Managers and supervisors have sufficient time to carry out their responsibilities effectively. 
b. Managers and supervisors work excessive overtime, and are fulfilling the responsibilities of more 

than one employee. 
 
C. UNDERSTANDING THE ASSIGNMENT OF AUTHORITY AND RESPONSIBILITY 

The assignment of responsibility, delegation of authority and establishment of related policies provides a basis for 
accountability and control, and set forth individuals’ respective roles. Key components include: 
 

1. The assignment of responsibility and delegation of authority to deal with organizational goals and 
objectives, operating functions and regulatory requirements, including responsibility for information 
systems and authorizations for changes. For example, consider whether: 

a. Authority and responsibility are assigned to employees throughout the entity. 
b. Responsibility for decisions is related to assignment of authority and responsibility. 
c. Proper information is considered in determining the level of authority and scope of responsibility 

assigned to an individual. 
 

2. The appropriateness of control-related standards and procedures, including employee job descriptions. For 
example, consider whether: 

a. Job descriptions, for at least management and supervisory personnel, exist. 
b. The job descriptions, or other standards and procedures, contain specific references to control 

related responsibilities. 
 
3. The appropriateness of staff size, particularly with respect to information systems and accounting 

functions, with the requisite skill levels relative to the size of the entity and nature and complexity of 
activities and systems. For example, consider whether: 

a. The entity has an adequate workforce – in numbers and experience – to carry out its mission. 
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4. The appropriateness of delegated authority in relation to assigned responsibilities. For example, consider 
whether: 

a. There is an appropriate balance between authority needed to “get the job done” and the 
involvement of senior personnel where needed. 

b. Employees at the appropriate level are empowered to correct problems or implement 
improvements, and empowerment is accompanied by appropriate levels of competence and clear 
boundaries of authority. 

 
D. ASSESSING MANAGEMENT COMPETENCE 

A quality assessment of the board of directors and management may be determined through discussions and 
observations of the governance processes. As a general guideline, the following areas should be included in the 
assessment of management competence. 

1. How long has key management been with the company in their current positions, and what specific 
industry experience do they have? 

2. Has there been significant turnover in management? 

3. Have members of management ever been officers, directors, trustees, key employees or controlling 
stockholders of an insurance company which, while they occupied any such position or served in any such 
capacity with respect to it: 

a. Became insolvent or was placed in conservation; 

b. Was placed into supervision or rehabilitation; 

c. Was enjoined from or ordered to cease and desist from violating any securities or insurance law or 
regulation: or 

d. Suffered the suspension or revocation of its certificate of authority or license to do business in any 
state? 

 
Management Performance Evaluation 

1. Does management periodically review information to adequately assess the impact of changes in 
competition, technology, regulation, environment and general economic trends that may impact the 
company’s business? 

2. Does management have adequate financial and operating information to identify trends or variations from 
budgets that may impact the statutory financial statements? 

3. Does management effectively analyze and investigate financial and operating information and trends such 
that significant adverse trends or misstatements in the Annual Statement could reasonably be expected to 
be identified and rectified on a timely basis? 

4. Do management, supervisors and agents have appropriate knowledge and experience to capably and 
effectively administer management’s policies and procedures? 

5. Does the Company maintain effective controls to ensure potential short-term liquidity problems, long-term 
capital needs, and other significant fund management variations/needs are identified and rectified on a 
timely basis? 
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6. Do adequate physical safeguards exist over company assets and are all officers and their employees 
appropriately bonded (see Exhibit R for assistance)? 

7. Does management have a positive attitude toward internal controls (including controls over the 
information systems)? 

8. Does management have adequate financial and operating information to identify, on a timely basis, 
potential liabilities, commitments, and/or contingencies that may require recording and/or disclosure in the 
annual statement? 
 

As an expansion of the sample evaluative guidance above, the philosophy and operating style of management will 
normally have a pervasive effect on an entity. These are intangibles, but one can look for positive and negative 
signs. Key components include: 

1. The nature of business risks accepted, (e.g., whether management often enters into particularly high-risk 
ventures, or is extremely conservative in accepting risks). For example, consider whether: 

a. Management moves carefully, proceeding only after carefully analyzing the risks and potential 
benefits of a venture. 

2. Personnel turnover in key functions, (e.g., operating, accounting, information systems, internal audit). For 
example, consider whether: 

a. There have been excessive turnover of management and supervisory personnel. 
b. Key personnel have quit unexpectedly or on short notice. 
c. There is a pattern to turnover (e.g., inability to retain key financial or internal audit executives) 

that may be an indicator of the emphasis that management places on control. 

3. Management’s attitude toward the information systems and accounting functions, and concerns about the 
reliability of financial reporting and safeguarding of assets. For example, consider whether: 

a. The accounting function is viewed as a necessary group of checks and balances, or as a vehicle for 
exercising control over the entity’s various activities. 

b. The selection of accounting principles used in financial statements always results in the highest 
reported income. 

c. Operating unit accounting personnel also have the responsibility to report to or communicate with 
central financial officers. 

d. Valuable assets, including intellectual assets and information, are protected from unauthorized 
access or use. 

4. Frequency of interaction between senior management and operating management, particularly when 
operating from geographically removed locations. For example, consider whether: 

a. Senior managers frequently visit subsidiary or divisional operations. 
b. Group or divisional management meetings are held frequently. 

5. Attitudes and actions towards financial reporting, including disputes over application of accounting 
treatments (e.g., selection of conservative versus liberal accounting policies; whether accounting principles 
have been misapplied, important financial information not disclosed, or records manipulated or falsified). 
For example, consider whether:  

a. Management avoids obsessive focus on short-term reported results. 
b. Personnel do not submit inappropriate reports to meet targets.  
c. Managers do not ignore signs of inappropriate practices. 
d. Estimates do not stretch facts to the edge of reasonableness and beyond. 

 
E. REVIEWING THE RISK MANAGEMENT FUNCTION 
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A review of the entity’s risk management function should be conducted through discussions with senior 
management and the board of directors and through gaining an understanding of the risk management function 
including inspection of relevant risk management documentation. As a general guideline, the following areas 
should be considered in assessingconducting a review of the risk management function:  
 

1. What kind of risk-management culture is demonstrated throughout the organization? What does the culture 
indicate regarding the importance of risk- management to the organization? 

 
2. How are risk tolerances and appetites defined and communicated throughout the organization? 
 
3. How are existing risks identified, tracked, assessed and mitigated? 

 
4. How are emerging and/or prospective risks identified, tracked, assessed and managed? 

 
5. How does the organization use the risk information it gathers to determine its capital needs? Are internal 

models utilized and regularly updated to ensure appropriate risk-management decisions?  
 

6. How are responsibilities for risk-management functions delegated and monitored within the organization?  
 

7. What is the involvement of the Board of Directors in the risk management function of the organization? 
 
An effective risk- management function is essential in providing effective corporate governance over financial 
solvency. During the latter phases of the risk-focused examination, the examiner will document a review of the 
entity's individual risk management functions within the system. However, during a review of the entity’s 
corporate governance the examiner should document the review of the entity's risk management function as a 
whole, as well as its place and importance in the entity’s corporate governance structure.  
 
F. DOCUMENTATION 

The examination team should document its understanding and assessment of the entity’s governance, as well as its 
assessment on the related impact on the examination. This summary should include a description of any unique 
examination procedures, including special inquiries that are considered necessary to any significant risks identified 
as a result of the assessment.  
 
The Risk Assessment Matrix, as the central documentation tool, should be utilized for the identification and 
assessment of risks. Documentation on the assessment of management is at the discretion of the examiner. For 
smaller, low-risk insurance companies, a memorandum may be sufficient documentation. For example, a 
memorandum could summarize the attributes and techniques supporting the examiner’s overall evaluation, any 
resulting examination scope implications, and the approach used to validate the more significant attributes and 
techniques.  
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I. ASSOCIATION EXAMINATIONS 

The association examination system is not intended to preempt states’ legislative and regula tory 
authority in conducting fi nancial examinations . The  association examination sy stem creates a 
vehicle for conducting f inancial examinations of multi-state licensed insurers. It allows a 
representative num ber of states  to a dequately plan and devote resour ces to the financial  
examination of m ulti-state licensed insurers. It also allows an independe nt perspective on  
examination issues by those participating in the financial examination. 
 
The NAI C o fficially favors the association plan  of exa mination for all companies lic ensed (or 
registered in the case of risk retention groups) in more than one zone or in m ore than three states  
in a single z one. Such exa minations s hall incl ude verification of the pay ment of taxes by the  
company to the respective states in which it is licensed, in addition to determining the solvency of 
the company and the manner in which it conducts its affairs. 
 
In order for these exa minations to be accepted by other states, the NAIC Model Law  on 
Examinations states that at least one accredited state participate in each association examination. 
 
The NAIC h as adopted the full use of the NAIC Examination Tracking S ystem (ETS) for all 
examinations regardless of the number of states in which a company is licensed.  
 
The NAI C has adopted the requirement for electronic dat a processing (EDP) assisted 
examinations on zone exam inations when audit software is compatible with the insurer’s  
hardware. Th e use of any  exam ination tool, in cluding audit soft ware, is based on a conscious 
assessment of the risk involved in the reliance on data. 
 
An EDP assisted exam ination is defined as the use of a software package that will facilitate the 
examination b y provi ding the capability  of di rect retrieval of information fro m co mpany 
electronic files to achieve: 

 
a. Reliability of information accumulation; 

b. Efficiency of information accumulation; 

c. Flexibility of inform ation accu mulation (i.e., degree of selectiv ity or 
comprehensiveness desired); and  

d. Expeditious and extensive analysis of data accumulations. 

The NAIC has adopted t he associatio n plan of examination for rating, advisory, service or 
statistical organizations operating in more than one zone. 
 
The NAIC has also adopted the associ ation plan of  examination for calling examinations of risk 
retention groups (RRGs), but o nly to t he extent that the other states are notified of an  upcoming 
examination. The Liability  Risk Retention Act of 1986 neithe r requires n or prohibits non-
domestic states to participate on exam inations of RRGs. Therefore, the domestic state is required 
to notify the other states of an upcom ing examination but is not required to invite the other states 
to participate on the exa mination. As a resu lt, the  zone coordinator has no necessary  role or 
responsibilities for these exams.  
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The NAIC zone exam ination s ystem functions i n a ccordance with the policy adopted  b y the 
NAIC and im plemented under the ju risdiction and supervision of  the Financial Condition (E)  
Committee. 
 
The Financial Condition (E) Committee has divided the country into four zones: 
 
 

STATES BY ASSOCIATION EXAMINATION ZONES 

NORTHEASTERN ZONE—ZONE I 

Connecticut New Jersey 
Delaware New York 
District of Columbia Pennsylvania 
Maine Rhode Island 
Maryland Verm ont 
Massachusetts  
New Hampshire  

 
SOUTHEASTERN ZONE—ZONE II 

Alabama North Carolina 
Arkansas Puerto Rico 
Florida South Carolina 
Georgia Tennessee 
Kentucky Virginia 
Louisiana West Virginia 
Mississippi Virgin Islands 

 
MIDWESTERN ZONE—ZONE III 

Iowa Missouri 
Illinois Nebraska 
Indiana North Dakota 
Kansas Ohio 
Michigan Oklahoma 
Minnesota South Dakota 
 Wisconsin 

 
WESTERN ZONE—ZONE IV 

Alaska Montana 
American Samoa Nevada 
Arizona New Mexico 
California Oregon 
Colorado Texas 
Guam Utah 
Hawaii Washington 
Idaho Wyom ing 
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A. Criteria for Calling Association Examinations 

On all associ ation examinations where a co mpany has annual direct prem ium writings totaling 
$15,000,000 or m ore in a zone, based upon the most recent annual statem ent, or where such 
writings in a zone are less than $15,000,000 but at least 30% of its aggregate writings are within a 
zone, such zone shall be invited to participate in the examination (all applicable companies except 
RRGs) or notified of the examination (RRGs). Although a zone may qualify for participation, the 
state representing the zo ne should h ave a material concern as it relates to the com pany’s 
operations. The calling state has the authorit y to  challenge zone participation if the zone  
representative does not have at least 10% of the insurer’s annual premium in their respective state 
or does not have another valid regulator y reason for participation. The valid regulator y reason 
required for participation could be waived if a state within the zone, which has a valid regulatory  
reason, grants the participating state the authority  to act on its be half due to a lack of resources.  
The state representing the zone m ust receive this authority in writing and it m ust be presented to 
the zone secretary for acceptance. 
 
On all exa minations of rating, advisory, service or statistical orga nizations, where members and 
subscribers h ave annual d irect premium writings  totaling $100, 000,000 or more in a zo ne, or 
where such writings in a  zone are less than $100,000,000 but 15% of its writings are within a  
zone, such zone shall be invited to participate in such exam ination. Said zone participation shall 
not be waived by the zone chair without consent of the majority of states in the zone. In the event 
of such waiver, the examiners parti cipating in such exa mination shall be considered as 
representing the states in that zone or zones. 
 
In any other situation, regardless of the am ount of premium writings within a z one, upon request  
of a majority of state s within a zone, the zone chair shall designate an exa miner to represent  the 
zone in an examination. 
 
Zone participation should  focus on insurers and insurer functions that pose the greatest risk  
exposure. In an effort to reduce exami nation inefficiencies, a valid regulator y reason should be 
provided b y the state requesting participation i n the  exam ination. Valid regul atory reasons for 
participation include, but are not limited to the following: 
 

1. Material financial concern s exist with the insurer. A concern is  “material” if,  in 
light of surr ounding circumstances, the magnitude o f the item  is such that it is 
probable that the judgm ent of a reasonable person rely ing on  the statutory 
financial statement would have been cha nged or inf luenced by the inclusion or 
correction of the item; 

2. The insurer is subject to a dispropo rtionately h igh num ber of consumer 
complaints;  

3. Specific concerns with potential fraud supported by appropriate documentation; 

4. Premium volume, if the in surer writes a material amount of business in the state 
(at least 10%  of the insurer’s annual pr emium must be written in the state 
requesting to participate). A state that  has either  a material amount of pre mium 
volume or a large percentage of the outstanding loss and loss adjustment expense 
reserves should be presumed to have a jus tified interest to participate in the 
examination; or  
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5. The calling s tate request s help due to resource is sues. In requesti ng help, cost 
should be considered, but is not required to be the ultimate factor in determ ining 
whether zone examiners, consultants or contract examiners should be utilized on 
the exam. 

The zone secretary  of the state call ing the examination has the ability to decline zone  
participation in the absence of a valid regulatory reason. 
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EXAMINATION TRACKING SYSTEM E-MAIL 
Tracked for Suggested Changes 
Risk Retention Group (E) Task Force Subgroup 
 
 
This notification is to inform the recipient that an examination of the above is being 
called. This email will automatically be sent to the Financial Chief Examiner. 
 
Detail information, premium schedules, and jumpstart reports are available via I-Site for 
further financial analysis on the company(ies). 
 
The calling state has indicated that the company has not been granted any permitted 
practices. 
 
Traditional Life/Health and Property/Casualty Companies: 
If the state would like to pursue further information or involvement in this 
examination(s), please contact the lead state’s chief examiner. 
 
If your state would like to participate on this exam, please submit your intent to 
participate within 10 days. 
 
Risk Retention Groups: 
This email is a notification that an examination on the above-referenced company will be 
performed in the near future. It is not intended to be an invitation to participate on the 
examination.  

W:\Dec09\TF\Examo\Wg\feh\Attachment 4-E.pdf
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